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Part |
Item 1. Business

Morningstar is a leading provider of independemesiment research to investors around the worttteSpur founding in 1984, our mission
has been to create great products that help imgastach their financial goals. We offer an exteaine of Internet, software, and prin&sec
products for individual investors, financial advispand institutional clients. Our company alsovfdes asset management services for
advisors, institutions, and retirement plan paraaits. In addition to our U.S.-based products andces, we offer local versions of our
products designed for investors in Asia, Australlanada, and Europe. Morningstar serves more t2amiflion individual investors, 210,0(
financial advisors, and 1,700 institutional clieniée have operations in 15 countries and hold nitinownership positions in companies
located in three other countries.

We maintain a series of comprehensive databas&6 &ry types of investments that are widely usethbgstors globally. After building
these databases, we add additional value and irtsighe data by investing in our core skills cearch, technology, and design. As of
December 31, 2006, we provided extensive data ae than:

e 18,000 mutual fund share classes in the UnitecStat

e 78,000 mutual funds and similar vehicles in intéoral markets;

e 11,000 stocks;

* 6,000 hedge funds;

* 6,000 separate accounts and collective investmastist

* 62,000 variable annuity/life subaccounts and pesici

* 4,000 pension and life funds;

* 700 exchange-traded funds;

* 700 closed-end funds;

e 80 state-sponsored college savings plans (comnkmaywn as Section 529 College Savings Plans); and
¢ 80 years of capital markets data capturing perfomaaf 18 market indexes.

Our business model is based on leveraging our imegs in the databases we maintain. We earn seturthese investments by selling a
wide variety of products in multiple media to thiesy market segments around the world.

Our data and proprietary analytical tools sucthasMorningstar Rating for mutual funds, which ragtast performance based on risk- and
cost-adjusted returns, and the Morningstar Stybe, Bdnich provides a visual summary of a mutual fenchderlying investment style, have
become important tools that millions of investonsl advisors use in making investment decisions.vé&/efeated other tools, such as the
Ownership Zones, Sector Deltas, and Market Barametdch allow investors to see how different inwesnts work together to form a
portfolio and to track its progress. We developétbdfolio X-Ray tool that helps investors reduisk and understand the key characteristics
of their portfolios based on nine different factors

More recently, we've expanded our research effamtidividual stocks and have worked to populatimeconcepts of economic moat, a
measure of competitive advantage, and margin etyafvhich reflects the size of the discount inack's price relative to its estimated value.
The Morningstar Rating for stocks is based on thekss current price relative to our analyst-geteddair value estimates, as well as the
company’s level of business risk and economic mdat .offer a variety of qualitative measures sucBtasvardship Grades, which help
investors identify stocks and funds that have destrated a high level of commitment to shareholdeid stewardship of investors’ capital.

In 2006, we introduced the Morningstar InvestoruReimeasure, which incorporates the impact of flasfs from purchases and sales as-
as growth in fund assets to capture how the averagstor fared in a fund over a period of time.

We've also developed in-depth advice on securitgcsion and portfolio building to meet the needsneestors looking for integrated
portfolio solutions. We believe many investors relythese tools because they offer a useful framefo comparing potential investments
and making decisions. Our independence and owrisf innovation make us a trusted resource feestors.
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The Momingstar Rating

*  kk ok ko ook

We provide Morningstar Ratings on mutual funds, stocks, separate accounts, exchange-traded funds, and closed-end funds,
as well as variable annuity/life portfolios and subaccounts. For managed investment products, the Morningstar Rating brings
performance and risk together into one evaluation, with the top 10% of rated offerings receiving 5 stars and the bottom 10%
receiving 1 star. The Morningstar Rating for stocks is based on the difference between a stock's current market price and our
analyst-generated fair value estimate. it also incorporates our assessment of the company’s level of business risk and

economic moat, or competitive advantage.
The Morningstar Style Box

Value Blend Growth

i . ::-'- r.;:"

Mid Large

Small

We provide three levels of detail for the Morningstar Style Box: a basic grid illustrating the overall style of a stock or fund, 2
basic Ownership Zone illustrating the area of the Style Box in which most of the fund’s holdings tend to fall, and a detailed
Dwnership Zone that plots precisely where the fund's holdings fall within the Style Box. For the hypothetical mutual fund
shown here, the first illustration shows that the fund’s overall style emphasizes large-capitalization stocks with a blend of

value and growth characteristics.

The second illustration shows that most of the fund’s investments fall into the large-capitalization range and that the fund
puts slightly more emphasis on growth stocks than value-oriented stocks.

The third illustration shows the complete distribution of the fund’s holdings. Because some individual holdings have
extremely large market capitalizations, they land outside the traditional Style Box range.
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Growth Strategies

We operate our business in three global segmeardazidlual, Advisor, and Institutional. Our missi@to create great products that help
investors reach their financial goals. In keepirthwur mission, we are pursuing four key growttatggies, which we describe below. We
review our growth strategies on a regular basisrafide them as we monitor changes in the businkgsu compare the growth strategies we
outlined last year with what we describe below,’§@ee that we're no longer including MorningsRetirement Manager as one of our major
Internet platforms. Instead, we are including &lbor retirement advice solutions (including Morgétar Retirement Manager and Advice by
Ibbotson) as part of our second growth strategychvis to become a global leader in funds-of-fumigstment management. Separately, we
added retirement income tools as one of the cqralikities we plan to focus on for our third grovetinategy, expanding the range of services
we offer in each of our operating segments. We antained our fourth growth strategy, expandingiaternational brand presence,
products, and services.

1. Enhance our position in each of tiuee operating segments by focusing on our thra@minternet-based platforms.

We believe that individual investors, financial avrs, and institutional clients increasingly wanegrated solutions as opposed to using
different research tools for different parts ofithportfolios. To help meet the market need foegrated solutions, one of our key strategies is
to focus our product offerings on our three majatfprms:

* Morningstar.com for individual investors;
* Morningstar Advisor Workstation for financial aders; and
* Morningstar Direct for institutional investmemtsearch professionals.

These products all include integrated researchpantfolio tools, allowing investors to use our prigpary information and analysis across
multiple security types. We believe we can achigeeper penetration of our current audiences with eithese platforms, as well as extend
their reach to new customers. With Morningstar.caeire focusing on expanding beyond our core awdieof mutual fund investors by
adding more stock investors and continuing to edpaur reach with our core audience of experienceddesmgaged investors. Over the next
several years, we plan to intensify and improveMioeningstar.com customer experience by upgradiegsttes content, speed, and releva
to all users. With Advisor Workstation, we plantaild on our large installed base by continuingda functionality, such as portfolio
accounting, client management, and retirement irctwals, which will help us reach more advisorauarbthe world. With Morningstar
Direct, we plan to continue an aggressive develappegram to provide data and analysis on seearénd investments around the world.
We're focusing on expanding functionality, sellimpre licenses to existing clients, and expandingézh new clients.

2. Become a global leader in fundstofefs investment management.

The large number of managed investment producitablehas made assembling them into well-consddipiortfolios a difficult task for
many investors. Consequently, funds-of-funds afifggihave seen strong growth within the mutual fuadable annuity, and hedge fund
industries. Cerulli Associates estimates that dlabdtimanager assets—including publicly offeredds that invest in other funds as well as
investment vehicles managed by multiple subadvistesaled more than $1.3 trillion as of DecemberZ105. We believe assembling and
evaluating funds of funds is a natural extensionwfexpertise in understanding managed investpraaiucts.

Our investment management programs combine managestment vehicles—typically mutual funds—in polibs designed to help
investors and financial advisors meet their finahgbals. When we create portfolios made up ofrdilneds, our goal is to simplify the
investment process and help investors access fosttbat match their level of risk tolerance, tiln@izon, and long-term investment
objectives. We draw on our extensive experiencéyaimg funds to combine quantitative research ittualitative assessment of manager
skill and investment style.

Morningstar Managed Portfolios, which we introdu@e@001, is a fee-based discretionary asset mamagieservice that includes a series of
mutual fund and exchange-traded fund portfolio®tad to meet specific investment time horizons askllevels. We also offer a managed
account service as part of our Retirement Adviegfptm, which includes Morningstar Retirement Magragnd Advice by Ibbotson. We off
these managed accounts for retirement plan paatitipvho choose to delegate management of thefofies to our investment
professionals, who select investment options arkemetirement planning choices for the participate believe that retirement plan
participants will continue to adopt managed accebetcause of the complexity involved in retirem@anning. In addition, the Pension
Protection Act of 2006 may encourage plan sponsocasiopt managed accounts as a default investnpéinhoFor more information about
the Pension Protection Act, see the Industry Oeensgection of ltem 7—Management’s Discussion andlysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.

In addition to the assets we manage directly, vebehtotal of $55.5 billion in assets under advisenie our Investment Consulting business
as of December 31, 2006. We significantly exparmedassets under advisement in 2006, reflectingiirin our existing
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business as well as new assets acquired from knb@dtssociates. Our consulting business includesudting relationships and agreements
where we act as a portfolio construction managexsset allocation program designer for a mutuad fomvariable annuity and receive a basis
point fee. We see continued potential to develapghrt of our business, including in markets algghe United States.

3. Expand the range of services we dffeestors, financial advisors, and institutiordients.

We plan to expand our product offerings to betteetithe needs of investors. We plan to continulglipgi new databases for additional types
of investments, including hedge funds, various $ygiefunds outside the United States, and otheelyidsed investment products. We expect
to continue expanding our product offerings in ¢hpeimary areas:

* Expand and leverage our stock-research capabilitteg equity research complements our approach taahtiund analysis, which
has historically focused on analyzing the individstacks that make up each fund’s portfolio. Over past several years, we've
significantly expanded our equity research coverageof December 31, 2006, we provided analystareon more than 1,800
companies. We've continued to focus on buildinghitepth and breadth of coverage by adding additmmaerage on foreign
stocks, small-cap stocks, initial public offeringsaster limited partnerships, and other areas. Wheistly have agreements with six
major investment banks to provide research undeteitms of the Global Analyst Research Settlenveimch covers the five-year
period ending in July 2009. We're continuing togue opportunities to distribute our equity resedncbugh a variety of other
channels, including through financial advisors, 4sige firms, and outside of the United States. Wele that investors’ increasing
awareness of the value of independent researclstngihgthen our business over the long term;

¢ Expand our capabilities in hedge fund reseaMe plan to continue expanding our research andatateedge funds with the goal
of making the hedge fund industry more transpai@irtvestors. Hedge funds worldwide held more tham trillion in investor
assets as of December 31, 2006, according to atneyolished by Hennessee Group in March 2007.r®ffedata on hedge funds is
a natural extension of our work on other managedstment vehicles. We introduced our hedge fundtzeste in early 2005 and
provided data on about 3,000 hedge funds as of2@@6. After adding the hedge fund data acquireahfitwe InvestorForce database
(described in more detail below), we now providenpeehensive data on more than 6,000 hedge fundfegan offering hedge
fund analyst reports on Morningstar.com and throMginningstar Direct in 2006 and have added hedgd fiata to several of our
products; and

¢ Build retirement income capabilitie8s the baby boom generation approaches retirementelieve many investors will need more
information to help them manage income during eatient. We believe these trends will lead to a graaed for information and
tools focusing on retirement income planning amdjiterm savings strategies. In October 2006, wedhed Retirement Income
Strategist, a Web-based financial planning todl #laws financial advisors to create comprehensigeme analyses for clients who
are in or approaching retirement. We currently oiRetirement Income Strategist as part of our Aaivi/orkstation platform and
plan to incorporate retirement income tools in ofr@ducts over the next several years.

4. Expand our international brand preese, products, and services.

Over the past several years, we have expandedodug offerings outside the United States. In 296, we increased our presence in
Australia when we acquired Aspect Huntley, whichdescribe in more detail below. Our non-U.S. openstgenerated $44.3 million in
revenue in 2006, including $8.3 million from acquims, compared with $29.4 million in 2005. We mplk® continue expanding our non-U.S.
operations to meet the increasing demand for wadefing, independent investment insight by investoosind the globe. Because more than
half of the world’s investable assets are locatetdide of the United States, we believe there igr@ficant opportunities for us in non-U.S.
markets. Our strategy is to focus our non-U.S.ssefforts on our major products, including MornitagsAdvisor Workstation and
Morningstar Direct. We also plan to increase olgssataff, build a larger analyst team outsideUhéed States, and explore new markets,
such as India and Latin America.

Acquisitions
Historically, we have focused primarily on orgagrowth by introducing new products and servicesexmghnding our marketing efforts for
existing products. However, we have made and expemintinue making selective acquisitions thatpeupour four key growth strategies. In

reviewing potential acquisitions, we plan to focustransactions that:
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e offer a good strategic fit with our mission of diag great products that help investors reach ftirgncial goals;

* help us build our proprietary investment databasssarch capabilities, technical expertise, otornsr base faster and more
cost effectively than we could if we built them selives; and
e  offer a good cultural fit with our entrepreneursgirit and brand leadership.

Institutional Hedge Fund and Separate Accounts Basa Division of InvestorForce, Ir

In August 2006, we acquired the institutional hefiged and separate account database division ektoviorce, Inc., a financial software .
data integration company based in Wayne, Pennsglyeor $10.1 million in cash. This acquisition inded the Altvest database, one of the
largest databases covering hedge funds, managersiaga, as well as InvestorForce’s extensivetinginal separate account database. It also
included several online software applications fanager search, research, and reporting. This atiguiallowed us to strengthen and exp:

our proprietary investment data.

Aspect Huntley Pty Limite

In July 2006, we acquired Aspect Huntley Pty Lirdjta leading provider of equity information, resdarand financial trade publishing in
Australia, for $23.4 million in cash. This acquisit fit our growth strategy to expand our produantsl services outside the United States and
allowed us to combine Morningstar’s expertise induesearch and information with Aspect Huntleyjsity research, information, and
financial media expertise in Australia.

Ibbotson Associates, In

In March 2006, we acquired Ibbotson Associates, Bnfirm specializing in asset allocation reseamst services, for $86.5 million in cash .
Ibbotson’s key products and services include:

* awell-established investment consulting practiag provides asset allocation and fund researatstitutions;

* aportfolio and asset management business thatraotssactively managed funds-of-funds offeringsflisancial institutions;
* managed retirement accounts for participants in{lgQdnd other defined contribution plans;

¢ the EnCorr software for investment management &atkgic asset allocation;

e asset allocation, forecasting, and optimizationveafe widely used in broker-dealer advisor platfeym

* along-term database of capital market returns;

¢ training and educational services; and

* theStocks, Bonds, Bills, and Inflation Yearb@wiual reference guides.

The Ibbotson acquisition complemented our growtiitsgies in several key areas, including investroensulting, managed retirement
accounts, and institutional and advisor software.

We have also made other acquisitions over thegeagtral years. For more information, refer to Notd the Notes to our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Business Segments, Products, and Services

We divide our business operations into three se¢gnen
¢ Individual, which focuses on products and serviogesndividual investors;
* Advisor, which focuses on products and servicesif@ncial advisors; and

¢ Institutional, which focuses on products and sewifor institutional clients, including banks, beo&ge firms, insurance companies,
mutual fund companies, media outlets, and retireémplkam providers and sponsors.

The table below shows our revenue by business segoreeach of the past three years:
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2006 2005 2004

Revenue by Segment ($000) Amount % Amount % Amount %
Individual $ 80,70¢ 25.€% $ 63,44¢ 27.% $  46,99¢ 26.2%
Advisor 94,69 30.C 72,68¢ 32.C 60,88( 33.¢
Institutional 146,08! 46.4 95,947 42.2 78,40: 43.€
Elimination of intersegment revenue (6,310 (2.0 (4,970 (2.0 (6,620 (3.9
Consolidated revenue $ 315.17! 100.% $ 227,11- 100.% $ 179,65¢ 100.(%

For information on segment operating income (losfgr to Note 5 of the Notes to our Consolidatathfcial Statements.
Individual Segment

For individual investors, our largest product basedevenue is our U.S.-based Web site, Morningsiar, which includes our Premium
Membership service and sales of Internet advegtispace. Morningstar is a leading provider of brbaged, innovative investment research,
and Morningstar.com has received several posigveews from major business publications sucBason’s, ForbesandThe Wall Street
Journal.Our Individual business segment also includes Mwsiiar Equity Research, which we distribute throseNeral channels. Investors
can access our equity research through the Preiiemmbership service on Morningstar.com. Our indepahéquity research is currently
distributed through six major investment banks &etrthe requirement for independent research thdeglobal Analyst Research
Settlement, which covers the five-year period egdmJuly 2009. In addition, we distribute our rasd to several other companies who
provide our analyst reports and research to th#iiated financial advisors or to individual inviess.

We also offer several print and online publicatifmsusing on stocks, mutual funds, personal finaaod other investing topics. We sell
several investment newsletters, includivigrningstar FundinvestoandMorningstar Stockinvestand annual reference guides, including the
Morningstar Funds 50, theMorningstar Stocks 500theMorningstar ETFs 150 and theStocks, Bonds, Bills, and Inflation Yearbo&ince
we acquired Aspect Huntley in July 2006, this seginmas also included several newsletters and gthigications for Australian investors. In
2006, about 5% of Individual segment revenue was foutside of the United States.

We offer free local Web sites for individual inverst in Australia, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Finldféince, Germany, Hong Kong, Italy,
Japan, Korea, the Netherlands, New Zealand, NorRagple’s Republic of China, Spain, Sweden, Swapel; Thailand, and the United
Kingdom. Our Web sites and individual investor pedions reach more than 5.2 million investors waitle.

Within the Individual business segment, most of pnaducts target experienced investors who areelgtinvolved in the investing process
and want to take charge of their own investmenisitats. We also reach individuals who want to leaore about investing and investors
who seek out third-party sources to validate thecadthey receive from brokers or financial plarméur client base in this segment consists
of more than 260,000 paying customers, including, 9%/ Premium members of Morningstar.com and 95s0@3cribers who purchase our
investment newsletters designed for individual 8t@es. In addition to this customer base, approteiys8,800 public and private libraries in
the United States subscribe to our services. Weddfer a series of books and workbooks about itiwvgsas well as formatted printable
reports on individual securities.

We promote our individual investor products prirhatiirough traditional direct mail, e-mail, promatis on our 20 investor Web sites
worldwide, public relations, and advertising oratetl Web sites.

Our strategy is to increase the number of investtrs sign up for Morningstar.com Premium Memberdhiontinuing to develop and
promote Premium content such as analyst reports] Pmalyst Picks and Pans, and vahggled portfolio tools, which we market to regist
users and other investors. As a core marketingestygor Morningstar.com, we use search markefiings includes working to optimize our
site’s ranking in the search results that appeamwisers search for information about investingmmdhasing advertisements on third-party
sites such as Yahoo! and Google based on key woatisan bring investors to relevant content onmitagstar.com.

In our Individual business segment, we compete thighpersonal finance Web sites of AOL Money & Fiey, CNN Money, Google Finani
MarketWatch, MSN Money, The Motley Fool, SmartMoroeyn, The Street.com, The Wall Street Journal @nlmd Yahoo! Finance. Our
print publications compete with Agora Publishingylbes, The Motley Fool, Phillips Investment Resesrand Value Line.

We believe our Individual segment has a modest atnafuseasonality. The first quarter tends to shoeve sales activity for Premium
Membership on Morningstar.com and other produats ss our annual reference guides, includingsteeks, Bonds, Bills, and Inflation
Yearbook Sales in our Individual segment tend to be shyglotwer over the spring and summer months. Howewer
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diversified product base and recognizing reventabig over the term of each subscription modertdtesmpact of this seasonality.
Our largest customer in the Individual segment mauiess than 10% of segment revenue in 2006.
Morningstar.corr

Our largest Web site for individual investors isidiogstar.com in the United States. As of Decendder2006, the free membership services
offered through Morningstar.com had more than Slliam registered users worldwide, who have acdessomprehensive data on individual
stocks, mutual funds, and other investments to thedm conduct research and track performance.ditiad, Morningstar.com features
extensive market data, Morningstar articles, petpry portfolio tools, and educational contentéiphinvestors of all levels access timely,
relevant investment information. Morningstar.cosoahcludes Portfolio X-Ray, which helps investaduce risk and understand key
characteristics of their portfolios, and a variefyther portfolio tools.

We use our free content as a gateway into paid iBrerlembership, which includes access to writtealyst reports on more than
1,800 stocks, 2,000 mutual funds, and 140 exchémaged funds, as well as Analyst Picks and Pamsy&tiship Grades, and Premium Stock
and Fund Screeners. We currently offer Premium Masthp services only in the United States.

To help draw investors deeper into Morningstar.cion2006 we added more news, alerts, and video segnmainly focusing on stocks. We
also introduced a Personal Returns measure witlsimidgstar.com’s Portfolio Manager tool to give@stors a more accurate picture of their
portfolios’ investment performance after takingoiiccount all transactions and fees.

As of December 31, 2006, we had 165,957 paid Pmarsiubscribers for Morningstar.com. We currentlyrgea$15.95 for a monthly
subscription, $145 for an annual subscription, 343 two-year subscription, and $345 for a thyear subscription for Morningstar.com’s
Premium service. We also sell advertising spacklomingstar.com.

Morningstar.com is one of our five largest produmsed on revenue and was our largest produceimthividual segment in 2006. This
product accounted for 9.9%, 11.2%, and 11.5% ofconsolidated revenue in 2006, 2005, and 2004 ¢ecdisely.

Growth of Morningstar.com Premium Memberships

165,957
147,010
131,035

114,140
103,700

2002 2003 2004 it 2006

Morningstar Equity Researc

As of December 31, 2006, we offered independenityegesearch on more than 1,800 companies. Oumapprto stock analysis focuses on
long-term fundamentals. Our analysts evaluate compay assessing each firm’s competitive advantagayzing the level of business risk,
and completing an in-depth projection of futurehnclisws. For the companies we cover, we createnafyat-generated fair value estimate, a
Morningstar Rating for stocks, a rating for busmesk, and an assessment of the company’s econmooat. Economic moat is a concept
originally developed by Warren Buffett that desesla compang’ competitive advantage relative to other compaifiesthe remaining 5,5(
stocks included in our database, we offer quait@ht generated grades for growth, profitabilitpdafinancial health, as well as an
explanation of the company’s business operatiorescWrently deliver our equity research to indiatlimvestors as part of our Premium
Membership service on Morningstar.com and to sijomiavestment banks under the terms of the Glétrallyst Research Settlement, as
well as to several other companies who provideresearch to their affiliated financial advisorgmindividual investors.

We have significantly expanded our equity reseamlerage over the past several years. We currprilyide analyst reports on virtually all
of the most widely held stocks in the S&P 500 indeur coverage list includes more than 99% of tlaeket value of the common shares
outstanding for companies included in this marlestdhmark. We continue to expand our analyst stedfipport these research efforts anc
95 stock analysts in the United States as of Deeei®b, 2006, compared with 87 as of December 31520

We continue to focus on building our competitiveaatage by expanding the breadth and depth ofquityecoverage. As part of this effort,
in 2006 we increased coverage of areas such atessiaked stocks, initial public offerings, non-Us$ocks, and master limited partnerships.
We also introduced a new discounted -flow (DCF) model for valuing banks in 2006. In afiloli, we established an analyst presenc



London and Shenzhen and used this local expedibedin covering companies based in Europe andaCliite had 113 stock analysts
worldwide as of December 31, 2006.

Pricing for Morningstar Equity Research that wedlrelated to the Global Analyst Research Setifatnor for other institutional clients
varies based on the level of distribution, the nandf securities covered, the amount of custom Gmeerequired, and the
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length of the contract term. Morningstar Equity &ash, which primarily consists of research reldtethe Global Analyst Research
Settlement, was the second-largest product innttlizidual segment based on revenue in 2006, foligWdlorningstar.com.

Morningstar Mutual Fund:

Morningstar Mutual Fundis a reference publication that features our signeabne-page reports on approximately 1,600 mutunals. These
reports contain historical performance data, pbdfstatistics, proprietary measurement tools, analyst reports. Twice a month, subscribers
receive updated reports for approximately 160 efabvered funds, along with news, analyst commegntadustry research, and summary
performance data for all 1,600 funds. Subscribarsaiso access a Web-based version for the masintunformation. We charge $549 for a
one-year subscription tdorningstar Mutual Funds

Morningstar Fundinvesta

Morningstar Fundinvestcis a monthly newsletter that provides informatiowl énsight on 500 of the most popular mutual furidalso
includes a list of 175 Analyst Picks—hand-seledtettis that our analysts think are the most commefior long-term investors. Each
monthly issue contains extensive data, ideas ddihgibetter portfolios, news on current developtaemnd changes within the fund industry,
and proprietary research and ratingerningstar Fundinvestoalso features three mutual fund portfolios conséd@and updated by
Morningstar’s senior analyst team. We charge $8@ fone-year subscription Morningstar Fundinvestor.

Morningstar Stocklnvestc

Morningstar Stocklnvestcds a monthly newsletter that focuses on companitsstrong competitive positions and stock pridest ive
believe are low enough to provide investors withargin of safety. Each issue includes updates omtadel portfolios: a Tortoise portfolio
designed for conservative investors and a Hardgliordesigned for more risk-tolerant investorsh@tkey features include articles on
international investing ideas, notes from compaisits; bull/bear debates on high-profile compané® the Morningstar Bellwether 50, a
watch list of 50 dominant companies with wide ecqoitomoats, or competitive advantages. Each isseeadfers ideas about how investors
can improve their stock selection and learn froadieg portfolio managers. We charge $109 for aymae-subscription téorningstar
Stocklnvestor

Stocks, Bonds, Bills, and Inflation Yearbook

The Stocks, Bonds, Bills, and Inflation Yearba®khe definitive study of historical capital matkelata in the United States. Used by advis
financial planners, and brokers to analyze assssgerformance, the yearbook contains total retamd index values dating back to 1926 for
large and small company stocks, long-term corpdratels, long- and intermediate-term government bofckasury bills, and inflation.
Optional reports supplement the yearbook on a niprgarterly, or semiannual basis. We charge $d2€he annual book, or higher
amounts for the optional updates.

In addition to the products described above, wercaféveral other investment newsletters and assefieooks about investing in stocks and
mutual funds, which are available directly fromaunsl in bookstores. In response to greater invéstarest in exchange-traded funds, we
introduced a new newslettdfiorningstar ETFInvestolin 2006. We also introduced a new annual softcosferrence guide on exchange-
traded funds, th®orningstar ETFs 100which we’ve now expanded to become Merningstar ETFs 150

Following the Aspect Huntley acquisition, our Inidival ssgment also includes several publicationgifgestors in Australia, includinigrA
Magazine Australia’s leading magazine for independent finalnadvisors;Your Money Weeklywhich focuses on the larger companies listed
in Australia; andSmaller Companies Guida,weekly newsletter with investment recommendatan portfolio ideas focusing on smaller-
sized stocks.

Advisor Segmen

For financial advisors, our largest products basedevenue are Morningstar Advisor Workstationpmprehensive Web-based investment
planning system, and Principia, our CD-ROM-base@$tment research and planning software. We afso Blorningstar Managed
Portfolios, a fee-based discretionary asset manageprogram distributed exclusively through finahedvisors. Our advisor products are
integrated into the daily operations and researobgsses of many financial advisors who use o@ares and tools to provide guidance for
individual investors. According to a report pubgshin January 2005 by the consulting firm Tiburdrat®gic Advisors, Morningstar was
ranked as the leading provider of investment reteand data, financial planning software, and asf@tation software among approximat
1,500 independent financial advisors surveyed.




We sell our advisor-related products both direttilijndependent financial advisors and through @nise licenses, which allow financial
advisors associated with the licensing enterpasgse our products. Most of our license agreeniaritee Advisor segment have terms
ranging from one to three years. As of DecembeB806, we had established relationships with mioae 170,000 financial advisors in the
United States and approximately 40,000 financialsads in international markets. Approximately 12%our Advisor segment revenue was
from international sales in 2006. In addition te th.S. versions of our Advisor products, we offevducts for financial advisors in a variety
of other countries. For example, we have versidsdoisor Workstation tailored to markets in Ashastralia, Canada, and Europe, and we
offer a product similar to Principia in Canada.

Our products for advisors are sold primarily throwgir sales force, with promotional support fromedi mail, online and print advertising,
public relations, and conference exhibits. We als® the annual Morningstar Investment Conferenpedmote our offerings for advisors. !
believe that there are opportunities to increaseigod Workstation sales by attracting additionalkarage firms and investment advisors and
increasing revenue per license from existing ctidnyt expanding the amount of functionality licensé also plan to continue expanding our
offerings for financial advisors outside the Unitgtites. Our primary competitors in the Advisomsegt include Standard & Poor’s,
SunGard, and Thomson Financial Services. For Mgstar Managed Portfolios, our primary competitoes/AassetMark, Brinker Capital,
Envestnet PMC, Fundquest, and SEI Investments.

In the Advisor segment, sequential revenue groertlds to be higher in the second quarter becausanowial investment conference is hel
June. Sales for Financial Communications matehial® also shown some seasonal patterns, withtavedyalarger percentage of annual st
occurring in the first quarter. Other productshirstsegment generally have not shown marked selityona

Our largest customer in this segment accounteteésrthan 5% of segment revenue in 2006.

Principia Subscriptions and Advisor Workstation Licenses
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Morningstar Advisor Workstatio

Morningstar Advisor Workstation, a Web-based infrestt planning system, provides financial advisoith w comprehensive set of tools for
conducting their core business—including investnreaéarch, planning, and presentation. It allowssads to build and maintain a client
portfolio database that can be fully integratechwtiite firm’s back-office technology and resourddereover, it helps advisors create
customized reports for client portfolios that comdbmutual funds, stocks, separate accounts, varatiuity/life subaccounts, exchange-
traded funds, hedge funds, and closed-end fundef Becember 31, 2006, nearly 154,000 advisorbénnited States were licensed to use
Advisor Workstation, which is available in two edits: the Office Edition for independent financalvisors and the Enterprise Edition for
financial advisors affiliated with larger firms. Venerally charge $5,000 per year for the Officéi&ul Pricing for the Enterprise Edition
varies based on the number of users, as well devtkeof functionality offered, and generally rasghetween $80 and $2,800 per licensed
user.

In 2006, we introduced several new components fihrigor Workstation Enterprise Edition. These moddan be purchased as stand-alone
products or combined as part of a full Workstatioanse and include:

*  Morningstar Retirement Income Strategist, a Welebdmancial planning tool that helps advisors gpalretirement income for
clients who are retired or nearing retirement. RRaetent Income Strategist helps advisors analyzehghan individuak savings wil
last during retirement and explore alternative ades for sustaining income during retirement;

* Retirement Income Education Center, a Web siteiaffeeducational content and tools about retirenteame for financial
advisors affiliated with institutions;

*  Morningstar Portfolio Builder, which provides adwis with a clearly defined step-by-step proces®fficiently creating portfolio
proposals to present to clients. Advisors can ustdtio Builder to construct a portfolio with appropriate investment mix based
preset asset allocation models and investmentelhssva client’s current holdings, risk toleranaed other information;

¢ Agglobal version of our Hypothetical lllustratoralpwhich helps advisors explain an investmentatfplio strategy to a client by

analyzing past performance in relation to a benckraacompeting investment; and

529 Suitability Manager, which helps advisors aedisclosure reports that communicate the feestate tax benefits associated



with 529 college savings plans.

In addition, we added portfolio accounting and rtipg capabilities to Advisor Workstation Office #idn. The new system includes
importing, portfolio tracking, performance repogjrand accounting functionality, and it allows fic&l advisors to easily merge client
accounting reports with Morningstar’s investmentdand portfolio analytics. We also added hedge fumd offshore fund data to Advisor
Workstation in 2006.
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Morningstar Advisor Workstation is one of our fikggest products based on revenue and made up 1327986, and 10.8% of our
consolidated revenue in 2006, 2005, and 2004, ctispdy.

Morningstar Principia

Principia is our CD-ROM-based investment researnthanning software for financial planners and @35 subscriptions as of
December 31, 2006. The modules offered in Pringpivide data on mutual funds, stocks, separateusts, variable annuity/life
subaccounts, exchange-traded funds, closed-end,fand defined contribution plans. Each module/élable separately or together in a CD-
ROM format and features searching, screening, ankimg tools. Principia allows advisors to creategrated portfolios for clients and offers
three-page Portfolio Snapshot reports that prosidemprehensive picture of the client’s portfolibe Snapshot report shows overall style
and sector weightings as well as the cumulativesuge to individual stocks. The Snapshot repaatieng those approved by the National
Association of Securities Dealers for financial iadvs to distribute and review with their clierf®&incipia prices generally range from
approximately $635 per year for monthly updatesioa investment database to $2,925 per year forhiyonpdates on the complete package
spanning all investment universes. Pricing for &lgia Enterprise licenses varies based on the imas# universes selected, level of
functionality, and number of users and generalytstat about $655 per user.

In 2006, we added a Variable Annuity Advanced medalthe Principia product line, which provides iiddal policy-level information on
each variable annuity contract in our databases atiditional information became available throughacquisition of VARDS.

Principia is one of our five largest products basedevenue and accounted for 9.1%, 12.7%, andd.6f3ur consolidated revenue in 2006,
2005, and 2004, respectively.

Morningstar Managed Portfolio

Morningstar Managed Portfolios is a fee-based dismmary asset management service that includesesof mutual fund and exchange-
traded fund portfolios tailored to meet specifieeéatment time horizons and risk levels. This progrsonly available through financial
advisors. Our team of investment professionals as#isciplined process for asset allocation, fugldcion, and portfolio construction. They
actively monitor the portfolios and make adjustnseag needed. We complement these asset managemaceswith online client-
management functions such as risk profiling ané&se¢o client statements, transaction capabiliied,performance reports.

We introduced the Morningstar Managed Portfoliazgpam in 2001 and had approximately $1.8 billiom$sets under management as of
December 31, 2006. We charge asset-based feesofmidgstar Managed Portfolios. The managementsféased on a tiered schedule that
depends on the client’s average daily portfoli@baé and generally ranges from 0.20% to 0.40%s#tas

The Morningstar Managed Portfolios program is @ftethrough Morningstar Investment Services, Incegistered investment advisor,
registered broker-dealer, member of the National&mtion of Securities Dealers (NASD), and whollyned subsidiary of Morningstar, Inc.

In addition to the products described above, werdfseries of NASD-reviewed Financial Communiceimaterials that advisors can use to
educate clients about asset allocation and denategither key investment concepts. The materialade our SBBI Kit, which is a collectic
of presentation materials based on Ibbotson Asgxli&tocks, Bonds, Bills, and Inflation research.

Institutional Segment

For institutional clients, our largest products aedvices based on revenue include:

* Investment Consulting, which focuses on investnmemnitoring and asset allocation for funds of furidsluding mutual funds and
variable annuities;

* Licensed Data, a set of investment data spannirgpdd®databases, available through electronicfdetis;
* Retirement Advice, including the Morningstar Ratient Manager and Advice by Ibbotson platforms;
* Licensed Tools and Content, a set of online tontseditorial content designed for institutions s un their Web sites and softwa

* Morningstar Direct, a Web-based institutional reskalatform that provides advanced research aold t,m the complete range of
securities in Morningstar’s global database;
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* Investment Profiles & Guides, which are designedrstitutions to use in communicating investmeribimation to individual
investors; and

* Morningstar EnCorr, an asset allocation softwaiekpge.

With the addition of Aspect Huntley, this segmeaivrincludes financial information as well as otlata feeds on Australian stocks, which
we sell to stock brokers, information providersq financial Web sites. The Institutional segmesbahcludes the hedge fund and separate
account database division we acquired from InvEstme.

As of December 31, 2006, we served approximatél@d clients through our Institutional segment, uiithg banks, brokerage firms,
insurance companies, mutual fund companies, mediats, and retirement plan sponsors and provid®esbelieve our institutional clients
value our independence, breadth of information, @arslomized services; in addition, we believe @gearch, tools, and advice reach many
individual investors through this channel. Acrdss Institutional segment, we’ve established refetiops with many of the largest companies
in the financial services industry, including Fitigl MetLife, Nationwide, and Prudential. Approxitely 20% of our institutional sales are to
clients located outside of the United States—prilpar Australia, Canada, and various countrie&urope. We typically sell our institutional
products based on a contract term of one to theaesy

We market our products for institutional clientmabt exclusively through our sales team. We prowideketing support for our sales team in
the form of online and print advertising, publitatéeons, direct mail, and conference exhibits. Wé® dave data reselling agreements with
third-party providers of investment tools and aggiions, allowing us to increase the distributibowr data with minimal additional cost.

For Licensed Data and Investment Profiles & Guides,primary competitors are FactSet Research Sgsteipper, Standard & Poor’s, and
Thomson Financial. For Morningstar Direct, our paimpncompetitors are eVestment Alliance, Informgpsr, Strategic Insight, and Zephyr
Management. Our Investment Consulting business etesprimarily with Lipper, Standard & Poor’s, amilshire, as well as some smaller
competitors in the retirement consulting businésshe retirement advice market, we compete prilpaith Financial Engines and
Promanage.

Most products within our Institutional segment hao¢ shown pronounced seasonality.
Our largest customer in the Institutional segmecbanted for approximately 10% of segment reventz0D6.
Investment Consultin

Our Investment Consulting area provides a broadean services, many of which involve investmentitaring and asset allocation for
funds of funds, including mutual funds and variadaauities. Our investment professionals evaluatestment plans, recommend strategies,
help set investment policies, develop asset all@egirograms, construct portfolios, and monitor @ing performance. We offer these
consulting services to clients in the United Stafesia, Australia, Canada, and Europe, includiregiance companies, investment
management companies, mutual fund companies, akehdealers. We also provide services for retirgnpéan sponsors and providers,
including developing plan lineups, creating invesirinpolicy statements, and monitoring investmenfopsmance.

Our team of investment consultants draws on bo#ntiiative research tools and qualitative expettisessess investment programs, provide
detailed analysis of performance and portfolio abteristics, and make comprehensive recommenddtommprovement. We also offer
investment manager search services. Our staff qoslihe depth of Morningstar’s historical fundaraédatabases with detailed investment
knowledge and investment experience to recommeatifigd candidates for subadvisory firms, mutualdumanagers, variable insurance
trust managers, and separate account managersv@atment monitoring services include analyst resp@ustomizable board reports, select
lists, watch lists, and in-depth attribution anéy®ricing for our consulting services is basedtenscope of work and the level of service
required. For agreements where we act as a parolistruction manager for a mutual fund or vagabinuity, we receive asset-based fees.

In 2006, we introduced a customized, discretiomangfolio management and oversight service for ftations and endowments. The new
program is designed to serve mid-sized foundatmtsendowments with less than $1 billion in assets.

Also in 2006, we significantly expanded our InvestrnConsulting business when we acquired Ibbottotson’s Investment Consulting
unit is a leading authority on asset allocation dradvs on its knowledge of capital markets andfplotbuilding to construct portfolios from
the top down, starting at the asset class levbbtldon develops customized asset allocation pragfanmutual fund firms, banks, broker-
dealers, and insurance companies. The group afersulting services and funds-of-funds subadviseryices, as well as tailored model
portfolios, fund classification schemes, and questaire design.
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We offer our Investment Consulting services prifyatirough Morningstar Associates, LLC and Ibboté@sociates, Inc., which are
registered investment advisors and wholly ownedislidries of Morningstar, Inc.

Investment Consulting is currently our largest prcichased on revenue and accounted for 14.8%, @6é67.7% of our consolidated revenue
in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

Licensed Dat:

Our Licensed Data service gives institutions actessset of proprietary investment data spannthgdte databases. The data packages we
offer include proprietary statistics, such as theriihgstar Style Box and Morningstar Rating, and@e range of other data, including
information on investment performance, risk, pditk operations data, fees and expenses, casb,flovd ownership. Institutions can use
Licensed Data in a variety of investor communiaadidncluding Web sites, print publications, andketing fact sheets, as well as for
internal research and product development. We eleliicensed Data through electronic data feedspamde daily updates to clients.
Pricing for Licensed Data is based on the numbéurds or other securities covered, the amoumfofimation provided for each security,
and the level of distribution.

In 2006, we expanded our data offerings to inclpiespectus summaries, the Morningstar OwnershigZpansion and life funds based in
the United Kingdom, and historical asset classrnstfrom Ibbotson’s Stocks, Bonds, Bills, and Itila database.

Licensed Data is one of our five largest produetselol on revenue and accounted for 12.0%, 14.3% 1 %t&6 of our consolidated revenue in
2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

Retirement Advic

Our Retirement Advice offering includes the Morrstey Retirement Manager and Advice by Ibbotsorfaiats, which both provide advice
and guidance to help retirement plan participatee pnd invest for retirement.

Morningstar Retirement Manager is designed to hetipement plan participants determine how mucimtest and which investments are
most appropriate for their portfolios. It givesalguidance explaining whether participants’ sutggeplans are on target to meet their
retirement goals. As part of this service, we d@lipersonalized recommendations for a target sawingl, a recommended contribution rate
to help achieve that goal, a portfolio mix basedisk tolerance, and specific fund recommendatitfmningstar Retirement Manager
includes a managed account service designed formgaleticipants who choose to delegate managemeéhenfportfolios to Morningstar’'s
investment professionals. We offer these servicesapily through retirement plan providers—typigathird-party asset management
companies or companies that offer administrativeises to retirement plans. These providers oftéer roprietary mutual funds to
retirement plan sponsors and their participantsofABecember 31, 2006, more than 9 million plartipgrants had access to Morningstar
Retirement Manager through approximately 71,000 pfaonsors and 24 plan providers. Pricing for Mugetar Retirement Manager depends
on the number of participants, as well as the lefskrvice we provide.

Advice by Ibbotson offers a set of services angpetary software to give retirement plan particifsaaccess to investment education, self-
service advice, and managed retirement accountofiéfethese services mainly through retiremenhgleoviders. The platform includes
installed software advice solutions that can b&é@mded by retirement plan sponsors and providehgice by Ibbotson combines asset
allocation and human capital methodologies (patentding) that help participants determine how &ppre for retirement based on their
financial assets as well as their future earnimgssavings power. Advice by Ibbotson’s customizeftisare can be integrated with existing
systems to help investors accumulate wealth, tiiansito retirement, and manage income duringegatent. As of December 31, 2006,
nearly 8 million plan participants had access t@iée by Ibbotson through approximately 37,000 @pansors and seven plan providers.
Pricing for Advice by Ibbotson depends on the nundfgarticipants, as well as the level of serwieprovide.

We offer our Retirement Advice services primariyaugh Morningstar Associates, LLC and Ibbotsonogg&sges, Inc., which are registered
investment advisors and wholly owned subsidiarfddarningstar, Inc.

Licensed Tools and Conte

We offer an extensive set of online tools and edit@ontent that institutional clients can licerisaise in their Web sites and software
products. Clients can select from more than 4@ckffit tools and content offerings or purchase mesdidcusing on
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screening and performance tools, editorial comnmgratiad educational articles, or goal planning aodfplio analysis. Our online tools and
content can be customized to meet the needs eghattenal audiences, and can also be modified &yae a set of investments, focus on
client-defined data points, or perform calculatioeguired by specific products or services. We afer licenses for investment research and
portfolio analysis tools. Licensed Tools and Cothtam be integrated with a client’s existing Wete sind allows users to drill down into the
underlying data when researching a potential imrest.

In 2006, we added a series of proprietary MornigStock Charts that are available for licenseer@$i can use these charts to track price
movements, perform fundamental analysis, and eteabeahnical aspects of stocks such as volume, mme and trends.

Pricing for Licensed Tools and Content dependsheratidience, the level of distribution, and thepscof information and functionality
licensed.

Morningstar Direct

Morningstar Direct is a Web-based institutionakaash platform that provides advanced research@uodmplete range of securities in
Morningstar’s global database. This comprehenssgearch platform allows research and marketingepsidnals to conduct advanced
performance comparisons and in-depth analysegoftéolio’s underlying investment style. Morningsfirect includes access to numerous
investment universes, including U.S. mutual furilgopean and offshore funds; funds based in mogtrmearkets around the world; stocks;
separate accounts; global hedge funds; closedwsrtd f exchange-traded funds; global equity ownprdata; variable annuity and life
portfolios; and market indexes.

In 2006, we launched a new version of Morningstae® that included expanded information on U.8cks, a global stock ownership
database, hedge fund firm portfolio informationdge fund analyst reports, and an expanded Eurape&unal fund database. We also added
several news feeds and a library of pre-formatteglgs and data tables that users can incorpotatéhigir investment fact sheets. We
continued to expand our sales efforts outside thieed States in 2006. Morningstar Direct had 1,B#hsed users worldwide as of Decen
31, 2006.

Pricing for Morningstar Direct is based on the nemaf licenses purchased. We charge $15,000 fdirgtaiser, $10,000 for the second user,
and $7,500 for each additional user.

Investment Profiles & Guide

Our Investment Profiles & Guides are designedrstiiutions to use as an alternative to creatied thwn materials for communicating with
clients, or for companies to use in communicatiritl netirement plan participants. Investment Pedfiare single-page reports that combine
key elements from our data, design, and editodatent to clearly present the essential facts ahoutvestment. They cover mutual funds,
stocks, exchange-traded funds, hedge funds, varabiuity/life subaccounts, separate accountsprruitnds, offshore funds, pension and
life funds, and Section 529 College Savings Pls¥s.also offer Investment Guides, which are a ctbecof Investment Profiles combined
with summary information and educational articsrningstar handles all of the document productinoluding data collection, design, and
delivery. Investment Profiles & Guides are avaiaiol multiple languages both in print and onlinej @an be delivered as a stand-alone
communication vehicle or through Morningstar Retiemt Manager.

Pricing for Investment Profiles and Investment @siis based on the number of securities coveredtiount of information we provide, ¢
the level of distribution.

Morningstar EnCorr

Morningstar EnCorr, which became part of our lugitinal segment following the Ibbotson acquisiti@an asset allocation software
platform that helps institutional clients createalyze, and implement asset allocation strate@ieis. advanced research tool allows
investment professionals to develop recommendatiodsproduce portfolios at various risk/reward é@fts along the efficient frontier, whi

is a visual representation of the asset mixesdélater the higher return per unit of risk. EnCimrcorporates historical data analysis, strategic
asset allocation, forecasting, returns-based atyddysis, portfolio attribution, and advanced statal and graphical analyses. Target clients
include analysts, investment consultants, regidtameestment advisors, and portfolio managers.

Pricing for EnCorr is based on the number of liesnsurchased. We charge $10,000 for the firstarsei$3,000 for each additional user.
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Morningstar Indexe

Based on the same methodology as the Morningsgé Box, our 33 real-time indexes track the U.Suiggmarket by capitalization and
investment style. They include a broad market indlesee capitalization-based indexes, three congpsgyle indexes, nine indexes based on
investment style and market capitalization, 15@eictdexes, and two dividend indexes. The Morniagbtdexes cover approximately 97% of
the market capitalization of the U.S. equity mark@e charge licensing fees for the Morningstar kade with fee levels varying by client.

Barclays Global Investors licenses our 16 styleestasdexes and has introduced nine exchange-tfadeld (ETFs) based on the Morningstar
Indexes.

In 2006, we created the Morningstar Dividend LeadedeX, a broadly diversified portfolio of 100 aits that have strong potential for
sustaining and increasing dividend payouts. FirasTAdvisors L.P. licenses the Dividend Leadedekand introduced an exchange-traded
fund based on this index in February 2006.

We're in the process of developing a series of conity indexes, which we plan to introduce in 200/ re also planning to launch a family
of fixed-income indexes, the Morningstar Fixed-Immlndexes, which can serve as tools for portfloinchmarking and performance
measurement. These indexes can also be licengestitations for creating investment vehicles, imdthg mutual funds, exchange-traded
funds (ETFs), and derivative securities. We platatmch these indexes in stages beginning in 200 the first indexes covering the core
fixed-income categories of U.S. Treasury and cafmbonds.

Marketing and Sales

We promote our print, software, Web-based prodactsservices, and consulting services with a sfashles and marketing professionals, as
well as public relations. Our marketing staff indi$ both product specialists and a corporate magkgtoup that manages company
initiatives. As part of these groups, we have sgv@rategic account managers who oversee all ssspkour largest institutional client
relationships. We also have a sales operationfs atiaich focuses on tracking revenue, forecastags and other tasks to support our sales
team. Across all three of our segments, we emphdsigh levels of product support to help our cugtsnuse our products effectively and
provide our product managers with feedback fromarusrs. We had approximately 200 sales and marketiofessionals on staff as of
December 31, 2006.

International Operations

We conduct our business operations outside of thitetd States through wholly owned or majority-owngerating subsidiaries doing
business in each of the following markets: Austiaianada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, the Naioks, New Zealand, Norway, People’s
Republic of China (both Hong Kong and the mainlaisgjain, Taiwan, Thailand, and the United Kingd&®e Note 5 of the Notes to our
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionfrimation concerning revenue from customers ang-lored assets from our business
operations outside the United States. See Notd tdNotes to our Consolidated Financial Stateméattinformation on a legal proceeding
that may, if decided adversely to us, affect ounership of our Australian and New Zealand subsiekar

In addition, we hold minority ownership positiomsdperating companies based in Denmark, JapanaKanel Sweden. As of December 31,
2006, we owned approximately 35% of the outstandhmyes in Morningstar Japan K.K. (Morningstar daad our share had a market
value of approximately $85.5 million. Morningstapan is publicly traded under ticker 4765 on thakasStock Exchange “Hercules
Market.” See Note 8 of the Notes to our Consoliddtmancial Statements for information on our ineemnts in unconsolidated entities.

To enable these companies to do business in thsiguated territories, we provide them with thétsgto the Morningstar name and logo and
with access to certain of our products and techgywl&ach company operating within a particular d¢ouis responsible for developing
marketing plans tailored to meet the specific ne#dsvestors within its own market and working kvi¥lorningstar’s data collection and
development centers to create and maintain datspaseelop new products, and enhance existing ptsdu

See Iltem 1A—Risk Factors for a discussion of thksrelated to our business operations outsideeothited States.

Intellectual Property and Other Proprietary Rights

We treat our brand, product names and logos, sodfviechnology, databases, and other productsogsi@iary. We try to protect this prope

by using trademark, copyright, patent and tradeetetaws, licensing and nondisclosure arrangemantsother security measures. For
example, in the normal course of business, we prdyide our intellectual property to third partibsough standard
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licensing agreements. The purposes of these agnteme to both define the extent and duratiomgfthird-party usage rights and to prov
for our continued ownership in any intellectualpeay furnished.

Because of the value of our brand name and logdiave tried to register one or both of them iroélhe relevant international classes under
the trademark laws of most of the jurisdictionsvimich we do business. As we move into new countriesare continuing to effect these
registrations and, in some jurisdictions, the regi®n of certain product identifiers as well. @ate, we have registered our name and/or logo
in 12 countries and the European Union and havkeabfor registrations in several other countries.

We currently hold three U.S. patents, one U.K. pia@nd one Canadian patent. We believe thesetpatgresent our commitment to
developing innovative products and tools for ingest

From time to time, we encounter jurisdictions iniethone or more third parties have a pre-existingemark registration in certain relevant
international classes that may prevent us fromsteging our own marks in those jurisdictions. Ip@ssible that our continued ability to use
the “Morningstar” name or logo, either on a stataha basis or in association with certain prodoctservices, could be compromised in
those jurisdictions because of these pre-existiggstrations. Similarly, from time to time, we enater situations in certain jurisdictions
where one or more third parties are already ugiegMorningstar name, either as part of a registeoegdorate name, a registered domain
name or otherwise. It is possible that our abtlitgontinue to effectively market certain of ouogucts and/or services could be adversely
affected by these usages.

“Morningstar” and the Morningstar logo are registtmarks of Morningstar in the United States anckirain other jurisdictions. The
following are also trademarks or service markswf@mpany in the United States:

Advice by Ibbotsor Morningstar® Managed PortfolioSM
Morningstar® Advisor WorkstatiorsM Morningstar® Mutual Funds™
Morningstar.con® Morningstar® Ownership ZonéM
Morningstar DirecM Morningstar® Portfolio BuilderSM
Morningstar® EnCorr® Morningstar® Principia®
Morningstar® Equity Research Morningstar Ratind™

Morningstar® ETFInvestor™ Morningstar® Retirement Income Strategi®Y
Morningstar® ETFs 150™ Morningstar® Retirement Managet
Morningstar® Fundinvestor™ Morningstar® Stewardship Grade
Morningstar® Funds 500 Morningstar® Stockinvestor™
Morningstar® IndexesSM Morningstar® Stocks 500'M
Morningstar® Investment Guides Morningstar Style BoXxM
Morningstar® Investment ProfilesM Portfolio X-Ray®

Morningstar® Licensed Dat&M Stocks, Bonds, Bills, and Inflatidh

License Agreemen

In the majority of our licensing agreements, wettise our products and/or other intellectual prgperbur customers for a fee. We generally
use our standard agreements, whether in papeearahic form, and we do not provide our producis services to customers or other users
without having an agreement in place.

We also maintain licensing agreements with eaatuofninority-owned operations. We put these agegmin place so these companies can
use our intellectual property, such as our prodaoctstrademarks, to develop and market similaryctsdunder our name in their operating
territories.

We also license certain intellectual property fritnind parties, and in the ordinary course of owsibess, we incorporate and use intellectual
property from a variety of third-party sources.

Seasonality

We believe our business has a modest amount afrisa&gyg. Most of our products are sold with subgtion or license terms of at least one
year, and we recognize revenue ratably over tme ¢dreach subscription or license agreement. Hmdd to moderate seasonality in si
patterns for individual products. Over the past¢hyears, sequential revenue growth at the compari/on a consolidated basis in the first
guarter has been slightly higher than in other iguar Refer to the discussion in Business Segmendsiucts, and Services above for
additional information on the seasonality of eagbnsent.
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Customers
In 2006, our largest customer accounted for leas 8% of our consolidated revenue.
Competitive Landscape

The economic and financial information market hasrbmarked by increased consolidation over thefpasyears, with the strongest players
generally gaining market share at the expense aflentompetitors. Our largest competitors are kipfStandard & Poor’s, and Thomson
Financial Services. These companies have finaresalurces that are significantly greater than des.also have a number of smaller
competitors in each of our three business segmfemtsjore information, refer to the discussion imsBiess Segments, Products, and Services
above. Most of our competitors compete with inditproducts or segments of our business; we arawmare of any company that offers
substantially similar product solutions in all taref our segments.

Our non-U.S. operations compete with a varietythEocompanies not named above, including IWL LéajtMoneyMate, and
van Eyk Research.

We believe the most important competitive factarsur industry are brand and reputation, data tyuatid comprehensiveness, quality of
investment analysis and analytics, design, relighpproduct support capabilities, and value of pneducts and services provided.

Research and Development

A key aspect of our growth strategy is to expandimegstment research capabilities and enhance adstirex products and services. We st
to rapidly adopt new technology that can improvemeducts and services. We have also built abiletiechnology platform that allows our
products to work together across a full range eéstment databases, delivery formats, and marketeets. As a general practice, we
manage our own Web sites and build our own softwpmications rather than relying on outside vead®his allows us to control our
development and better manage costs, enablingrespond quickly to market changes and to meebmest needs efficiently. As of
December 31, 2006, our technology team consistegppfoximately 340 programmers and technology afrdstructure professionals.

In 2006, 2005, and 2004, our development expemmesented 9.4%, 8.7%, and 9.0%, respectively, ofexenue. We expect that
development expense will continue to represent anmgful percentage of our revenue in the future.

Government Regulation
United States

Our investment advisory and brokagaler businesses are subject to extensive reguliatihe United States at both the federal ang stael,
as well as by self-regulatory organizations. Fin@rservices companies are among the nasiomost extensively regulated. The Securities
Exchange Commission (SEC) is responsible for enfgrthe federal securities laws and serves as argispry body for all federally
registered investment advisors and broker-dealers.

As of December 31, 2006, four of our subsidiaribptson Associates, Inc., Ibbotson Associates satgi, LLC, Morningstar Associates,
LLC, and Morningstar Investment Services, Inc.ragistered as investment advisors with the SEC uth@elnvestment Advisers Act of 19
(Advisers Act). As registered investment advistiiese companies are subject to the requirementeeguthtions of the Advisers Act. Such
requirements relate to, among other things, rekesping and reporting requirements, disclosureirements, and limitations on principal
transactions between an advisor and advisory sli@stwell as general anti-fraud prohibitions.

Because Morningstar Associates and Ibbotson Assscaovide investment advisory services to retimenplans and their participants, they
may be acting as fiduciaries under the Employe@éteént Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA). Asuidaries under ERISA, Morningstar
Associates and Ibbotson Associates have dutiesyaity and prudence, as well as duties to diveisigstments and to follow plan
documents to the extent that they comply with ERISA

We provide each of our investment advisor compani#sfinancial and operational support. Howevegte of them operates independently
from other areas of Morningstar, using separatsqrarel and making independent investment decisions.

Morningstar Investment Services is a broker-de@gistered under the Securities Exchange Act ofi{#Xchange Act) and a member of the
National Association of Securities Dealers (NASD)e regulation of brok-dealers has, to a large extent, been delegatétetfederal
securities laws to self-regulatory organizations|uding the NASD. Subject to approval by the SH@,

17




NASD adopts rules that govern its members. The NASREducts periodic examinations of the operatidridarningstar Investment Service
Broker-dealers are subject to regulations that call@spects of the securities business, includalgs practices, market making and trading
among broker-dealers, use and safekeeping of slimtds and securities, capital structure, redaédping, and the conduct of directors,
officers, and employees. Violation of applicablgukations can result in the revocation of a bratealer license, the imposition of censure
fines, and the suspension or expulsion of a firrtsoofficers or employees. Morningstar Investm®atvices is subject to certain net capital
requirements under the Exchange Act. The net dapij@irements, which specify minimum net capigaddls for registered brokelealers, ar
designed to measure the financial soundness amditigjof broker-dealers.

Additional legislation and regulations, includirtgse relating to the activities of investment adrgsand broker-dealers, changes in

rules imposed by the SEC or other U.S. or non-t&§ulatory authorities and self regulatory orgatiies, or changes in the interpretation or
enforcement of existing laws and rules may adveratéct our business and profitability. Our busises may be materially affected not only
by regulations applicable to it as an investmenisat or broker-dealer, but also by regulations #pply to companies generally.

Australia

In order to provide financial information servidgasAustralia, our Australian subsidiaries, MornitaysResearch Pty Limited (Morningstar
Australia) and Huntley’s Investment Information Riynited, must hold an Australian Financial Sergidécense and submit to the

jurisdiction of the Australian Securities and Intveents Commission (ASIC). This license requires hilggstar Australia and Huntl’s
Investment Information Pty Limited to maintain gog net asset levels and sufficient cash resourcesver three months of expenses and to
comply with the audit requirements of the ASIC. Bivailability of this license may be adversely afésl by the legal proceeding described in
Note 16 of the Notes to our Consolidated Finartatements

United Kingdom

Morningstar Associates Europe Limited is authoriaed regulated by the Financial Services Auth@gtyan investment advisor. As an
authorized firm, this company is subject to theuirsgments and regulations of the Financial Serviaghority. Such requirements relate to,
among other things, financial reporting and otkegrorting obligations, record keeping, and crossiorequirements.

Employees

We had approximately 1,440 employees as of DeceBhe2006, including approximately 220 investmeardlgsts, 180 data analysts, 340
programmers and technology staff, 30 designers280dales and marketing professionals. Our emplkogee not represented by any unions
and we have never experienced a walkout or strike.

Executive Officers

As of December 31, 2006, we had 15 executive aficEhe table below summarizes information aboahed these officers.

Name Age Position

Joe Mansuet 50 Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, and Direc

Tim Armour 58 Managing Directo

Chris Boruff 41 President, Advisor Busine

Peng Chel 36 President and Chief Investment Officer, Ibbotsosdtsates
Bevin Desmonc 40 President, International Busine

Martha Dustin Boudo 40 Chief Financial Office

Catherine Gillis Odelb 44 President, Individual Busine

Tao Huanc 44 Chief Operating Office

Elizabeth Kirsche 42 President, Data Services Busin

Art Lutschaunic 48 President and Chief Investment Officer, Morningsteestment Service
Don Phillips 44 Managing Director and Directt

Patrick Reinkemeye 41 President, Morningstar Associa

John Rekenthale 46 Vice President, Research and New Product Develop
Richard E. Robbin 44 General Counsel and Corporate Secre

David W. Williams 46 Managing Director, Desig
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Joe Mansuet:

Joe Mansueto founded Morningstar in 1984. He hagdeas our chairman since our inception and aslief executive officer from our
inception to 1996 and from 2000 to the presenthélds a bachelor’'s degree in business administrditeom The University of Chicago and a
master’s degree in business administration from Uhigersity of Chicago Graduate School of Business.

Tim Armour

Tim Armour has been one of our managing directorses2000. He is responsible for strategic relaimps and business development. He
joined us in 1998 as our chief operating officed &nom 1999 to 2000 served as our president. Heshalbachel’s degree in business
administration from Gettysburg College and a mastiggree in business administration from the CalianBusiness School at Columbia
University.

Chris Boruff

Chris Boruff has been the president of our advigminess since 2000. He is responsible for ovargestrategy, development, and marketing
associated with our products for financial adviséts joined us in 1996 as product manager for Rracand from 1997 to 1998, he servel
senior product manager of advisor products. Fro8918 2000, he served as vice president of adyismiucts, where he was responsible for
all marketing related to financial advisors. Hedso& bachelor’'s degree in economics and psychdtogy Northwestern University.

Peng Cher

Peng Chen has been president and chief investrffa#raf Ibbotson Associates since August 200600 Morningstar’s acquisition of
Ibbotson, he served as its managing director ared ttvestment officer. He joined Ibbotson in 1987d played a key role in the development
of its investment consulting and 401(k) advice/ngathretirement account services. He received agbach degree in industrial managem
engineering from Harbin Institute of Technology anchaster’'s and doctorate in consumer economios Triee Ohio State University.

Bevin Desmon

Bevin Desmond has been president of our internakibasiness since 2000. She is responsible fotifgieny and developing new markets,
managing and directing operations, and launching pr@ducts. She joined us in 1993 and was onereétbmployees who started our
international business. From 1998 to 2000, shesseag manager of all international ventures. Shashobachelor’'s degree in psychology
from St. Mary’s College.

Martha Dustin Boudo

Martha Dustin Boudos has been our chief finandi@er since 2001. She oversees our finance, humswources, and accounting operations.
She joined us in 1992 as a marketing manager. Sbhepkayed a key role in the creation of our Web &r individual investors,
Morningstar.com. From 1998 to 2000, she was resplen®r our retirement advice service. During 208iie served as our vice president of
human resources. She holds a bachelor’s degragiiital science from Wellesley College and a mastéegree in business administration
from the Kellogg School of Management at Northwesténiversity.

In March 2007, we announced that Martha will bertglon a new role in the company. We are in thegse of searching for a new chief
financial officer, and Martha will remain chief fincial officer until we name a replacement.

Catherine Gillis Odelbo

Catherine Gillis Odelbo has been president of ndividual segment since 2000. She joined us in 888 mutual fund analyst and from
1999 to 2000 served as senior vice president deovevelopment for the company, as well as poétiand editor of our stock and closed-
end fund research. She holds a bachelor’'s degr&merican history from The University of Chicagadasm master’s degree in business
administration from The University of Chicago GratkiSchool of Business.

Tao Huang
Tao Huang has been our chief operating officeresR@00. He is responsible for corporate strateggrsight of all business units, and
directing our day-to-day operations. He joinedru&990 as a software developer and from 1996 t8 $89ved as chief technology officer.

From 1998 to 2000, he served as senior vice pnesafdusiness development and head of interndtiona
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operations. He holds a bachelor’s degree in cometence from Hunan University in China, a masteeégree in computer science from
Marquette University, and a master’s degree inrmss administration from The University of Chicdg@aduate School of Business.

Elizabeth Kirsche

Elizabeth Kirscher has been president of our datéces business since 2000. She is responsibledoaging our investment databases and
related products. She joined us in 1995 as a naa@josunts manager in our institutional sales areanRA 998 to 1999, she served as
international product manager and worked on thedawf Morningstar Japan. From 1999 to 2000, shedir@ctor of sales and business
development for Morningstar.com and marketed Magsiar.com data and tools to other Web sites. Shils laobachelos degree from Vass
College and a master’s degree in business adnatigirfrom the Columbia Business School at Colunibiéversity.

Art Lutschaunic

Art Lutschaunig has been president and chief imzest officer for Morningstar Investment Servicescsi August 2001. He is responsible for
managing the investment services business, induolersight of the group’s investment researchportfolio management. Before joining
us in May 2001, he was an independent consultaoin 2000 to 2001, he served as president of Gi@apital, Inc. He holds a bachelor’s
degree in marketing from Villanova University.

Don Phillips

Don Phillips has been one of our managing directorse 2000. He is responsible for corporate gsateesearch, and corporate
communications. He joined us in 1986 as our finstlgst. He served as our vice president and pulisbm 1991 to 1996, as our president
from 1996 to 1998, and as our chief executive effftom 1998 to 2000. He has served on our boadire€tors since August 1999. He also
serves on the board of directors for MorningstaadiaHe holds a bachelor’s degree in English frieenUniversity of Texas and a master’s
degree in American literature from The UniversifyGhicago.

Patrick Reinkemeye

Patrick Reinkemeyer has been president of Mornamgsssociates since October 2004. He is responfabMorningstar’s investment
consulting and retirement businesses. From 20GL@citober 2004, he served as president of Mornargsinstitutional investment
consulting business. He joined us in 1996. Fron61®891997, he directed our print and software \@ei@annuity/life products. He holds a
bachelor’s degree in history from Middlebury Coblegnd a master’s degree in business administriciam The University of Chicago
Graduate School of Business.

John Rekenthale

John Rekenthaler has been vice president of neduptaevelopment since October 2004. In April 2085took on additional responsibilit
as vice president of research. From 2001 until QEt@004, he served as president of Morningstaodates and head of the company’s
retirement advice business. He joined us in 19&haassistant editor. From 1991 to 1995, he seaaseaatlitor oMorningstar Mutual Funds
andMorningstar Fundinvestor From 1998 to 2000, he served as our directoesdarch. He holds a bachelor’s degree in Englsh the
University of Pennsylvania and a master’s degrdmiginess administration from The University of €igjo Graduate School of Business.

Richard E. Robbin

Richard E. Robbins has been our general counset@mptrate secretary since August 2005. He is respke for directing Morningstar’s
legal department and managing its relationshipbk wittside counsel. From May 1999 until he joinedMiagstar, he was a partner at Sidley
Austin LLP, which he joined as an associate in A1di991. He holds bachelor’'s and master’'s degreesmputer science and electrical
engineering from the Massachusetts Institute ohfetgy and a juris doctor degree from The Univgrsf Chicago Law School.

David W. Williams

David W. Williams has been one of our managingaoes since 2000. He is in charge of design andppication to brand identity, produc
communications, and the workplace. He joined uk9i®3 and has been instrumental in establishinggdess one of our recognized core
capabilities. He holds a bachelor’'s degree in itritalslesign from The Ohio State University and @ster’'s degree in fine arts from the Yale
University School of Art.
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Company Information
We were incorporated in Illinois on May 16, 1984ir@orporate headquarters are located at 225 Wask&Y Drive, Chicago, lllinois, 606C

We maintain a Web site http://corporate.morningstar.comOur Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly repantsForm 10-Q, current
reports on Form &, and amendments to any of these documents ailalaleafree of charge on this site as soon as resddy practicable aft
the reports are filed with or furnished to the Séms and Exchange Commission. We also post quaipeess releases on our financial res
and other documents containing additional infororatelated to our company on this site. We protide Web site and the information
contained in or connected to it for informationatposes only. That information is not part of thisnual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks describelb and all of the other information included listForm 10-K when deciding whether to
invest in our common stock or otherwise evaluatingbusiness. If any of the following risks actyaidccur, our business, financial condition,
or operating results could suffer. In this case,tthding price of our common stock could declare] you may lose all or part of your
investment.

Competition could reduce our share of the investrhegsearch market and hurt our financial performaiec

We operate in a highly competitive industry, withmy investment research providers competing foinless from individual investors,
financial advisors, and institutional clients. Wempete with many different types of companies #aay in size, product scope, and media
focus, including large and well-established disttilss of financial information, such as Lipper,igision of Reuters; The McGraw-Hill
Companies, through its Standard & Poor’s divisamg Thomson Corporation, through its Thomson FiizduServices division. In addition to
these key competitors, we compete with a varietytbér companies in different areas of our busingbgch we discuss in greater detail in
Business Segments, Products, and Services seatimni 1—Business.

Many of our competitors have larger customer basessignificantly greater resources than we dos Ty allow these competitors to
respond more quickly to new technologies and cheirgdemand for products and services, to devatatgr resources to developing and
promoting their services, and to make more attradatffers to potential clients, subscribers, amdtsgic partners. Industry consolidation
may also lead to more intense competition. Increé@senpetition could result in price reductions,ueed gross margins, or loss of market
share, any of which could hurt our business, operatsults, or financial condition.

If we do not maintain and increase the number oftscriptions and license agreements, our operatiegults could suffer

A substantial portion of our revenue is generatethfsubscriptions and license agreements. In 20@8k-in” revenue, which we define as
revenue from licenses or subscriptions that wepddoe at the beginning of the yealjusted for cancellations, currency translatiamsi othe
routine adjustments during the year, accounted 7Td5% of our revenue excluding 2006 acquisitiorenéval revenue, which we define as
revenue from renewals of licenses or subscriptiaospunted for 36.3% of our revenue excluding 28@fuisitions. In general, our
subscriptions are paid in advance. We may be dilily refund a portion of prepaid subscriptiorsfedaen a customer cancels. Cancellal
may have a negative impact on our revenue andpastion. Our license agreements, which typicatiynot allow for cancellation, have
terms ranging from one to three years. As of JaniaP007, we had subscriptions and license agretme place that were expected to
generate $182.9 million of revenue in 2007, inahgd$21.2 million of walk-in revenue from 2006 acgjtions. In 2006 and 2005,
cancellations reduced “walk-in" revenue by betwéthand 4%. Our future success depends on our rmamgdthrough renewals) and
increasing (through new subscriptions and liceggeeaments) the number of customers who pay fomwastment research and services.
Further, if the market for our products and serwidevelops more slowly than we expect, or decliaed,the number of customers who pay
for our services does not increase, or declinesbosiness, operating results, or financial conditould suffer.

The availability of free or low-cost investment mrimation could lead to lower demand for our prodscand adversely affect our financial
results.

Investment research and information relating toliplybtraded companies and mutual funds is widelgikable for little or no cost from
various sources, including the Internet and puiidi@ries. Investors can also access informatioeady from publicly traded companies and
mutual funds. The EDGAR database available thrabgtSecurities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Welpsivides real-time access to
SEC filings, including annual, serairnual, and quarterly reports. Many brokerage fiatas provide financial and investment researdhédr
clients. The widespread availability of free or loast investment information may make it

21




difficult for us to maintain or increase the priaes charge for our publications and services andddead to a lower demand for our produ
A loss of a significant number of customers wouldtlour financial results.

Certain products and services have historically neagp a large percentage of our revenue base. Ousibass could suffer if sales of these
products and services declin

In 2006, our five largest products based on revémwestment Consulting, Morningstar Advisor Woekgin, Licensed Data,
Morningstar.com and Principia) accounted for a cioxth 59.5% of our consolidated revenue. We belikaesales of these products and
services will continue to make up a substantiatiporof our consolidated revenue for the foresesalture. If we experience a significant
decline in sales of any of these products for @agon, it would have a material adverse impactuwmayvenue and could harm our business.
The independent equity research wegreviding to six investment banks under the terfrth@ Global Analyst Research Settlement accol
for a significant portion of our consolidated remerin 2006. The period during which investment Isagile required to provide independent
equity research to their clients will expire inyJ@D09. We cannot guarantee that we will retaireptace this equity research revenue after
that date. Because these contracts include bo#wadrand cancellation options and the firms nametié settlement are free to choose frc
variety of research providers, we also cannot queaeathat we will retain this business for any peprior to July 2009.

Our investment advisory operations may subject aigidbility for any losses that result from a brelaof our fiduciary duties.

Our investment advisory operations involve fidugiabligations that require us to act in the bestrgsts of our clients. We may face
liabilities for actual or claimed breaches of aidutiary duties. We may not be able to prevenntsidrom taking legal action against us foi
actual or claimed breach of a fiduciary duty. Bessawe currently provide investment advisory sewime substantial assets, we could face
substantial liability to our clients if we breactirdiduciary duties. In addition, we may face otlegyal liabilities based on the quality and
outcome of our investment advisory recommendatiensn in the absence of an actual or claimed bre&fitluciary duty.

Changes in laws applicable to our investment adwjsoperations, compliance failures, or regulatorg@on could adversely affect our
business.

Our investment advisory operations are relativelymand a growing part of our overall business. &quisition of Ibbotson Associates in
2006 substantially increased our business in tiéia.al he securities laws and other laws that gowarractivities as a registered investment
advisor are complex. The activities of our investtredvisory operations are primarily subject tovsimns of the Investment Advisers Act of
1940 (the Advisers Act) and the Employee Retirenhecime Security Act of 1974 (ERISA). In additiaur investment management
business is conducted through a broker-dealertezgis under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 tkchange Act) and is subject to the
rules of the National Association of Securities Bea(NASD). It is difficult to predict the futuienpact of the broad and expanding legisle
and regulatory requirements affecting our busin€ls.laws, rules, and regulations applicable tobmsiness may change in the future anc
may not be able to comply with any such changeselfail to comply with any applicable law, rule,regulation, we could be fined,
sanctioned, or barred from providing investmentisaly services in the future, which could mateyiativersely affect our business, opera
results, or financial condition.

Our reputation and business may be harmed by pdssdwonflicts of interest.

We offer products and services to our institutiozients, which include banks, brokerage firmsunasce companies, mutual fund compat
media outlets, and retirement plan providers amehsqrs. Our institutional business generated reydoefore intersegment eliminations, of
$146.1 million, or 46.4% of our consolidated revern 2006 and $95.9 million, or 42.2% of our cordated revenue, in 2005. We also
provide ratings, analyst research, and investnemtmmendations on mutual funds and other investprexiucts offered and securities iss
by our institutional clients. The fact that ourtititional clients pay us for certain products aedvices may create the perception that our
ratings, research, and recommendations are notiialpd his perception may undermine the confideoteur customers and potential
customers in our reputation as a provider of inddpat research. Any such loss of confidence or dart@our reputation could hurt our
business.

Ouir failure to successfully integrate acquisitior®uld strain our resources.

We completed several acquisitions in 2006, inclgdbbotson Associates, which was our largest ad@nsto date. We cannot guarantee that
we will successfully integrate the employees, pmdines, business systems, and operations follgwiny acquisition. We expect to continue
making acquisitions and establishing investmentsjaimt ventures as part of our long-term busirstsstegy. Acquisitions, investments, and
joint ventures involve a number of risks. They bartime-consuming and may divert management’s attentiom fday-to-day operations.
Financing an acquisition could result in dilutioorh issuing equity securities or a weaker
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balance sheet from incurring debt. Acquisitionsmigiso result in losing key employees. We mayttaguccessfully complete any
acquisitions, investments, or joint ventures. Weg migo fail to generate enough revenue or profasfan acquisition to earn a return on the
associated purchase price.

We could face liability for the information we puish, including information based on data we obtairom other parties.

We may be subject to claims for securities lawatiohs, defamation (including libel and slandeggligence, or other claims relating to the
information we publish. For example, investors rtake legal action against us if they rely on puidis information that contains an error, or
a company may claim that we have made a defamatatgment about it or its employees. We could lbéssubject to claims based upon the
content that is accessible from our Web site thindirtks to other Web sites. We rely on a varietyofside parties as the original sources for
the information we use in our published data. Trssseces include securities exchanges, fund corepaand transfer agents. Accordingly, in
addition to possible exposure for publishing inectiinformation that results directly from our oemors, we could face liability based on
inaccurate data provided to us by others. Defendiaigns based on the information we publish coddakpensive and time-consuming and
could adversely impact our business, operatingtesand financial condition.

We could be subject to fines, penalties, or othanctions as a result of investigations by the N¥ark Attorney General’s Office and the
Department of Labor related to the investment colis\g services Morningstar Associates, LLC providsretirement plan providers
including fund lineup recommendations for retireméiplan sponsors.

As previously disclosed, the New York Attorney Geaf'e Office and the Department of Labor are cornithgcseparate investigations related
to some of the products and services offered bynigstar Associates, LLC. See Item 3—Legal Procegdifor a description of these
matters. We cannot predict the scope, timing, ¢caue of these matters, which may include thetursn of administrative, civil, injunctive
or criminal proceedings, the imposition of fineslgenalties, and other remedies and sanctionspfamizich could lead to an adverse impact
on our stock price, the inability to attract oraietkey employees, and the loss of customers. Wtecannot predict what impact, if any, these
matters may have on our business, operating resulfmancial condition. We have not establishay eeserves relating to these matters.

We could face liability as a result of a proceedibgought by Mr. Graham Rich, a former managing diceor, chief executive officer, and
beneficial shareholder of Morningstar Research Atymited, and two companies controlled by Mr. Rich.

In 2001, Mr. Graham Rich, the then managing dineatw chief executive officer of Morningstar ResbalPty Limited (Morningstar
Australia), and one of two companies controlledvby Rich, filed a suit in the Supreme Court of NSauth Wales, Australia against
Morningstar and certain of its officers and nomid@ectors on the board of Morningstar AustralibeTclaims seek various forms of relief,
including monetary damages in the amount of Austngb25.0 million, the setting aside of transactierhich resulted in Morningstar
obtaining control of Morningstar Australia, and@uer either setting aside Morningstagcquisition of shares formerly beneficially owrs
Mr. Rich and his companies or determining a diffiérgrice for this acquisition. In the alternativy. Rich and his companies seek an order
that they be entitled to purchase the shares imigstar Australia at a price to be determinedn®ydourt or book value (as defined in the
shareholders agreement of Morningstar Australia)dbruary 2007, Mr. Rich and his companies natifiorningstar that they would be
seeking the leave of the court to amend the claimdlude a claim relating to Morningstar's acqtigsi of Aspect Huntley Pty Ltd. (Aspect)
in 2006. The amended claim alleges various breashelsligations owed by Morningstar to Morningséarstralia and seeks various forms of
relief, including an equity interest in Aspect asmmpensatory damages. The court has not yet gréeded to allow the amendment to
proceedThe parties have discussed settling the claim&&u been unable to reach an agreement. In théhfquarter of 2003, we offered
settle all claims for Australian $1.3 million whithen approximated U.S. $0.9 million, and, in ademce with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. Bccounting for ContingencidSFAS No. 5), we recorded a reserve in this amdaribecember 2005, we
increased our offer to settle all claims to appmadely Australian $2.5 million, which as of DecemBg&, 2006 approximated U.S. $2.0
million, and, in accordance with SFAS No. 5, haveserve recorded for this amount. While Morning&aigorously contesting the claims
against it, we cannot predict the outcome of tlee@eding. We also cannot predict what impact, yf émis matter may have on our business,
operating results, or financial condition.

A prolonged outage of our database and network fiieis could result in reduced revenue and the lafscustomers

The success of our business depends upon ouwdbiliteliver time-sensitive, up-to-date data arfdrimation. We rely on our computer
equipment, database storage facilities, and otffiee@quipment, which are mainly located in ouric@go headquarters or elsewhere in the
Chicago area. Our operations and those of our mipEnd customers are vulnerable to interruptiofirb, earthquake, power loss,
telecommunications failure, terrorist attacks, wanternet failures, computer viruses, and othengv
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beyond our control, including disasters affectinggago. We maintain off-site back-up facilities faur database and network equipment, but
these facilities could be subject to the sameilinggions that may affect our headquarters. We da@uaently have the capability to switch
over all of our systems to a back-up facility imriaely. If we suffer a significant database or matwfacility outage, our business could
experience disruption until we fully implement daack-up systems. Any losses, service disruptiodaanages incurred by us could have a
material adverse effect on our business, operagisgits, or financial condition.

Our business relies heavily on electronic delivesystems and the Internet. Any failures or disrupt®could result in reduced revenue and
the loss of customers.

Many of our products and services depend heavilgwrelectronic delivery systems and the Inter@®et: ability to deliver information using
the Internet may be impaired because of infrastrediailures, service outages at third-party Inéeproviders, or increased government
regulation. If disruptions, failures, or slowdowafsour electronic delivery systems or the Intemmetur, our ability to distribute our products
and services effectively and to serve our custommerg be impaired.

We could face liability related to our storage ofysonal information about our users.

Customers routinely input personal investment amahicial information, including portfolio holdingsd credit card information, on our Web
sites. We could be subject to liability if we weoeinappropriately disclose any user’s personalrim@tion or if third parties were able to
penetrate our network security or otherwise gagess to any user’s name, address, portfolio hatdiogcredit card information. Any such
event could subject us to claims for unauthorizedlit card purchases, impersonation or other sirfriéaud claims, or claims for other misu
of personal information, such as unauthorized ntargger unauthorized access to personal portfolformation.

Our future success depends on our ability to redrand retain qualified employees, including our exdive officers.

We experience competition for analysts and othgrleyees from financial institutions and financiahgces organizations. These
organizations generally have greater resourcesweatio and therefore may be able to offer signifityamore attractive compensation
packages to potential employees. Competition feséhemployees is intense, and we may not be abd¢sio our existing employees or be
able to recruit and retain other highly qualifieetgpnnel in the future.

Our future success also depends on the continueitas®f our executive officers, including Joe Maet, our chairman, chief executive
officer, and controlling shareholder. The loss & @r more of our executive officers could hurt business, operating results, or financial
condition. We do not carry any life insurance on executive officers. We do not have employmeneagrents or noctempete agreements
place with any of our executive officers. They niegve us and work for our competitors or startrtbein competing businesses.

Our operations outside of the United States are amxging and involve special challenges that we mapt he able to meet.

Over the past three years, our operations outditteedJnited States have generated an increasimgiainof revenue, expanding from

$25.4 million in 2004 to $44.3 million in 2006. Teeare certain risks inherent in doing businessideatthe United States, including
difficulties in reaching new markets due to es&ti®#d competitors; difficulties in staffing, managiand integrating non-U.S. operations;
differences in laws and policies from country taety; exposure to varying legal standards, inelgdntellectual property protection laws;
and currency exchange rates and exchange corWelslo not currently hedge any of our currency eMpmswhich may adversely impact our
financial results.

These risks could hamper our ability to expand adaie world, which may hurt our financial perfomsa and ability to grow.

In addition, we now have approximately 200 prograrsrand data analysts working in our developmemtiecén China. Over the past seve
years, we have been moving a significant percerdéger data collection and development operattorthis location. Because China he
restrictive government under centralized contra,cannot predict the level of political and regogtrisk that may impact our operations.
Any difficulties that we face in successfully maiming our development center in China may harmbmusiness and have a negative impact
on the products and services we provide.

Changes in market and economic conditions could Evdemand for our products and services.

We provide our products and services to individmaéstors, financial advisors, and institutiondécts. Conditions in the financial and
securities markets may have an impact on our pegoce. For example, in the event that the U.Shternational financial markets suffers a
severe or prolonged downturn, demand for our prisdaied services may decline, and our revenue afigtility levels could suffer. The
financial markets and many businesses operatitiggifinancial services industry are highly volatiked are
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affected by factors, such as U.S. and foreign exdnaonditions and general trends in business mahée, that are beyond our control. In
addition, as our fee-based asset management bsisiesases as a percentage of total revenueesults might become more closely tied to
the performance of the market. We attempt to ntiiglais potential risk by diversifying our businés various markets around the world,
well as different segments and price points wittaich area.

Our results could suffer if the mutual fund indusyrexperiences a downturn or a slowdown in growth.

A significant portion of our revenue is generataxhf products and services related to mutual fulilds.mutual fund industry has experien
substantial growth over the past 20 years. Mutuiadl fassets may not continue to expand at the saménrfuture years. Settlements and
regulatory actions in the mutual fund industry deling the market-timing scandal that emerged in32@@wnturns in the financial markets,
or a relative increase in usage of other investmehicles could cause a decline in investor intareswutual funds. If the mutual fund
industry experiences a downturn or a slower grawaté than in the past, it could negatively impaandnd for some of our products.

Failure to protect our intellectual property rightsould harm our brand-building efforts and abilityo compete effectively.

The steps we have taken to protect our intelleqitgberty may not be adequate to safeguard ourriptapy information. Further, effective
trademark, copyright, and trade secret protectiay not be available in every country in which wieobur services. Our continued ability to
market one or more of our products under theirantrnames could be adversely affected in thosedigtions where another person registers,
or has a pre-existing registration on, one or nobthem. Failure to adequately protect our intéliat property could harm our brand, devalue
our proprietary content, and affect our abiliticimpete in the marketplace.

Control by a principal shareholder could adverselifect our other shareholders.

As of December 31, 2006, Joe Mansueto, our chaianarchief executive officer, owned approximatedys/of our outstanding common
stock. As a result, he has the ability to conttddstantially all matters submitted to our sharebddor approval, including the election and
removal of directors and any merger, consolidatiorsale of our assets. He also has the abiligptdrol our management and affairs. This
concentration of ownership may delay or preverttange in control; impede a merger, consolidatiakedver, or other business combination
involving us; discourage a potential acquirer froraking a tender offer or otherwise attempting ttaobcontrol of us; or result in actions tl
may be opposed by other shareholders.

Moreover, because of Joe’s substantial ownershgpane a “controlled company” for purposes of theSIAQ Marketplace Rules. This
means that, if in the future we elect to be treated controlled company under the NASDAQ MarkegRules, we will not be required by
NASDAQ to have a majority of independent directorgo maintain compensation and nominating andamate governance committe
composed entirely of independent directors to cwmtito list our shares on NASDAQ.

Fluctuations in our operating results may negatiyeimpact our stock price.

We believe our business has relatively large fizests and low variable costs, which magnify theaotf revenue fluctuations on our
operating results. As a result, a decline in oueneie may lead to larger decline in operating ineofnsubstantial portion of our operating
expense is related to personnel costs, marketiogyams, and corporate overhead, none of which eadfusted quickly. Our operating
expense levels are based on our expectationstimefeevenue. If actual revenue falls behind oyreetations, or if our expenses increase
before revenues do, our operating results woulch&eerially and adversely affected. In addition,dwenot provide earnings guidance or hold
one-on-one meetings with institutional investord eesearch analysts. Because of this policy aniddléhanalyst coverage on our stock, our
stock price may be volatile. If our operating réswir other operating metrics fail to meet the exgigons of outside research analysts and
investors, the market price of our common stock aegline.

The future sale of shares of our common stock maggatively impact our stock price.

If our shareholders sell substantial amounts ofcommon stock, the market price of our common stmekd fall. A reduction in ownership
by Joe Mansueto or any other large shareholdedarause the market price of our common stock tolfahddition, the average daily tradi
volume in our stock is relatively low. The lacktodding activity in our stock may lead to greatacfuations in our stock price. Low trading
volume may also make it difficult for sharehold&rysnake transactions in a timely fashion.

Our shareholders may experience dilution in theimaership positions.

Morningstar has historically granted options to &ypes as a significant part of our overall comp#ins package. As of December 31, 2(
our employees and non-employee directors held optio acquire 8,969,904 shares of common stock5/382
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of which were exercisable at a weighted averageceseeprice of $10.90 per share and 1,714,042 wetrexercisable and had an average
exercise price of $17.18 per share. To the exteitdption holders exercise outstanding optiormtchase common stock, there may be
further dilution. Future grants of stock optionsrestricted stock units may also result in dilutigvie may raise additional funds through fu
sales of our common stock. Any such financing newlt in additional dilution to our shareholders.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

We have not received any comments from the Stati®Securities and Exchange Commission regardinge@riodic or current reports unc
the Exchange Act.
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Item 2. Properties

Our headquarters and U.S.-based offices are logat€ticago, lllinois, and consist of approximat&lf1,000 square feet of leased space. We
also lease approximately 77,500 square feet of@fpace in 14 countries around the world. We belibat our office facilities are adequate
for our immediate needs and that additional or it space is available if needed to accommoglateth and expansion.

In December 2005, we signed a 15-year lease faoajpately 210,000 square feet of office spacenimtiice tower being constructed at 108
North State Street in Chicago, lllinois. We areestifled to move into the new space when the leasts & 2008

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
Morningstar Australie

In 2001, Mr. Graham Rich, the then managing dineatal chief executive officer of Morningstar ResdalPty Limited (Morningstar
Australia), and one of two companies controlledvby Rich, filed a suit in the Supreme Court of NSauth Wales, Australia against
Morningstar and certain of its officers and nomid@ectors on the board of Morningstar Australia. Rich was also a beneficial owner of
shares in Morningstar Australia. Mr. Rich and lasnpany originally sought an injunction, which, iagted, would have precluded
Morningstar Australia from terminating the servicdsvir. Rich and from issuing additional share$torningstar in exchange for the
provision of further funding by Morningstar to Mamgstar Australia. Further, Mr. Rich and his companught an order that a provisional
liquidator be appointed for Morningstar Australidie court rejected this injunction application, etwéng that Morningstar Australia would
insolvent without financial backing from Morningstd@he application for the appointment of a pramisil liquidator also failed. The services
of Mr. Rich were terminated in November 2001. MichiRand his company were ordered to pay Morningstansts of the injunction
proceedings.

Mr. Rich and the two companies controlled by MrchiRhave additional pending claims, alleging, amotingr things, breaches by Morning:

of contracts and statutory and general law dutiésleading, deceptive, and unconscionable conduddrningstar, oppression by
Morningstar and its nominee directors, claims urniderindustrial Relations Act of New South Walegdthes of directors’ duties by
Morningstar’s nominee directors, and conflict akirest. The claims seek various forms of religfluding monetary damages in the amount
of Australian $25,000,000, the setting aside aigetions which resulted in Morningstar obtainingteol of Morningstar Australia, and an
order either setting aside Morningstar’'s acquisitid the shares formerly beneficially owned by Rich and his companies or determining a
different price for this acquisition. In the altative, Mr. Rich and his companies seek an orddrthiey be entitled to purchase the shares in
Morningstar Australia at a price to be determingdHhz court or book value (as defined in the Mogstiar Australia shareholders agreement).
Morningstar has denied the claims and filed couol@ms against Mr. Rich and certain of his companalleging breaches of statutory,
general law, and contractual duties.

In July 2004, the court decided Morningstar’s aggtion for security for its potential additionalst® in the litigation by ordering the two
companies controlled by Mr. Rich to provide appnoaiely Australian $925,000 to the court as sectioitthese potential costs. Morningstar
has been paid some of its costs and will be edtttdebe paid its costs in the future only if theitanakes a determination to that effect. The
court stayed the proceedings pending its receithe@becurity and indicated that it would entertinapplication by Morningstar for
additional security at a later time in the procegdi

In May 2005, Mr. Rich obtained conditional leavettod court to begin a proceeding in the name ofriihgstar Australia against Morningstar
and its nominee directors. The leave was, howewdject to the following conditions: (i) Mr. Richust pay and bear, and indemnify
Morningstar Australia against, all costs, chargesi expenses of and incidental to the bringingamdinuation of the proceeding (except as
the court may otherwise direct or allow) and mat/seek contribution or indemnity from Morningstangtralia for any of these costs,
charges, or expenses; (i) Morningstar Australidylo. Rich on its behalf, together with the two quemies controlled by Mr. Rich were
required to provide to the court, as security fmrMngstar’s costs, approximately Australian $92B,@s described in the preceding
paragraph; and (iii) approximately Australian $@® in costs owed by Mr. Rich and one of his congmto Morningstar in respect of the
2001 injunction proceedings were required to bd paiMorningstar. These conditions have been $adisf

In September 2005, Mr. Rich and his companies fil&kcond Further Amended Statement of Claim, diolasimg the claims. Morningstar
filed a Defence to that pleading and an Amended&@taim against Mr. Rich, both his companies, ankiira tAustralian company controlli
by Mr. Rich.

In December 2006, Morningstar applied to the ctarfurther security for its potential additionaists in the litigation. The court has not yet
held a hearing for this application.

In February 2007, Mr. Rich and his companies redifviorningstar that they would be seeking the lez\the court to amend the Second
Further Amended Statement of Claim to include arclelating to Morningstas acquisition of Aspect Huntley Pty Ltd. (Aspect)2006. The
amended claim alleges various breaches of obligatioved by Morningstar to Morningstar Australia aedks
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various forms of relief, including an equity intetén Aspect and compensatory damages. The cosindtayet granted leave to allow the
amendment to proceed.

The parties have discussed settling the claim&&ue been unable to reach an agreement. In thiafquarter of 2003, Morningstar offerec
settle all claims for Australian $1,250,000, whtblen approximated U.S. $942,000, and, in accordastbeStatement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No.Agcounting for ContingenciedMorningstar recorded a reserve in this amounbénember 2005,
Morningstar increased its offer to settle all claito approximately Australian $2,500,000, whiclbatember 31, 2006 approximated U.S.
$2,000,000, and, in accordance with SFAS No. 5,rihgstar has a reserve recorded in this amountlé/Mharningstar is vigorously
contesting the claims against it, we cannot preatietoutcome of the proceeding.

Morningstar Associates, LLC Subpoenas from Seesrand Exchange Commission, New York Attorney @¥s Office, and Department of
Labor

Securities and Exchange Commission

In February 2005, Morningstar Associates, LLC, alyhowned subsidiary of Morningstar, Inc., recaherequest from the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) for the voluntary proidmodf documents relating to the investment comsglservices the company offers to
retirement plan providers, including fund lineupammendations for retirement plan sponsors. In 2085, the SEC issued a subpoena to
Morningstar Associates that was virtually identitalts February 2005 request.

Subsequently, the SEC focused on disclosure rglétimn optional service offered to retirement @ponsors (employers) that select 401 (k)
plan services from ING, one of Morningstar Assaesatlients. In response to the SEC investigatidiG and Morningstar Associates revised
certain documents for plan sponsors to furtheifgléne roles of ING and Morningstar Associatepmviding that service. The revisions also
help reinforce that Morningstar Associates makeséiections only from funds available within INGarious retirement products.

On January 24, 2007, the SEC notified Morningstssokiates that it ended its investigation, witrenforcement action, fines, or penalties.
New York Attorney Gener's Office

In December 2004, Morningstar Associates receiveabpoena from the New York Attorney General’sa#fseeking information and
documents related to an investigation the New YAttkrney General’s office is conducting. The redussimilar in scope to the SEC
subpoena described above. Morningstar Associateprio&ided the requested information and docuneamiscontinues to cooperate fully
with the New York Attorney General's office.

In January 2007, Morningstar Associates receividtice of Proposed Litigation from the New York éthey General’s office. The Notice
centers on the same issues that became the fotius SEC investigation described above. The Na#se Morningstar Associates the
opportunity to explain why the New York Attorney &al’s office should not institute proceedings.rMogstar Associates promptly
submitted its explanation. To date, the New YortoAtey General's office has not taken any furtratioa.

We cannot predict the scope, timing, or outcom#hisf matter, which may include the institution df@inistrative, civil, injunctive, or

criminal proceedings, the imposition of fines arthalties, and other remedies and sanctions, ampich could lead to an adverse impact on
our stock price, the inability to attract or retéigy employees, and the loss of customers. Wecalsoot predict what impact, if any, this
matter may have on our business, operating resulfgyancial condition.

United States Department of Labor

In May 2005, Morningstar Associates received a eebp from the United States Department of Labekisg information and documents
related to an investigation the Department of Lab@onducting. The Department of Labor subpoemalistantially similar in scope to the
SEC and New York Attorney General subpoenas.

In January 2007, the Department of Labor issuastjaest for additional documents pursuant to the RBOf}b subpoena, including documents
and information regarding Morningstar Associatesirement advice products for plan participantsriitgstar Associates continues to
cooperate fully with the Department of Labor.

We cannot predict the scope, timing, or outcom#hisf matter, which may include the institution df@inistrative, civil, injunctive, or

criminal proceedings, the imposition of fines arthalties, and other remedies and sanctions, ampich could lead to an adverse impact on
our stock price, the inability to attract or retdigy employees, and the loss of customers. Wecalsoot predict what impact, if any, these
matters may have on our business, operating resulfmancial condition.

In addition to these proceedings, we are involvelggal proceedings and litigation that have arisgthe normal course of our business.
Although the outcome of a particular proceeding waver be predicted, we do not believe that theltre$ any of these
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matters will have a material adverse effect onbmsginess, operating results, or financial condition
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securityolders

No matters were submitted to a vote of our sectwdtgers, through the solicitation of proxies dnertvise, during the quarter enc
December 31, 2006.

Part Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Rity Securities
Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Globa&dWarket under the symbol “MORN.”

The following table shows the high and low price gleare of our common stock for the periods indidaas reported on the Nasdaq Global
Select Market:

2006 2005
High Low High Low
First Quarter (our stock was first publicly tradedMay 3, 2005 $ 4637 $ 337 $ — 3 —
Second Quarte 47.5€ 35.6€ 29.5¢ 18.51
Third Quartel 42.7€ 32.9¢ 34.1C 26.01
Fourth Quarte 47.3€ 36.32 37.43 24.82

As of March 1, 2007, the last reported price onNlasdaq Global Select Market for our common stoak $50.11 per share and there were
approximately 40 shareholders of record of our comstock.

We do not currently pay cash dividends, nor haveaid cash dividends during the period coverechiyfinancial statements included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Any determination ty plavidends in the future will be at the discretioinour board of directors and will be
dependent upon our results of operations, finamciatlition, contractual restrictions, restrictiomgposed by applicable law, and other factors
deemed relevant by the board of directors. Futwleltedness and loan facilities may also prohibiestrict our ability to pay dividends and
make distributions to our shareholders.

In May 2005, we completed our initial public offiegi of 7,612,500 shares of our common stock. Thieaees began trading on May 3, 2005
and now trade on the Nasdaq Global Select Marka¢utne symbol “MORN.” All of these shares werddduy affiliates of SOFTBANK
Finance Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary OFFBANK Corp. We did not receive any proceeds fibim sale of these shares. We
granted the underwriters the option to purchas®wgm additional 1,141,875 shares at the initi@dlipwoffering price of $18.50 per share to
cover over-allotments. In May 2005, the underwsitexercised their over-allotment option in full.rwet proceeds from the exercise of the
underwriters’ over-allotment option were $18.1 ioill, after deducting the underwriting discounts aathmissions and approximately $2.6
million of offering expenses. On March 1, 2006, eeenpleted our acquisition of Ibbotson Associatesb®6.5 million in cash. We funded a
portion of the purchase price with our net procdeat® the exercise of the underwriters’ over-alletrhoption.

Rule 10b-1 Plans

Our directors and executive officers may exerciseksoptions or purchase or sell shares of our comstock in the market from time to
time. We encourage them to make these transadtiomsgh plans that comply with Exchange Act Rule3:Q(c). Morningstar will not
receive any proceeds, other than proceeds frorex@eise of stock options, related to these trdimses

The following table, which we are providing on durtary basis, shows the Rule 10b5-1 plans entietedby our directors and executive
officers that were in effect on March 1, 2007:

Number of Number of
Shares Shares
Plan to be Sold under Projected
Date of Termination Sold under the Plan through Beneficial
Name and Positior Plan Date the Plan Timing of Sales under the Plai March 1, 2007 Ownership (1)
Jack Noonan Monthly increments of u
Director 08/22/0¢ 12/10/07 60,00( to 4,000 share 20,00( 76,00(
Don Phillips
Managing Semimonthly incremen
Director 05/09/0¢ 08/26/0 450,00( of up to 15,000 shar 180,00( 1,413,62¢

(1) This column reflects an estimate of the nunddeshares each identified director and executifieafwill beneficially own following the
sale of all shares under his Rule 1-1 plan identified above. This information reflettie beneficial ownership of o
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common stock on December 31, 2006, and include®stwd our common stock subject to options thaewvtieen exercisable or that will have
become exercisable by March 1, 2007. The estinthte®t reflect any changes to beneficial ownersiagh may have occurred since
December 31, 2006. Each director and executiveafidentified in the table may amend or termifaseRule 10b5-1 plan and may adopt
additional Rule 10b5-1 plans in the future.

In his letter to shareholders in our 2005 Annugb®te Joe Mansueto, our chairman and chief exeewfficer, stated that he expects to sell
approximately 4% of his Morningstar shares annuatigler a Rule 10b5-1 plan. As of the date of thport Joe has not yet established a Rule
10b5-1 plan for 2007, but we expect that he wilkdo
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected historical financial data shown bedtvauld be read in conjunction with Management'sésion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations and our Codatdd Financial Statements and related notes iedletsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. We have derived our Consolidated Statesmef Operations Data and Other Consolidated Eiahbata for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 and Consoliddkthce Sheet Data as of December 31, 2006 andfg@@sour audited Consolidated
Financial Statements included in this Annual ReparForm 10-K. The Consolidated Statements of Qjmera Data and Other Consolidated
Financial Data for the years ended December 313 20@ 2002 and Consolidated Balance Sheet Datilzascember 31, 2004, 2003, and
2002 were derived from our audited Consolidateciinal Statements that are not included in thisuahiReport on Form 10-K.

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data

(in thousands except per share amounts) 200z 2002 2004 200% 200¢€
Revenue $ 109,61¢$ 139,49t $ 179,65¢($ 227,11« $ 31517
Operating expense 117,95¢ 150,25( 161,92 180,63« 237,64¢
Operating income (loss) (8,340 (10,759 17,73t 46,48( 77,52,
Non-operating income, net 4,46: 1,11C 1,80t 3,19¢ 4,164

Income (loss) before income taxes, equity in nebine of
unconsolidated entities, minority interest in restd of consolidated
entities, extraordinary gain, and cumulative effefciccounting

change (3,877 (9,649 19,54( 49,67¢ 81,69
Income tax expense (benel (311 2,95( 11,57« 20,22« 32,97
Equity in net income of unconsolidated entit 75C 697 843 1,662 2,78
Minority interest in net loss of consolidated epst 17¢ — — — —
Income (loss) before extraordinary gain and cunwdatffect of

accounting chang (2,639 (11,89 8,80¢ 31,11% 51,50:
Extraordinary gai—acquisition 3,08¢ — — —

Cumulative effect of accounting change, net ofda%171 — — — — 25¢
Net income (loss $ 44€ $ (11,89) % 8,80¢$ 31,117 $ 51,76:

Basic income (loss) per sha
Income (loss) before extraordinary gain and cunwdatffect of

accounting chang $ (0.0 $ (0.3) % 0.2t $ 0.7¢ $ 1.2t
Extraordinary gai—acquisition 0.0¢ — — — —
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — — 0.01
Basic income (loss) per share $ 0.01 $ (0.30) $ 0.2t $ 0.7¢ $ 1.2¢
Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic 38,34¢ 38,38: 38,41¢ 39,39: 41,17¢

Diluted income (loss) per shai
Income (loss) before extraordinary gain and cunwdatffect of

accounting chang $ 0.17) % (0.3) % 021 $ 0.7C $ 1.1C
Extraordinary gai—acquisition 0.0¢ — — — —
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — — 0.01
Diluted income (loss) per share $ (0.09 $ (0.3) $ 021 % 0.7C $ 1.11
Weighted average common shares outstanding—diluted 40,36 38,38: 41 ,85¢ 44,45¢ 46,72¢
Other Consolidated Financial Data ($000 200z 200: 2004 200¢ 200¢€
Stocl-based compensation expense (income) under thétliahethod $ (3,289 $ 17,79¢ $ 8,96: $ 281C $ —
Stock-based compensation expense under the egethooh 10,57¢ 11,23: 7,76( 8,08t 8,57¢
Total stock-based compensation expense (1) $ 7292% 29,02¢ $ 16,72: $ 10,89¢ $ 8,67t
Sales tax expense ( $ 2831 % 3,07¢ $ — $ — $ —
Cash used for investing activiti (6,069 (29,639 (22,750) (16,919 (129,00
Cash provided by (used for) financing activit (1,959 (26) (6,367) 25,25¢ 33,98:
Cash provided by operating activiti $ 16,54:$ 29,70t $ 32,86: $ 48,44t $  98,67:
Capital expenditures (5,989 (8,607 (7,730 (7,45)) (4,722)
Free cash flow (3) $ 1055:$% 2109¢$ 2513:$ 40,994 $  93,95¢
Consolidated Balance Sheet Dat
As of December 31 ($000) 2002 2008 2004 2008 200¢€
Cash, cash equivalents and investm $ 64,79 $ 76,15¢ $ 95,46: $ 153,19( $ 163,75:
Working capital (deficit) (4 10,00¢ (5,206 16,90: 90,37+ 70,02:
Total asset 152,78: 180,26! 213,36: 296,31: 447,83t
Deferred revenue (¢ 47,73 55,554 63,36 71,15t 100,52!
Long-term liabilities (5) 21,24 25,48¢ 30,12¢ 6,75¢ 10,95:

Total shareholde’ equity (5) (6) 48,13: 44,82 64,38 173,71 269,42:
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1)

()

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted StatgroeFinancial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. (R8vised 2004)Share-Based
Paymen{SFAS No. 123(R)). Prior to this date, we accourfitedur equity plans in accordance with the failue provisions of SFAS
No. 123,Stock-based Compensatiomhe total expense for stock-based compensatidistisbuted with other employee compensation
costs in the appropriate expense categories ofounsolidated Statements of Operations. Prior taratial public offering in May 2005,
in accordance with SFAS No. 123, we used two adiogimethods. For options granted under plansrttat have required us to settle
the options in cash, we used the liability metiddder this method we recorded a liability for ateesoption equal to the difference
between the option exercise price and the fairevalithe shares of common stock underlying theoopdi the end of the reporting peri
If this fair value increased over the reportingiperwe recorded an expense and, if it decreasedeworded income. For options granted
under plans that did not require us to settle fit@ns in cash, we used the equity method. Undemtiethod we calculated the fair value
of the option at the time of grant using a Black&es model and recorded expense over the vestingdd In each year, our aggregate
stock-based compensation expense reflects the tropaptions granted in prior years.

Subsequent to our initial public offering, we nader settle stock options for cash. As a resulgfadur options are currently accounted
for under the equity method. Refer to Note 11 efliotes to our Consolidated Financial Statememtmfire information on our stock-
based compensation.

In 2003, we began participating in voluntdigclosure or similar programs related to states&lx. Through these programs, we
identified sales tax amounts attributed to 2003 ot years and negotiated or are in discussidtis lacal tax authorities to settle these
amounts. We recorded total expense of $9.0 milko2000, 2001, 2002, and 2003, the years to whiekd sales tax amounts apply.
Based on the most current information available,abtual sales tax expense was not materiallyrdiftéfrom the estimates recorded in
those periods.

Free cash flow is considered a ®AAP financial measure under SEC regulations. Vst this measure as supplemental informi

to help investors better understand trends in asiness results over time. Our management teanfiegesash flow to evaluate the
performance of our business. Free cash flow iegaivalent to any measure of performance requadsktreported under U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP), nothdhis data be considered an indicator of oural/énancial performance or
liquidity. Moreover, the free cash flow definitiove use may not be comparable to similarly titlechsuges reported by other companies.

We frequently invoice or collect cash in ade@ of providing services or fulfilling subscripti® for our customers. These amounts are
recorded as deferred revenue on our ConsolidatethBa Sheets. As a result of recording deferredme®, our working capital may at
times be negative.

In the second quarter of 2005, upon comptedibour initial public offering, we reclassifie@4.9 million related to stock options
accounted for as long-term liabilities, in accorckamwith SFAS No. 123, to additional paid-in capital

In May 2005, we completed our initial pubditfering of 7,612,500 shares of our common stodiese shares commenced trading on
May 3, 2005 and now trade on the Nasdaq GlobakSMarket under the symbol “MORN.” All of these sba were sold by affiliates of
SOFTBANK Finance Corporation, a wholly owned sulzsig of SOFTBANK Corp. We did not receive any preds from the sale of
these shares. In addition, we granted the undemsrihe right to purchase up to an additional @78 shares at the initial public offer
price to cover over-allotments. In May 2005, thelemvriters exercised their over-allotment optiofillh We received net proceeds of
$18.1 million based on our initial public offeripgice of $18.50 per share, after deducting the mmdigng discounts and commissions
and approximately $2.6 million of offering expenses
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

The discussion included in this section, as webtagr sections of this Annual Report on Form 1@dhtains forward-looking statements
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litiga Reform Act of 1995. These statements relatgttive events or to our future financial
performance and involve known and unknown risksetainties, and other factors that may cause atual results, levels of activit
performance, or achievements to be materially difiefrom any future results, levels of activitgrjermance, or achievements expresse
implied by these forward-looking statements. Insaases, you can identify forward-looking stateméntthe use of words such as “may,”
“could,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “seek,” “antic ipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” or “continue” or the negative of
these terms or other comparable terminology. Yawkhnot place undue reliance on forward-lookingtements because they involve known
and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factbeg are, in some cases, beyond our control aati¢buld materially affect actual results,
levels of activity, performance, or achievements.

Other factors that could materially affect actuakults, levels of activity, performance, or achmeeats can be found in Item 1A — Risk
Factors of this Annual Report on Form-K. If any of these risks or uncertainties mategal or if our underlying assumptions prove to be
incorrect, actual results may vary significantlpifin what we projected. Any forward-looking statenyent read in this Annual Report on
Form 1(-K reflects our current views with respect to f@wvents and is subject to these and other risicertainties, and assumptions
relating to our operations, results of operatiogspwth strategy, and liquidity. We assume no obiarato publicly update or revise these
forward-looking statements for any reason, whether assalt®f new information, future events, or otheawvis

Understanding Our Company

Our mission is to create great products that helpstors reach their financial goals. We offer stem@sive line of Internet, software, and print-
based products for individual investors, finanaidVisors, and institutional clients. We also ofieset management services for advisors,
institutions, and retirement plan participants. Kéee historically generated recurring revenue beeagany of our products are sold through
subscriptions or license agreements. We believenthée the fixed costs of the investments in ousibess are relatively high, the variable
cost of adding customers is considerably lowerti@aarly as our products and services focus morénternet-based platforms and assets
under management. We strive to realize this opegddéiverage by selling a wide variety of productd aervices to multiple investor
segments, through multiple media, and in many gegigc markets.

We manage Morningstar to maximize our long-ternulteswhile staying focused on our mission of hedpinvestors and adhering to our
company values. We invest significantly in new pratddevelopment and in enhancements to our cuofégrings. It typically takes many
years to recoup these investments, but we belleedre critical to building lor-term value for our shareholders.

We emphasize a decentralized approach to runningusiness to empower our managers and to creatkuse of responsibility and
accountability. We operate our decentralized bssirstructure in three global business segmentwvidingl, Advisor, and Institutional. Early
in our history, our product lineup emphasized patsldior individual investors. As a result, the Widual segment contributed a majority of
our revenue. In the early 1990s, our Advisor segrhbename a more important part of our businesseMetcently, we've begun serving more
investors through our Institutional segment, whigs the largest of our three segments in termewrue in 2006, 2005, and 2004. In all
three of these segments, we believe our work hetpgidual investors make better investment dedisio
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Business Model: Leveraging Fixed Investments

We leverage our 10 core investment databases by selling a wide variety of products in multiple media to three key investor
segments around the world.

Fixed Investments:
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Key Business Characteristics
We believe our business has the following charaties:
Recurring Revenu

We have historically generated recurring revenwabse many of our products are sold through syfigams or license agreements. These
subscriptions and licenses generally come up fogwel after one- to three-year terms. Many of ibenlse agreements in our Advisor and
Institutional segments span multiple years. Becafisieis recurring revenue, we generally have stuptans and license agreements in place
for a meaningful percentage of our total annuatnesxe at the beginning of each year. We think &f disi our “walk-in" revenue.

We separate our annual revenue into three categaedined as follows:

*  New revenueéWe define new revenue as revenue from selling eahdit products to current customers or from seltmgew customers;
* Renewal revenueWe define renewal revenue as revenue from resesfaubscriptions or licenses; and

¢ “Walk-in" revenue. We define “walk-in" revenue as revenue we expececognize during the year from subscriptions lasshse
agreements in place as of January 1 of each y@astad for cancellations, currency translations ather routine adjustments during the y

Beginning in 2007, we no longer plan to report ¢y information on new, renewal, and walk-in reue. We're currently evaluating
potential new metrics that may be more useful W@tors.

In addition to looking at walk-in, renewal, and nesvenue, we calculate a retention rate to evaluatesuccessful wee been in maintainir
existing business for products and services tha henewable revenue. We use two different metfmdsalculating retention. For
subscriptionbased products (including our print newslettersymitystar.com Premium Membership service, and Riiasoftware), we trac
the number of subscriptions retained during the.yléar products sold through contracts and licensesuse the contract value method, w

is based on tracking the dollar value of renewalaared with the total dollar value of contractsfaprenewal during the period. We include
changes in the contract value in the renewal amaunhéss the change specifically results from agldimew product that we can identify. We
also include variable contracts in this calculaéomnl use the previous quarter’s actual revenueealsase rate for calculating the renewal
percentage. The retention rate excludes setupustdroization fees, migrations to other Morningstaducts, and contract renewals that
were pending as of January 31, 2007.

Significant Operating Leverage

Our business requires significant investments éater and maintain proprietary databases and cohnstrive to leverage these costs by
selling a wide variety of products and servicemtdtiple investor segments, through multiple mediad in many geographic markets. We
believe that while the fixed costs of the investtseén our business are relatively high, the vagatdst of adding customers is considerably
lower, particularly as our products and servicesifomore on Internet-based platforms and assetr mmahagement. In the past, we have
made investments in building our databases andtnbttiat have hurt our short-term operating redaltsertain periods. In the past several
years, our profitability has improved becausfve been able to increase revenue without incrgasur cost base at the same rate. We look
for this operating leverage to be evident in ougrations over the long term.

Deferred Revenu

We frequently collect cash in advance of providsegvices or fulfilling subscriptions for our custers. As a result, we can use some of this
cash to fund our operations and invest in new prbdavelopment. Although we may need to issue dsifar the unused portion of the
subscription if a customer cancels, we generaliehssed cash collected in advance of providingiseswr fulfilling subscriptions to fund
many of our other activities. The deferred revestu@vn on our balance sheet as of December 31,12¢6d $100.5 million, including
deferred revenue from acquisitions. As of Decen®ie2005, we had $71.2 million in deferred reveritree $29.3 million increase in
deferred revenue from 2005 to 2006 includes theaohpf acquisitions.

How Our Business Works
Revenu

We earn revenue by selling a variety of investnretdated products and services. Many of our offegjrsgich as our newsletters, Principia
software, and Premium service on Morningstar.camsald via subscriptions. These subscriptionsreamly offered for a one-year term,
although we also offer terms over other periodgiramfrom one month to three years. We also selegsing on our Web sites throughout
the world. Several of our other products are setdugh license agreements, including Morningstarigar Workstation, Morningstar Equity
Research, Morningstar Direct, Morningstar EnComtilement Advice, and Licensed Data. Our licengeemgents typically range from one
three years. For some of our other institutionatises, mainly Investment Consulting, our feesgererally based on the scope of work and
the level of service we provide and calculated psraentage of assets under management. We alsotdeks relating to Morningstar
Managed Portfolios and the managed retirement atsaifered through Morningstar Retirement Managet Advice by Ibbotson that are
calculated as a percentage of assets under maeagem



Operating Expense

We classify our expenses into separate categaniebt of goods sold, development, sales and rtiaggeggeneral and administrative, and
depreciation and amortization, as described belgerinclude stock-based compensation expense, aspaate,
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in each of these categories.

* Cost of goods soldhis category includes the compensation expenseniployees who produce the products we deliveuto o
customers. For example, this category covers theafgroduction teams and analysts who write itmiest research reports. Cost of goods
sold also includes other expenses such as postaging, and CD-ROM replication, as well as shaldkr servicing fees for Morningstar
Managed Portfolios and costs for outsourced promhglementation expense for development projects@ated with the Advice by Ibbots
service.

* DevelopmentThis category mainly includes compensation expémsprogrammers, designers, and other employeesdetielop new
products and make enhancements to existing pradacteme cases, we capitalize the compensatids associated with certain
development projects. This reduces the expensavihatould otherwise report in this category. We #inre these capitalized costs over the
estimated economic life of the software, whichésgrally three years, and include this expensemetiation and amortization.

¢ Sales and marketind@his category includes compensation expense fosalas teams, product managers, and other marketing
professionals. We also include the cost of advagjglirect mail campaigns, and other marketinggpems to promote our products.

¢  General and administrativahis category consists mainly of compensation egpdar each segment’s management team, as well as
human resources, finance, and support employeesafdr sesgment. The category also includes compensadpense for senior management
and corporate expenses, including corporate sys@nsunting, legal, and facilities expense.

¢  Depreciation and amortizatiour capital expenditures consist mainly of commjterasehold improvements, and capitalized product
development costs related to certain software dgveént projects. We recognize depreciation and tration costs for these items over
their estimated useful lives, generally rangingrfriiree to seven years. We also include amortizaigtated to intangible assets, which is
mainly driven by acquisitions, in this category.

International Operation:

We consolidate the results of our majority-ownedragions outside the United States. We accourddominority-owned investments in
Japan, Korea, Denmark, and Sweden using the eqaitiyod.

How We Evaluate Our Business
When our analysts evaluate a stock, they focussessing the company’s estimated intrinsic value-vtiue of the company’s future cash
flows, discounted to their worth in today’s dolla®ur approach to evaluating our own business witrksame way. Our goal is to increase

the intrinsic value of our business over time, Whige believe is the best way to create value forshareholders.

We do not make public financial forecasts for ousihess because they are, by their nature, swi@esntid could have an effect on our
company’s stock price. We want to avoid creating iacentive within our company to “make the numbers

We provide three specific measures that can heksiors generate their own assessment of how trinsit value has changed over time:

* Revenue;

¢  Operating income (loss); and

*  Free cash flow, which we define as cash providedg®srating activities less capital expenditures.

Free cash flow is considered a non-GAAP financiehsure under Securities and Exchange Commissidd)(&gulations. We present this
measure as supplemental information to help invedtetter understand trends in our business resudtstime. Our management team uses
free cash flow to evaluate the performance of augiriess. Free cash flow is not equivalent to angsuee of performance required to be
reported under U.S. generally accepted accountimgiples (U.S. GAAP), and should not be consideaedndicator of our overall financial
performance or liquidity. Moreover, the free castwfdefinition we use may not be comparable to lirhyi titled measures reported by other
companies.

Industry Overview

We monitor developments in the economic and firgrinformation industry on an ongoing basis andthsse insights to help
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inform our company strategy, product developmeang) and marketing initiatives.
Investment Landscape, Research, and [

After a strong rally toward the end of 2006, Mogstar’'s U.S. Market Index, a broad stock marketharark, finished the year with a total
return of 15.7%, compared with a 6.5% gain in 200&rkets outside of the United States posted sifgitarong results. With the investment
climate generally favorable and all diversified igpflund categories posting positive total retufoisthe year, mutual funds based in the
United States enjoyed positive net inflows for yiear, and cash flows into equity funds were ab&@b higher than in 2005. Net cash flows
into hybrid funds were lower than in 2005, but cadlows to taxable bond, municipal bond, and moneyrket funds all increased over 2005
levels. The number of mutual funds increased diigbtabout 8,100 during 2006, and total fund asseireased by about 17% to $10.4
trillion as of year-end. The Investment Companyitag estimates that about 54.7 million househaidte United States, or 48% of all
households, own mutual funds. This total is stillvah slightly from the peak level in 2001, but higlttean the totals in each of the previous
four years.

We believe that continued asset growth and widespusage of mutual funds is significant becausdadively large portion of Morningstar's
business has historically focused on this area.d¥ew this percentage has been declining as wapaneled into equity research and other
areas.

The SEC issued interpretive guidance in July 2@@furding the use of soft dollar payments, whichearangements in which investment
advisors receive research or other services frarkdordealers in exchange for executing trades titrabat broker. More recently, the
Department of Labor proposed regulations that woedpiire brokerage firms to report separately thst of brokerage and research services
provided to pension funds. Pension funds would béseequired to disclose soft dollar research paysne

Also related to soft dollars, asset managers iruthiseed Kingdom recently began disclosing the antadfrokerage commissions used for
transaction costs and research. Trade associdtiohesnd managers and brokers based in France ttgéssued recommendations to
government regulators related to the amount angeugbbrokerage commissions, and financial regtdatoCanada have also proposed new
soft dollar regulations that would require assehaggers to itemize soft dollar costs and allocagentho clients.

We believe these developments are important be¢hagainderscore a longer-term trend toward grgateing transparency and are
prompting debate about the cost and value of seesiresearch. In addition, we believe the tremehatd unbundled commissions may place
additional pressure on budgets for sell-side resedeading to further cuts in coverage lists armtéased demand for independent research
from companies such as Morningstar.

In September 2006, President Bush signed the Chgeihcy Reform Act, which will allow companies thaeet certain standards to register
with the SEC as rating organizations, broadenimgpetition from current restrictions that only allawedit ratings by five firms currently
designated as nationally recognized rating agen@esbelieve that increased competition in the itmatings industry would be favorable for
investors, and we're continuing to monitor the péitd impact of this development on our business.

We continued to see strong interest in alternasset classes during 2006. Hedge funds, in paticthntinued to enjoy strong growth. Ba
on estimates published by Hennessee Group, heddarfdustry assets increased to $1.44 trillion @c@mber 2006, a 17.5% increase from
$1.2 trillion at the beginning of the year. The rhenof hedge funds and funds of funds continudshttmon, with more than 19,000 funds in
existence as of December 2006 based on a studyFmsifrac Financial Solutions, compared with ab@230 as of December 2005. We
substantially increased the size of our hedge fiatdbase with our acquisition of the institutionatige fund and separate account database
division of InvestorForce. We're continuing to erpathe information we provide on hedge funds totmeestors’ need for information on
this growing asset class.

Several firms, including Moody'’s, Standard & Pogpdsd Fitch, have announced plans to introduceévdud ratings in response to investor
interest in this area. We continue to monitor depaients in the industry and have continued to expam analyst coverage on hedge funds.
We’'re also continuing to evaluate the possibilitymviding a rating system for hedge funds.

Following an appeals court ruling that overturngatevious SEC rule requiring hedge funds to regesenvestment advisors, numerous
hedge fund firms have withdrawn their previous s&rgtions. At the same time, losses experiencaddiyidual funds have led some industry
leaders to call for increased regulation. The SBE€dlso voiced concern about potential insideinigadn the part of hedge funds, as well as
the potential risks to hedge fund shareholdersr Meaend of 2006, the SEC proposed increasing the
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minimum net worth requirement for hedge fund ingesto $2.5 million, from $1.0 million previoushs debate about hedge fund regulation
goes on, we plan to continue our efforts to makenkustry more transparent for investors.

Asset growth in separately managed accounts wageliively strong in 2005. Based on data fromNtemey Management Institute, assets
in separate accounts increased by about 25% tb &85 billion as of September 30, 2006, comparig $646 billion as of September 30,
2005.

Assets in exchange-traded funds (ETFs) increas#dtddeach about $422 billion as of December 2@06)pared with $301 billion as of
December 2005, based on data from the Investmemnp@oy Institute. ETFs continued to gain share frontual funds in some specialized
areas of the market because of their lower anrasabcparticularly in passive investing strategiesmeet greater investor demand for
information on ETFs, we have increased our analygtrage in this area and introduced a new ratiates for ETFs in March 2006. In
addition, we recently launched an ETF newsletterepanded our annual softcover reference guigdyitdrningstar ETFs 100t become
the Morningstar ETFs 150.

Individual Investor Marke

With market conditions generally positive, the eamiment for advertising sales has been relativebithy. A recent report from the
Interactive Advertising Bureau estimated that sji@ndn Internet advertising totaled about $16 duilin 2006, a 28% increase over $12.5
billion in 2005. Many advertisers have continuedhdt traditional print, radio, and television ptanents to the Internet. Based on research
from Nielsen/NetRatings, page views to most retaiéstment Web sites remained fairly consister(fi6. Page views to Morningstar.com
remained lower than those of larger competing siteh as Yahoo! Finance, AOL Money & Finance, arsNWWoney, but the time spent per
visit and average page views per visit statistéesained higher than those of competing sites. Vileugethis indicates that investors view our
site as useful and find value in the informationprevide. We also appeal to a highly qualified aade based on income levels and
investable assets.

Financial Advisor Marke

The aging of the American population and the cqoesing need for more information and advice oimertent income planning has been an
important trend in the Advisor segment. To meet tiged, in 2006 we launched Retirement Incomeesfisit, a Web-based software
application that helps advisors analyze retirenmezame for clients who are retired or nearing segtient. Retirement Income Strategist helps
advisors analyze whether an individual's savingslast during retirement and explore alternatigersarios for sustaining income during
retirement. We also created a Retirement Income&ithn Center, a hosted Web site offering educatioantent and tools about retirement
income for financial advisors affiliated with insiiions.

Many advisors have also sought to streamline anglgy their operations; to meet this need, somésats have been outsourcing investn
management so they can spend more time on plameiatgd issues and client management. We've akso a€ontinuing consolidation trend
among broker-dealers and other firms in the Advisgment. For example, UBS increased the size aflitisor force by purchasing Piper
Jaffray’s brokerage unit in 2006. We believe tiéd bngoing acquisition trend is being driven by tlesire to increase scale and maximize
cost efficiencies. Independent financial advisagehcontinued to gain market share among highwoeth investors, but larger institutions
benefiting from their lower cost structures andresroies of scale. As the financial advisory landscagntinues to evolve, we believe advit
will continue to demand comprehensive researcgslas and integrated portfolio tools.

Institutional Market

In August 2006, President Bush signed the Pengiote€ion Act of 2006, which includes provisions &ffering investment advice programs
for participants in defined contribution plans. Tiheestment advice provision went into effect farmoyer-sponsored retirement plans on
January 1, 2007.

Among other things, the new act allows plan serpiceviders, mutual fund companies, and brokeragesfio offer investment advice to plan
participants using their own computer models (idilg advising them to invest in their own proprigtlunds), subject to certification of the
computer model by an independent expert. We'reigoimg to monitor the potential impact of this pigien on our business. Although more
companies may rely on retirement plan providemsfter investment advice to their employees, weewglithere will be ongoing demand for
third-party advice as well. In particular, we bebehere may be opportunities for us to continukcnse our computer-driven advice model
to plan providers.
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The legislation also contains provisions that magoeirage automatic enrollment and the use of mahageement accounts as a default
investment option. Therefore, we believe this deprlent may have a positive impact on the managednment accounts that we offer
through Morningstar Associates and Ibbotson Assesjdawo of our investment advisory subsidiaries.

Continuing an industry-wide trend toward separatirgmanufacturing and distribution of investmeattfolios, Merrill Lynch spun off its
investment management group in 2006, selling getamianagement group to BlackRock, an asset maragdinm. Also in 2006, Principal
Financial completed its acquisition of Washingtootial’'s mutual fund management arm, along witllissributor and shareholder-services
business. In early 2007, the parent company ofdPatimvestments (Marsh & McLennan Companies) reaanealjreement to sell its asset-
management unit. We continue to monitor mergersaaadisitions in the asset management industryusecaf their potential impact on
specific areas of our business.

Performance Summary

The list below summarizes the key accomplishmemtsdisappointments that our management team hadhited related to our 2006
performance:

Accomplishments

*  We successfully completed and integrated severalisitions, including Ibbotson Associates, a legdinovider of asset allocation
research and services; Aspect Huntley, a leadiogiger of equity information, research, and finahtiade publishing in Australia;
and the hedge fund and separate account datab@sieriof InvestorForce.

*  We significantly expanded our hedge fund, separeteunt, and European and offshore mutual funchdats. We created a
pension and life fund database in the United Kimgdmd established mutual fund databases in TaiwdrSamgapore. We introduc
new Investor Return data, also known as dollar-tteid return, to capture how the average investedfa a fund.

*  We launched several new Web-based software applisaincluding Retirement Income Strategist, whadalyzes an investor’s
income needs in retirement; and Morningstar PaafBLilder, which helps advisors quickly createtfaio proposals.

*  We achieved meaningful sales of Morningstar Dimdside of the United States, with nearly 25% akEbi’'s revenue now coming
from international markets. We also introduced saveew products overseas, including Portfolio Berland Morningstar
Hypothetical lllustrator, a tool that creates custzed historical investment illustrations.

Disappointments
e  Software development for our major upgrade of Magstar Direct took longer than we expected.

* The regulatory investigations into Morningstar Agates, which began in late 2004 and early 2008tiicoed to consume
management’s time in 2006 as we held ongoing disons with regulators in an attempt to work towanetsolution.
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Consolidated Results

($000) 2006 2005 2004 2006 Changt 2005 Chang:

Revenue $ 315,17 $ 227,11« $ 179,65¢ 38.8% 26.4%
Operating income (los! 77,527 46,48( 17,73t 66.6% 162.1%
Operating margin (% 24.6% 20.5% 9.9% 4.1pp 10.6pp
Cash used for investing activiti $ (129,007) $ (16,917 $ (22,75() 662.7% (25.71)%
Cash provided by (used for) financing activit 33,98: 25,25¢ (6,367) 34.€% NMF

Cash provided by operating activiti $ 98677 $ 4844t $ 32,86: 103.7% 47.4%
Capital expenditures (4,722) (7,451) (7,730) (36.6)% (3.6)%
Free cash flow $ 9395 $ 40,994 $ 25,13: 129.2% 63.1%

NMF-not meaningful
pp—percentage point(s)

As noted inHow We Evaluate Our Businesee cash flow, which we define as cash proviogdperating activities less capital expenditt
is considered a NoBAAP financial measure. This measure is not egeivaio any measure of performance required to pperted under U.<
GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly titredasures reported by other companies.

Consolidated Revenue

In 2006, our consolidated revenue increased byd&8er 2005. We finished the year with more tha@ddillion in consolidated revenue.
This past year was notable for us because we rhagle key acquisitions: Ibbotson Associates, Aspiecttley, and the hedge fund and
separate account database division of InvestorFéwb#ing these operations to our existing busimesgributed $36.4 million of revenue in
2006, the majority of which was from Ibbotson. Véhélcquisitions helped expand our revenue base(,20e also generated strong organic
growth. Without the impact of acquisitions and fgrecurrency translations, organic revenue incré@24% in 2006. Organic revenue is
considered a non-GAAP financial measure. The thblew presents a reconciliation from consolidaggnue to revenue excluding
acquisitions and the impact of foreign currencystations (organic revenue):

($000) 2006 2005 Change
Consolidated revent $ 315,178 $ 227,11« 38.8%
Less: acquisition (36,432) — NMF
Less: impact of foreign currency (793) — NMF
Revenue excluding acquisitions and foreign currerenyslations $ 277,94¢  $ 227,11« 22 4%

In contrast to 2006, acquisitions had only a mingract on our results in 2005. We acquired Varidieuity Research Database Services
(VARDS) from Finetre Corporation in January 2008 éhis business contributed revenue of $2.4 mililo2005.

In both 2006 and 2005, our growth was diversifigcdsegment, with all three segments generating mgérlirevenue growth. Our
Institutional segment is the largest of our thregnsents, so it has the greatest impact on our Ibvesalts. The Institutional segment
generated a large percentage of our total reverarease in both 2006 and 2005. Institutional segmeaenue increased $50.2 million in
2006, accounting for about 56% of Morningstar'atoévenue increase before eliminating intersegmmrgnue. In 2005, Institutional
segment revenue increased by $17.5 million, geingrabout 38% of our total revenue increase beétinginating intersegment revenue. The
Advisor segment accounted for approximately 25%hefrevenue increase in both periods. Individughsent revenue increased $17.3
million, or 27.2%, in 2006 and $16.4 million, or.8%, in 2005.
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2006 2005 2004

Revenue by Segment ($000) Amount % Amount % Amount %
Individual $ 80,70¢ 25.6% $ 63,44¢ 27.% $ 46,99¢ 26.2%
Advisor 94,69 30.C 72,68¢ 32.C 60,88( 33.¢€
Institutional 146,08! 46.4 95,947 42.2 78,40: 43.€
Elimination of intersegment revenue (6,310 (2.0 (4,970 (2.0 (6,620 (3.7
Consolidated revenue $ 31517! 100.(% $ 227,11 100.(% $ 179,65¢ 100.(%

On a product level, Investment Consulting was #ngdst driver behind our revenue increase in 20@8xms also a major contributor to
revenue growth in 2005. Newly added revenue frobotgons consulting business generated more than 40%edQh6 growth in Investme
Consulting, with the remaining amount from Morniteg% existing consulting business. In both 2008 2005, we continued to expand our
relationships and increase assets under managevitkrexisting clients for the asset allocation $exg we provide for funds of funds and
variable annuities. Investment Consulting surpasseghsed Data and Morningstar Advisor Workstatiotbecome our single largest product
based on revenue in 2006.

Advisor Workstation was the second-largest driviehe revenue increase in 2006 and the largestibaibdr in 2005. About 90% of the
growth in this product was driven by the Enterpisktion, which we offer to financial advisors éifited with larger firms, with the remaini
amount contributed by the Office Edition for indagent financial advisors. Total licenses for Advigdorkstation in the United States
increased by about 36 % in 2006, and our averagmue per license also increased.

Newly incorporated revenue from EnCorr, an asdetation software package we acquired with Ibbotseas another major contributor
revenue growth in 2006. Morningstar.com and LicdriBata were the fourth and fifth largest driversefenue growth in both 2006 and
2005, although Morningstar.com’s contribution whgtgly larger relative to Licensed Data in 2006.

Principia was the only one of our top five produzdsed on revenue that didn’t experience revenmethrin 2006 and 2005 because many of
our customers have been adopting Advisor Workstatiar newer Web-based investment planning syseeimcipia revenue was essentially
flat in 2006 and declined about 2% in 2005. Ouwatstyy for Principia is to continue increasing rax@per user to maintain the product’s
revenue base.

Equity Research, which mainly consists of reveralated to the Global Analyst Research Settlemeas, another key contributor to revenue
growth in both 2006 and 2005, but to a greaterrete2005. We began recognizing revenue for ouitggesearch related to the settlement
in July 2004, which led to a favorable year-oveatyeomparison in 2005. In addition, we entered amteequity research agreement with a
sixth investment bank involved in the settlemenB@ptember 2005 and began recognizing this newvevim the fourth quarter of that year.
Our revenue in this area also benefited in 2006200% because we've continued to increase the nuailsocks under coverage, leading to
higher contract values for some of the agreemetdsed to the settlement.

USand Nnn-ﬁiﬂ..'ﬁeuenua Growth iSDEIﬂ]

5 270,899
8 197.672
$ 154,248
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Nnds St Soome ($25410) | §zaz S4
2002 2003 004 2005 2006
LS. % change 14.2% 247 297 282 7.0%
MNon-U.S. % change B7.1% 453 26.3 159 50.4%

Revenue from non-U.S. operations increased $14I®mior 50.4%, to $44.3 million in 2006. Our adsjtions of Aspect Huntley and
Ibbotson contributed $8.3 million of the increaden-U.S. revenue made up about 14% of consolidatechtevia 2006, compared with ab
13% in 2005. In 2005, our U.S. revenue grew astefgpace than non-U.S. revenue, partly becaueeafew revenue related to the Global
Analyst Research Settlement and growth in our limest Consulting business in the United Stateseifarcurrency translations contributed
$0.8 million of the increase in non-U.S. revenu@®@6 and $0.7 million in 2005. Excluding the impafacquisitions and foreign currency
translations, our non-U.S. revenue increased appedrly 20% and 13% in 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The table below presents a reconciliation fromrimi&onal revenue to international revenue exclgdioquisitions and the impact of foreign
currency translations (organic revent



($000) 2006 2005 Change
International revenu 44.27¢ $ 29,44; 50.4%
Less: acquisition (8,26¢) — NMF
Less: impact of foreign currency translations (793) — NMF
Revenue excluding acquisitions and foreign currerenyslations 3521t $ 29,442 19.6%
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($000) 2005 2004 Change
International revenu $ 29,44z $ 25,41C 15.9%
Less: impact of foreign currency transaction tratishs (694) — NMF
Revenue excluding acquisitions and foreign currerenyslations $ 28,74¢ 3 25,41( 13.1%
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Ouir five largest products based on revenue—Invedt@ensulting, Morningstar Advisor Workstation, eitsed Data, Morningstar.com, and
Principia—represented 59.5% of our consolidateémae in 2006, compared with 60.7% in 2005 and 61r62004. While the percentage of
our revenue made up by our top five products hamireed relatively consistent, the order of the piisl within the top five has changed each
year. In 2005, Principia, historically our largestduct, was surpassed by Licensed Data and AdWsokstation. Investment Consultil
became our largest product in 2006.

Revenue % of Consolidatec
Top Five Products (Segment) 200 ($000 Revenue¢
Investment Consulting (Institutional) $ 46,59 14.&%
Advisor Workstation (Advisor 43,14( 13.7
Licensed Data (Institutiona 37,73( 12.C
Morningstar.com (Individual 31,311 9.6
Principia (Advisor) 28,73t 9.1

Revenue % of Consolidatec
Top Five Products (Segment) 200 ($000 Revenug
Licensed Data (Institutional) $ 32,43t 14.2%
Advisor Workstation (Advisor 29,28( 12.¢
Principia (Advisor) 28,78¢ 12.7%
Morningstar.com (Individual 25,50z 11.2
Investment Consulting (Institutionz 21,90 9.€

Revenue % of Consolidatec
Top Five Products (Segment) 200 ($000 Revenue
Principia (Advisor) $ 29,231 16.2%
Licensed Data (Institutiona 27,20: 15.1
Morningstar.com (Individual 20,67( 11.5
Advisor Workstation (Advisor 19,46« 10.¢
Investment Consulting (Institutione 13,85: 7.7

Revenue Compositic

As discussed in thRecurring Revenugection of Key Business Characteristics, we separat revenue into three categories: new revenue,
renewal revenue, and “walk-in” revenue.

The following graph illustrates the compositionooir revenue over the past four years.
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Our 2006 revenue consisted of $45.1 million in mewenue, or 16.2%, of our revenue excluding actois for the year. Renewal revenue
accounted for $101.2 million, or 36.3%, of reverexeluding acquisitions. Walk-in revenue accountad132.5 million, or 47.5%, of this
amount.

As of January 1, 2007, our estimate of 2007 walkeirenue was $182.9 million, which includes $21ilion from acquisitions completed in
2006. This estimate is subject to change basedwretlations during the year, the impact of curyananslations, and other routine
adjustments. In comparison, our walk-in revenuefalnuary 1, 2006, was $138.8 million. In the selcquarter of 2006, we reclassified a
portion of our revenue composition, reducing 20@8kwn revenue by $5.0 million, to more accuratedflect the cancellation terms of certain
institutional contracts. Cancellations, foreignremcy translations, and other routine adjustmeutisequently reduced this revenue by $1.3
million, or approximately 1%, to $132.5 million Itlye end of 2006. This amount includes the positiveact of a one-time payment we
received in the third quarter of 2006 because temts merged and eliminated a redundant licenke.\Walk-in revenue figure does not
include variable revenue from asset-related ses\soeh as Morningstar Managed Portfolios, managiement account services, and
Investment Consulting that are calculated as agp¢age of total assets under management. Theseadrear business have been increasing
over the past several years.

In 2006, we estimate that our retention rate fdusstiption-based products, such as Principia, Rnenilembership service, and print and
online newsletters, averaged between 60% to 65%sistent with the level shown in 2005. For conttzased products and services, we
estimate that our weighted average renewal ratebatgeen 95% and 100% in 2006, compared with amatetd 100% to 105% in 2005. T
figure for contract-based products includes theaatpf price changes and changes to the contraet ugpon renewal, as well as changes in
the value of variable contracts. The renewal ratedntract-based products and services declined
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slightly in 2006 for three main reasons: 1) theaetpof outstanding renewals in our data servicainess; 2) our strategy of discontinuing
some lower-margin contracts in our Retirement Adwcsiness; and 3) a smaller increase in the nuofbiecremental users added upon
renewal in 2006 relative to 2005 for certain pradusuch as Morningstar Direct. While wesatisfied with the retention and renewal rate
achieved in 2006, we constantly strive to imprdwese measures because the cost of maintainingngxiststomers is lower than the cost of
acquiring new customers to replace business tresriorenew.

Retention and Renawal Rates

100-105% 95-100%
B0-65% B0-65%

Aanewa

[eon based

products)
Consolidated Operating Expense
($000) 2006 2005 2004 2006 Changt 2005 Changt
Operating expens $ 237,64¢ $ 180,63 $ 161,92 31.6% 11.6%
% of revenue 75.4% 79.5% 90.1% (4.1)pp (10.6)pp

Our consolidated operating expense increased $8ilion in 2006. Two key factors impacted all ofraperating expense categories:
compensation-related costs (including incentive pemsation) and recent acquisitions. Bonus expertseded in 2006 increased $15.8
million because of continued improvements in onaficial performance, as well as increased headcAungjority of our bonus pool is
based on growth in our operating income, which magay not recur.

Other compensatiorelated expense, mainly including salaries, beseditd sales commissions, increased $19.9 milkmause of an incree
in headcount, as well as annual salary increaseshatl approximately 1,440 employees worldwide d3eafember 31, 2006, compared with
approximately 1,130 as of December 31, 2005. Abalftof the increase in headcount was related dquiaitions, and a good portion of the
remaining increase was from continued hiring in development center in China.

Lower stock-based compensation expense partiditgbincreases in all of our operating expensegeaies, but to a limited extent. Stock-
based compensation expense decreased $2.3 millR006 because we are no longer required to reogrense under the liability method. In
the first quarter of 2005, we recorded $2.8 millafrstock-based compensation expense under thisothetvhich did not recur in 2006.

In addition to higher compensation-related expertbesincrease in operating expense includes $6ldmof amortization expense for the
intangible assets acquired with Ibbotson, Aspeattldy, and the hedge fund and separate accourtiat®alivision of InvestorForce. We
expect that amortization of these intangible assétde an ongoing cost through the useful livéshese assets, which generally range from
three to 25 years.

Our consolidated operating expense increased $ilian in 2005. Approximately half of this increasvas from higher cost of goods sold;
the remaining portion of the increase occurred sscather operating expense categories. The incheasasolidated operating expense was
largely driven by a $15.6 million increase in comgation-related costs, including salaries, bonesefts, and sales commissions, stemming
from higher headcount. We record these costs invdhieus operating expense categories as apprepwét had approximately 1,130
employees worldwide as of December 31, 2005, coetpaith approximately 1,000 as of December 31, 28@proximately 60% of the
increase in headcount was driven by technicalietaff our development center in China. Most of tliaining increase in headcount
consists of additional stock analysts in our Uj&rations and increased staffing in our corporefgmdments to meet the requirements of
being a public company. An increase in spendingfoporate initiatives and legal fees and a dedfirmpitalized internal product
development costs also contributed to the incraaseperating expense. A decline in stock-based emrsgtion expense of $5.8 million in
2005 partially offset the increase in compensatiosts and other operating expenses.

Cost of Goods Sold

($000) 2006 2005 2004 2006 Changt 2005 Changt
Cost of goods sol $ 86,97t $ 64,40¢ $ 54,70¢ 35.C% 17.7%




% of revenue 27.6% 28.4% 30.5% (0.8)pp (2.0)pp
Gross profit $ 228,20 $ 162,70¢ $ 124,94¢ 40.3% 30.2%
Gross margir 72.4% 71.€% 69.5% 0.8pp 2.1pp
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Cost of goods sold has generally been our larggegory of operating expense, and that patterriraged in 20060ur business relies heav
on human capital, and cost of goods sold includesbmpensation expense for employees who protiegerdducts and services we deliver
to our customers. Cost of goods sold increased$fillion in 2006, which was mainly driven by higheonus expense and other
compensation-related expense from increased heatddtthile compensation and bonus expense incresseds all three of our business
segments, the increase was more pronounced imstitutional segment because a larger portion @héradcount additions from recent
acquisitions occurred in this segment.

Acquisitions, primarily Ibbotson, also contributiedthe increase in cost of goods sold. In 2006regerded $2.8 million of outsourced
product implementation expense associated wittthace by Ibbotson service. Costs for outsourcemtipct implementation may or may not
recur, depending on client requests for developmmajects in a given period.

Our gross margin in 2006 increased to 72.4%, coetpaith 71.6% in 2005, reflecting revenue growtht thutpaced the increase in cost of
goods sold.

Cost of goods sold increased $9.7 million in 20D8mpensation expense increased in all three segntaritmainly reflects additional costs
for newly hired stock analysts in our Individuagseent. Shareholder servicing fees related to Mgstar Managed Portfolios, which
increased because of higher assets under managemetnibuted $1.5 million to the increase in colsjoods sold.

As a percentage of revenue, cost of goods soldneéecby about 2 percentage points in 2005. Thitlypeeflects the timing of hiring expenses
for our independent equity research. We began imgumcremental compensation costs at the beg@nafr2004 as we increased staffing in
preparation for the rampp of our equity research efforts. We continuethtoease staffing in 2005, but had already comglédte majority o
the staffing increase in 2004. As a result, cogiarfds sold increased less dramatically in 2005.

Because cost of goods sold declined as a perceatageenue in 2005, gross margin showed a corretipg increase. Gross margin has t
steadily increasing over the past several years2 % in 2006 from 69.5% in 2004.

Development Expen:

($000) 2006 2005 2004 2006 Chang: 2005 Changt
Development expens $ 29,497 $19,65¢ $16,167 50.1% 21.6%
% of revenue 9.4% 8.7% 9.0% 0.7pp (0.3)pp

Development expense increased $9.8 million in 2006 increase was mainly driven by higher compgosaosts, including incentive
compensation and other compensation-related exp@feseontinued to increase hiring for our programgrand development staff, and we
also increased headcount in this area through sitiguis. We had about 340 programmers and othbntdagy staff as of year-end 2006,
compared with about 300 at the end of 2005. Bechugg) and acquisitions both increased our coseha this area, development expense
increased as a percentage of revenue over 2005.leve

Development expense increased $3.5 million in 288%use of increased hiring for programming aneldgwnent staff (primarily in our
Advisor and Institutional segments) and a reduditioiine amount of expense capitalized related t@ld@ment projects. We capitalize
compensation costs associated with certain devedapprojects, which reduces the costs includeciretbpment expense. Many of the
projects for which we capitalized product developtrensts in 2004 have now been placed into sersité the ongoing costs are no longer
capitalized. Instead, we expense these costs agéac In 2005, we capitalized $0.4 million of dig@ment costs, compared with $2.8 milli
in 2004. As a percentage of revenue, developmegrerese was slightly lower in 2005 compared with 2004

Sales and Marketing Expense

($000) 2006 2005 2004 2006 Chang 2005 Chang
Sales and marketing exper $50,61¢ $39,07!1 $36,03¢ 29.5% 8.4%
% of revenue 16.1% 17.2% 20.1% 1.1)pp (2.9)pp

Sales and marketing expense increased $11.5 miflidA06. More than a third of this increase waseair by added compensation expense
from increased hiring for sales and marketing sta#inly in our Advisor and Institutional segmertsgher incentive compensation and, to a
lesser extent, commission expense and marketirig,@so drove the increase in this cost categocyemental costs added by acquisitions
also contributed to the growth in this categorysuse of increases in headcount and the numbepdbipts and services sold. As a percen
of revenue, sales and marketing expense contirmudddine as revenue
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growth outpaced the increase in cost, but lessithad05.

Sales and marketing expense increased $3.1 mitli@d05 because of higher sales commissions, saland benefits expense. We incurred
additional commission costs because of both ineataales volume, primarily in our Advisor and Ingtonal segments, and changes to the
incentive structure for certain products in the &dv segment, including Principia and Advisor Waal®n Office Edition. Salaries and
benefits included in this expense category alstegsed, mainly because of an increase in headfmuthie sales and marketing team in our
Advisor segment. Because our revenue base increasefhster pace than our sales and marketingnsgpsales and marketing expense as a
percentage of revenue declined by about 3 percemtaigts in 2005.

General and Administrative Expense

($000) 200€ 2005 2004 2006 Chang: 2005 Chang
General and administrative expel $ 55,59C $ 49,23t $ 46,78¢ 12.9% 5.2%
% of revenue 17.€% 21.7% 26.0% (4.2)pp (4.3)pp

General and administrative expense has generadly bar second largest category of operating expfetisgving cost of goods sold. That
pattern continued in 2006, but general and admatige costs continued to decline as a percenthgevenue. General and administrative
expense increased $6.4 million in 2006, mainly eliby increases in incentive compensation andiimental expense added by acquisitions.
This increase was partially offset by a $1.8 millatecrease in stock-based compensation expenseh ditpped because we did not record
any stockbased compensation expense under the liability odeth 2006. In addition, legal expense was esdintiat in 2006. Overall, mos
costs included in this category rose at a lowex tlaén revenue, and general and administrativensepas a percentage of revenue decline
about 4 percentage points in 2006.

In 2005, the $2.4 million increase in general adichimistrative expense mainly included higher congagion costs, which increased primarily
because we added staff in our corporate departn@nteet the requirements of being a public comphigher incentive compensation also
contributed to the increase in this area in 20086.algo incurred $2.0 million more for spending omporate initiatives and legal fees related
to regulatory investigations in 2005 than in 20Gdaddition, we increased our offer to settle vasialaims related to Morningstar Research
Pty Limited (Morningstar Australia). Refer to Ndt6é of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial $tatets for more information regarding
this litigation. Stock-based compensation expenskided in general and administrative expense dsere$4.3 million in 2005, which

largely offset the increases in other areas. Tleeedse in stock-based compensation expense wasdrnwa decline in expense for options
accounted for under the liability method, as désatibelow. Because our general and administrakiperese increased at a slower pace
compared with our revenue growth, general and adirétive expense as a percentage of revenue dddhiy about 4 percentage points in
2005.

Depreciation and Amortization Exper

($000) 2006 2005 2004 2006 Changt 2005 Chang:
Depreciation and amortization expel $ 1497t % 8,26€ $ 8,22k 81.2% 0.5%
% of revenue 4.8% 3.6% 4.6% 1.2pp (1.0)pp

Depreciation and amortization expense rose $6.[fomih 2006. This increase was almost entirelyein by amortization expense from
intangible assets acquired with Ibbotson, Aspeattldy, and the hedge fund and separate accourtiat®alivision of InvestorForce. We
expect that amortization of these intangible assdtde an ongoing cost for the remaining lifetbé assets. The increase in amortization
expense was slightly offset by a decrease in degires and amortization expense for certain caigital internal product development costs
and computer equipment that are now fully deprediat

Depreciation and amortization expense increasgttbliin 2005 primarily because of amortizatiortioé intangible assets related to the
VARDS acquisition. This increase was offset by aerdase in depreciation and amortization expensesfpitalized software, computer
equipment, and capitalized internal product develept costs, as many of the assets in these cadsgue now fully depreciated.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The majority of our stock-based compensation expeelates to employee stock option grants. BeginimrMay 2006, we began granting
restricted stock units instead of stock options.

We have historically used two different methodsiodounting for employee stock options: the liapifitethod, which involves recording a
liability for vested options equal to the differengetween the option exercise price and the fairevper share of the
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common stock, and the equity method, which is baseithe Black-Scholes value of the option at theetof the grant and recorded over the
vesting period of the option. Following our init@lblic offering in May 2005, we are no longer riggd to settle stock options in cash, and
therefore are no longer required to record stodetla@ompensation expense under the liability method

The following table summarizes our stock-based amsption expense:

($000) 2006 2005 2004 2006 Changt 2005 Changt
Stocl-based compensation expe- liability method  $ —  $ 2,81C $ 8,965 (100.0C)% (68.6)%
Stock-based compensation expense— equity method 8,57¢ 8,08E 7,76C 6.1% 4.2%
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 857t $ 10,89t $ 16,725 (21.3)% (34.9)%
% of revenue 2.7% 4.8% 9.3% (2.1)pp (4.5)pp

Total stock-based compensation expense declin@n$iflion in 2006, largely because we did not recany stock-based compensation
expense under the liability method in 2006. Stoakeunl compensation expense recorded under the eqgtityyd increased, but by only a
small amount. An increase in expense related t@oaoual equity grant in May 2006, which consistétkstricted stock units, was
substantially offset by lower expense recordedsfock options granted in previous years, as cedpiions became fully vested and no lon
require us to record additional expense.

In 2007, we expect to record approximately $8.8iomlof stock-based compensation expense for atlksbased awards outstanding as of
December 31, 2006.

In 2005, total stock-based compensation expendmddd$5.8 million compared with 2004. Stock-basethpensation expense recorded
under the liability method declined $6.2 million2005. The expense recorded under the liabilithoedin 2005 reflects the expense recol
through the first quarter, when we adjusted thiliis to reflect our initial public offering pricef $18.50 per share compared with a fair v
of $17.50 per share as of December 31, 2004. Tperese recorded under the liability method in 208kects a $2.80 increase in the fair
value per share of our common stock to $17.50 lperesas of December 31, 2004 from $14.70 per stsaoé December 31, 2003.

Stock-based compensation expense recorded undeqtiity method increased $0.3 million in 2005. Tihisease mainly reflects the impact
of approximately 1.1 million options granted in 30@s well as ongoing expense associated withmptioanted in 2004 and prior years. This
increase was partially offset by lower expenseofitions granted in previous years, which are ndly fitested and no longer require
recording additional expense.

Bonus Expens

($000) 2006 2005 2004 2006 Changt 2005 Chang:
Bonus expens $ 38,341 $ 22511 $ 21,03 70.3% 7.0%
% of revenue 12.2% 9.9% 11.7% 2.3pp (1.8)pp

Bonus expense recorded in 2006 increased $15.@milith the increase driven by improved finangatformance versus 2005 and i
ncremental bonus expense from acquisitions. Weapayal bonuses in proportion to our operating ineowe include bonus expense in e
of our operating expense categories. Because théavtors mentioned above caused a substantiaaeerin the size of the bonus pool, b¢
expense as a percentage of revenue increased biy2percentage points in 2006.

Bonus expense increased $1.5 million in 2005. Taiegory of expense increased primarily becausémancial performance in 2005
exceeded our financial performance in 2004. Thearhpf this increase was partially offset becaugebonus expense in 2004 included a
special bonus for our analyst team that did natirét2005.

Consolidated Operating Income

($000) 2006 2005 2004 2006 Changt 2005 Changt
Operating incom: $ 77527 $ 46,48 $ 17,73¢ 66.8% 162.1%
% of revenue 24.6% 20.5% 9.9% 4.1pp 10.6pp
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Consolidated operating income increased $31.0aniilh 2006. Despite incremental costs added byisitigms, such as amortization of
intangible assets and increased compensation-tiedaf@ense, our operating margin continued to impimecause our revenue base expanded
at a faster rate than operating expenses. The Iateof growth in general and administrative castparticular, allowed us to realize
operating leverage in our consolidated results.ai¥e realized operating leverage from revenue dramvproducts that have had slower-
growing costs, such as Investment Consulting, AmiWdorkstation, Licensed Data, and Morningstar.cOurt operating margin was also
positively impacted by a $2.3 million decreasetotk-based compensation expense.

Consolidated Revenue and Operating Income (3000 $ 315175
$7T4
£179.658
& 139,496
Reverwa  § 108619
smsn
S10T35 (&R aa
Operating income (loss]  $(8.340) 5(10.754)
002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Revenue % changa 2% HT3% EE%  64% B8N

Operating income NMF NF MF  1621%  668%
% change

Operating margin % MWMF MNIAF 9.9% 5%  24.6%
Change MMF MNIMAF AR 10.6pp App

Our operating margin increased more dramatical®B0@5. This increase was primarily driven by tineitig of revenue and expense associ
with the Global Analyst Research Settlement, th& $iillion decrease in stock-based compensatioeresg and the operating leverage
inherent in our business. 2005 was the first fakiyof revenue from equity research associatedthéiGlobal Analyst Research Settlement.
In 2005, we were able to increase costs assoagthdhis revenue at a lower rate because muchetbst increases occurred in 2004 as we
built our staff in anticipation of this revenue.dddition, revenue growth for many of our Institual products, such as Investment Consulting
and Licensed Data, increased during the year. We ®lgle to increase costs in most of the relatpémse categories at a lower rate than this
revenue growth.

Consolidated Free Cash Flow

We generated free cash flow of $94.0 million in @0@flecting cash provided by operating activité$98.7 million and capital expenditui
of $4.7 million. Free cash flow more than doubledhpared with 2005, primarily reflecting a $50.3 it increase in cash provided by
operating activities. In addition, capital expendis declined by approximately $2.7 million complangth 2005. We spent less on leasehold
improvements in 2006 after completing major buildsoof our office space in London and China in 200t increase in cash provided by
operating activities was primarily driven by highmet income, as well as a reduction in income &yopents and an increase in accrued
compensation. In 2006, we paid $9.9 million legsricome taxes than we did in 2005 because ofdkh tax benefits we received from the
Ibbotson acquisition. Free cash flow as a percentdgevenue was 29.8% in 2006, compared with 1802005 .

In 2005, we generated free cash flow of $41.0 arillireflecting cash provided by operating actigitid $48.4 million and capital expenditu
of $7.4 million. Free cash flow increased by $1fiflion in 2005, reflecting a $15.6 million increag cash provided by operating activities,
which was driven by an increase in net income, el ag an approximately $0.3 million reduction apial expenditures. As a percentage of
revenue, free cash flow was 18.0% of revenue irb260mpared with 14.0% in 2004. The decrease iitadggxpenditures in 2005 primarily
reflects lower capitalized internal product devehgmt costs. Because several products for whicls eeste previously capitalized have now
been put into service, we expense the ongoing esstge incur them.

The table below presents a reconciliation betwhenricrease in net income and the increase inf@astprovided by operating activities:

($000) 2006 2005 2004 2006 Changt 2005 Changt
Net income $ 51,762 $ 31117 $ 8,80 $ 20,64t $ 22,30¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net casidlfrom

operating activities

Non-cash items included in net incor 3,707 20,641 23,89¢ (16,940) (3,252)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffetts of

acquisitions




Accrued compensatic
Income taxes payab
Accounts receivabl
Deferred revenu
Other

Cash provided by operating activities

16,42¢ 6,997 - 9,42¢ 6,997
26,69¢ (2,43€) 3,76 29,13¢ (6,201)
(9,261) (14,98¢) (10,86€) 5,72¢ (4,123)
10,967 7,364 7,03¢ 3,60% 326
(1,620) (253) 219 (1,367) (472)
98,671 $ 4844t $ 3286: $  50,23: 15,58¢
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The $50.3 million increase in cash provided by apeg activities in 2006 outpaced the $20.7 millioorease in net income. The increase in
net income and a reduction in net operating assetdiabilities (working capital excluding cash)ne¢he two main factors driving this trend.
The $46.5 million reduction in working capital exding cash was mainly caused by an increase inrirdaxes payable and accrued
compensation. The increase in income taxes payafiets the increase in taxable income, maintthenUnited States, and a $9.9 million
reduction in the amount of cash paid for incomesaix 2006, as we were able to reduce income tax@ats because of the cash tax benefits
related to the cancellation of Ibbotson’s stockap. The growth in accrued compensation refldatsrcrease in the size of the bonus
liability partially offset by a $5.0 million incrsa in the amount of cash paid for bonuses. A réaluadt noneash items included in net incol
partially offset these positive factors. We anttgmaking bonus payments of approximately $35anilin the first quarter of 2007,

compared with $23.0 million of bonus payments miadée first quarter of 2006.

In 2005, the increase in cash provided by operatuiiyities of $15.6 million lagged the $22.3 nailiiincrease in net income. Several items
contributed to lower relative growth in cash praddoy operating activities in 2005. Income tax pagta and bonus payments had the largest
impact on the gap between cash provided by opegrattivities and net income. Income tax paymenf0io5 increased $12.9 million
compared with the previous year. In 2004, we ukedajority of our U.S. net operating losses, retyithe amount of taxes paid. Bonus
payments in 2005 increased $5.7 million comparet 2004, reflecting strong business performancendl2004, as well as the last
installment of a special bonus established foramalyst team in 2004. In addition, non-cash itemetuded in net income decreased primarily
because of lower deferred income tax expense. iffitame tax payments, bonus payments, and nonieash included in net income
lowered our cash flow provided by operating adegt they were largely offset by a greater cash fienefit in 2005 arising from changes in
operating assets and liabilities. More than halhig benefit reflects increases in accounts payabtl accrued expenses; the remaining
increase was driven by accrued income taxes andedtcompensation, excluding the payments disclasede.
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Segment Results

($000) 200€ 2005 2004 2006 Changt 2005 Changt
Revenue
Individual $ 80,70¢ $ 63,44¢ $ 46,99¢ 27.2% 35.0%
Advisor 94,694 72,68¢ 60,88( 30.3% 19.4%
Institutional 146,08t 95,947 78,40 52.3% 22.4%
Elimination of intersegment revenue (6,310) (4,970) (6,620) 27.0% (24.9)%
Consolidated revenue $ 315,17t $ 227,11« $ 179,65¢ 38.8% 26.4%
Operating income
Individual $ 22,921 $ 15,00t $ 2,608 52.8% 476.5%
Advisor 26,73¢ 14,617 8,99¢ 82.9% 62.4%
Institutional 37,244 20,54¢ 7,138 81.3% 188.C%
Corporate items and eliminations (9,372) (3,68€) (1,000) 154.2% 268.€%
Consolidated operating income $ 77527 $ 46,48 $ 17,73¢ 66.8% 162.1%
Operating margin
Individual 28.4% 23.6% 5.5% 4.8pp 18.1pp
Advisor 28.2% 20.1% 14.8% 8.1pp 5.3pp
Institutional 25.5% 21.4% 9.1% 4.1pp 12.3pp
Consolidated operating marc 24.6% 20.5% 9.9% 4.1pp 10.6pp

Individual Segment

U.S.-based Web site, Morningstar.com, which inctubleth paid Premium Membership service and salés@ifnet advertising space. Our
Individual segment also includes Morningstar Eq&search, which we distribute through several ollsn Investors can access our equity
research through our Premium Membership offerind/lonningstar.com. In addition, our equity researctistributed through six major
investment banks to meet the requirements for iadéent research under the Global Analyst Reseattle®ent, as well as to several other
companies who provide our research to their affiifinancial advisors or to individual investors.

We also offer a variety of print publications ondits and mutual funds, including our monthly newsts,Morningstar Fundinvestoand
Morningstar Stocklnvestc¢, and our twice-monthly publicatioMorningstar Mutual Funds We sell several annual reference guides,
including theMorningstar Funds 500theMorningstar Stocks 500theMorningstar ETFs 150 and theStocks, Bonds, Bills, and Inflation
Yearbook Since we acquired Aspect Huntley in July 2008 siegment also includes several newsletters dret publications for Australia
investors. Also, with the addition of Aspect Humgtleur Individual segment now includes revenue flwoth U.S. and non-U.S. operations. In
2006, 2005, and 2004 this segment representediebiatersegment eliminations, 25.6%, 27.9%, an@%6 respectively, of our consolidated
revenue.

Individual .Seg ment Revenue and Operating Income {$000)

§ B0,706
63448
Aevenys § 46,996
5225921
Operating incomea S_E_Eiﬂa 215005
2004 200% 2006
Revenue % change 32 7% 35.0% 21.2%
Dperating income % changs nfa 476.5% 52.8%
Operating margin % 5 5% 236% 28.4%
Changa - 18.1pp 4.8pp

In 2006, revenue for the Individual segment inceele®17.3 million compared with 2005. Our acquisii@f Aspect Huntley and Ibbots



contributed $5.1 million to 2006 revenue, with Aspduntley contributing about 70% of this incremamevenue. In 2005, our revenue
increased $16.4 million compared with 2004, witlo&khe revenue growth generated organically. &ditlg acquisitions, the product
contributing the most to segment revenue in 2006 Marningstar.com, which includes Premium Membgrsimd Internet advertising sales.
This product was the second-largest driver of segmevenue growth during 2005. The number of supsons for Morningstar.com
Premium service has significantly expanded oveptmsd three years to 165,957 as of December 38, 20tnpared with 147,010 as of
December 31, 2005 and 131,035 as of December 84, A addition, consistent with the trend over plast few years, we moderately
increased subscription prices for Premium Memberghboth January 2006 and 2005. Internet advedisales growth was also strong in
both years, increasing about 25% in 2006 and 35200%.
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Morningstar Equity Research, which mainly includegenue related to the Global Analyst Researche®stht, was the second-largest
contributor to revenue growth in 2006, and thedatglriver in 2005. We began recognizing revenuedio equity research related to the
settlement in July 2004, which led to a favoratdaryover-year comparison in 2005. In addition, weeed into an equity research agreement
with a sixth investment bank involved in the settémt in September 2005 and began recognizing &visravenue in the fourth quarter of that
year. Our revenue in this area also benefited 062hd 2005 because 've continued to increase the number of stocks undeerage,

leading to higher contract values for some of te@ements related to the settlement.

In 2006, operating income for the Individual segtrinareased $7.9 million compared with 2005, an8005, operating income increased
$12.4 million compared with 2004. The increasepprating income in both years reflects revenuedhat at a faster rate than operating
expense, though this leverage was more pronounc2@d5. The $9.4 million and $4.0 million of growthoperating expense in 2006 and
2005, respectively, was mainly driven by higher pemsation-related expense, particularly in cogfaafds sold. Hiring for our equity analyst
team, whose compensation costs are included inoé@stods sold, contributed to this increase. Haarnt expanded to 113 analysts worldwide
as of December 31, 2006, compared with 87 as oéiber 31, 2005 and 73 as of December 31, 2004nérase in bonus expense in 2006
as well as incremental expense added by acquisiti@ne also significant drivers of operating exgemi®wth in that year. Bonus expense
decreased in 2005 because this category includpdaal bonus for our analyst team in 2004 thandidrecur in 2005. A decrease in stock-
based compensation expense of $1.1 million in 20@6$1.8 million in 2005 partially offset expensereases in both years.

Because our revenue grew at a faster pace thaatopeexpense in both 2006 and 2005, our operatiaigyin improved 4.8 percentage points
in 2006 and 18.1 percentage points in 2005. Ougmamprovement in 2005 was more significant pabicause of a difference in the timing
between revenue and expense associated with th@lGloalyst Research Settlement. Beginning in 20@invested heavily in the hiring of
our analyst team in anticipation of the revenu®eissed with the settlement. We began recognizavgmue from the settlement at the end of
July 2004. This resulted in higher compensatioatesl costs with no corresponding increase in rexénthe first seven months of 2004. In
2005, however, we had a full year of revenue teec@osts. As a result, operating margin signifigaimiproved in 2005 compared with 2004.
The decrease in stock-based compensation expebs¢hi2006 and 2005 had a favorable impact on tipgrenargins.

Advisor Segment

Our Advisor segment focuses on products and sex¥ardinancial advisors. Key products in this segitrbased on revenue are Morningstar
Advisor Workstation and Morningstar Principia. Aser Workstation is a Web-based investment plansysgem that provides financial
advisors with a comprehensive set of tools for cotidg their core business, including investmeseagch, planning, and presentations.
Advisor Workstation is available in two editionketOffice Edition for independent financial advisand the Enterprise Edition for financial
advisors affiliated with larger firms. Principiagsir CD-ROM-based investment research and plarsofigvare for financial advisors. In
addition, we offer Morningstar Managed Portfoliafee-based discretionary asset management s#ngicimcludes a series of mutual fund
and exchange-traded fund portfolios tailored tfedént investment time horizons and risk leveld fimancial advisors can use for their
clients’ taxable and tax-deferred accounts.

Following our acquisition of Ibbotson, we begareoifig a series of NASD-reviewed Financial Commutidces materials that advisors can
use to educate clients about asset allocation embdstrate other key investment concepts, as walata and graphs that financial advisors
can license for use in published materials. Folt@our acquisition of Aspect Huntley, this segnmedab includes investment conferences and
software that we sell to financial planners andeotharket participants in Australia. In 2006, 2088¢ 2004, this segment represented, before
intersegment eliminations, 30.0%, 32.0%, and 331@¥pectively, of our consolidated revenue.

.ikd:ri.sc:-r .S.E.g me n:r ﬁéuenue a I'Il'.j EI peraiing Iﬁcnma lﬁ[]ﬁil

$94,694
572689
Fevanue £ 60,830
$26,734
G;IETB'II'I;; Incamsa s E.M 5 1"'61?
004 2005 2006
Revenue % change 23.8% 19.4% 30.3%
Operating income % change nfa 62.4% 82.9%
Operating margin % 14.8% 1% 28.2%

Changs - 5.3pp B.1pp



In 2006, revenue for the Advisor segment incre&210 million compared with 2005. Acquisitions adimited $6.2 million of revenue in
2006, primarily from sales of Financial Communioas materials and advisor-focused Ibbotson softigois. In 2005, revenue for the
Advisor segment increased $11.8 million compareti @004. Acquisitions had a smaller impact on rexegrowth in 2005, with our
acquisition of VARDS contributing $0.4 million. loth 2006 and 2005, the increase in revenue wagagty driven by Morningstar
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Advisor Workstation. We continued to see strongadhoin licenses of the Enterprise Edition of Momgtar Advisor Workstation, and we
entered into numerous new agreements in both yeaasidition, we also experienced strong renewalishfe product during 2006 and 2005,
and several contracts that were scheduled to ergri@ved at significantly higher price points, @éeflng both higher user counts and an
increase in the amount of functionality licensed2005, revenue from Advisor Workstation surpassednue from Principia, which
historically had been our largest product, to bee@ur second-largest product company-wide, andnticued to hold this ranking in 2006.
The number of U.S. licenses for Morningstar Advigdorkstation increased to 153,838 as of DecembgP@16, compared with 113,461 as
of December 31, 2005 and 80,235 as of Decembe2(BY4.

Morningstar Managed Portfolios also contributededeenue growth in both 2006 and 2005, but to seledsgree than Advisor Workstation.
Assets under management for Morningstar Manageifiodfos increased to $1.8 billion as of December 3106, compared with $1.4 billion
as of December 31, 2005 and $936.0 million as afebéer 31, 2004. Principia revenue remained fl20i06 and declined slightly in 2005.
The number of subscriptions for Principia has baéeelining over the past few years to 47,835 asexfdinber 31, 2006 from 49,728 as of
December 31, 2005 and 51,308 as of December 34, 20hile the number of subscriptions has decreasegtage revenue per subscription
increased in both years because of an increase inumber of higher-priced advanced modules sod¥iqus price increases, and, in 2005,
reductions in certain discount programs.

In 2006, operating income increased $12.1 milliompared with 2005, and in 2005, operating inconges@sed $5.6 million compared with
2004. In both years, the increase in operatingrmeceflects an increase in revenue partially offisetigher operating expense in all
categories. Operating expense increased $9.9 malm $6.2 million, respectively, in 2006 and 2086.increase in cost of goods sold was
the biggest driver in both years, contributing adiriwalf of the expense increase in 2006 and mane dine-third of the expense increase in
2005. Higher cost of goods sold in both years paeflects increased compensation costs from amgitiheadcount. In 2006, an increase in
bonus expense as well as incremental costs addaddgoysitions were also major drivers behind th& awrease in this category. In 2005, an
increase in shareholder servicing fees relatedgtoeh levels of assets under management for Mostémdvianaged Portfolios was a major
contributor to higher cost of goods sold.

The remaining operating expense growth in 2006 amilsnreflects an increase in sales and marketipgrse, driven by compensatiozlatec
expense, including bonuses. Incremental costs adogledquisitions also contributed to expense grawtill categories. In 2005, an increase
in general and administrative expense, driven ghéri corporate overhead expense, contributedelés than one-third of the increase in
operating expense. The remaining increase in dpgrakpense in 2005 primarily reflects increasddssand marketing expense, which was
driven by higher compensatiortated expense and commissions for sales of AdViwkstation and Principia. The higher sales cossion:
reflect increased sales volume in Advisor Worketaind changes to the incentive structure for podlducts.

A decrease in stock-based compensation of $0.1omgind $1.7 million in 2006 and 2005, respectiy&yered operating expense in all
categories and contributed to the improvement grajing income. Our operating margin improved Hygrcentage points in 2006, to
28.2%, and 5.3 percentage points in 2005, to 20réftecting the impact of higher revenue and owsraing leverage. Operating margin
growth in both years was partly driven by Advisooiistation Enterprise Edition; revenue for thisdarct has grown at a more rapid pace
operating expense. A decrease in stock-based caapemin 2006 and 2005 also had a positive impaaiperating margins.

Institutional Segment

Our Institutional segment focuses on products @ndices for institutions, including banks, insuramompanies, mutual fund companies,
brokerage firms, media firms, and retirement pleovigers and sponsors. Key products and servictsdrsegment based on revenue are
Investment Consulting, which focuses on investnmemitoring and asset allocation for funds of furidsluding mutual funds and variable
annuities; Licensed Data, a set of investment slag@ning eight core databases, available throwgttrehic data feeds; Retirement Advice,
including the Morningstar Retirement Manager andide by Ibbotson platforms; Morningstar Direct, &Bvbased institutional research
platform that provides advanced research and toothe complete range of securities in Morningstgtobal database; Licensed Tools and
Content, a set of online tools and editorial contersigned for institutions to use in their Welesiand software; Investment Profiles &
Guides, which are designed for institutions to imssommunicating investment information to indivadinvestors; the Morningstar Annuity
Research Center (formerly VARDS Online); and Mogsitar EnCorr, an asset allocation software packagguired with Ibbotson).

With the addition of Aspect Huntley, this segmeaivrincludes financial information as well as otlata feeds on Australian stocks that we
sell to stock brokers, information providers, améificial Web sites. The Institutional segment aistudes the hedge fund and separate
account database division we acquired from Invéstae in August 2006. In 2006, 2005, and 2004,4bgment represented, before
intersegment eliminations, 46.4%, 42.2%, and 431@%¥pectively, of our consolidated revenue. We ekfiet the Institutional segment will
continue to account for the largest portion of comsolidated revenue for the foreseeable future.
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institutional Segment Revenue and Operating Income ($000)

5 146,085
£95.047
Revans £78.402
$37.244
Uperating income $7,133 § 70 544
2004 2005 2006
Revenug % change N.% 22.4% 52.3%
Operating income % change nfa 188.0% B1.3%
Operating margin % 91% 21.4% 25.5%
Chanrge - 123pp 41pp

In 2006, revenue for the Institutional segmenteased $50.2 million compared with 2005. Acquisgicopntributed $25.1 million of revenue
to this segment in 2006, mainly from Investment §igting services and EnCorr. In 2005, revenueHerlnstitutional segment increased
$17.5 million compared with 2004. Acquisitions ieased revenue to a much lesser extent in 2005MWANRDS contributing $2.0 million in
segment revenue during the year.

For the segment overall, the increase in revent®tin 2006 and 2005 was driven by Investment Coingiiwhich includes asset-allocation
and investment selection services for funds of $usuad variable annuities. Investment Consultingridmuted about 50% and 40% of the total
increase in segment revenue in 2006 and 2005, asgly. In 2006, more than 40% of the increaskirestment Consulting revenue was
contributed by newly incorporated revenue from tisba. In 2005, we expanded existing relationshigs@ur scope of responsibilities with
two major clients.

In both 2006 and 2005, revenue also increased beaae receive asset-based fees for our servicésismets under advisement in this area
significantly increased in both years. We providédisory services on approximately $55.5 billioragsets (including $40.5 billion from
Morningstar Associates and $15.0 billion from I#mt Associates) as of December 31, 2006, compatedapproximately $22.1 billion in
assets as of December 31, 2005 and approximat2lg $illion as of December 31, 2004 (Morningstasddates only). These totals include
consulting relationships as well as agreements ewwveract as a portfolio construction manager forugual fund or variable annuity and
receive a basis point fee. In addition, we alswgi® Investment Consulting services for some assader management for which we receive
a flat fee.

Excluding 2006 acquisitions, Licensed Data and Mastar Direct were the next largest contributorsevenue growth in both 2006 and
2005. Both products have benefited from expandkss sdforts in Europe and other non-U.S. marketsyeall as continued strength in the
United States. The number of licenses for MorniagBiirect increased to 1,348 worldwide as of Decein®1, 2006, compared with 985 as of
December 31, 2005 and 775 as of December 31, E4Anue growth in Morningstar Direct in both 2008 2005 exceeded growth in the
number of licenses because of the continued ingfaeiew pricing model implemented during 2004.e6alvkey contracts whose terms
ended during 2006 and 2005 renewed for a smallebeu of licenses, but at a greater price per lieens

EnCorr and Advice by Ibbotson were also significeartributors to revenue growth during 2006. THeolison acquisition significantly
expanded our asset base in managed retirementrascand we are now among the largest providettsisrarea. We had $8.6 billion in
combined assets under management in the managedneit accounts offered through Advice by Ibbot&k$0 billion) and Morningstar
Retirement Manager ($647.0 million) as of Decen81r2006, compared with $285.0 million as of DebenB1, 2005 and $123.9 million
of December 31, 2004 (Morningstar Retirement Managéy). As of December 31, 2006, more than 17iarlretirement plan participants
had access to our retirement advice services thrapgroximately 108,000 plan sponsors and 31 plavigers. These totals include more
than 9 million retirement plan participants, 71,@08n sponsors and 24 plan providers who had ateédsrningstar Retirement Manager,
and nearly 8 million retirement plan participard®,000 plan sponsors and seven plan providers wtH@bcess to Advice by Ibbotson.

Revenue for our online advice service for retiretnan participants declined in both 2006 and 20UB.have been transitioning clients to
our new user interface, which gives retirement plarticipants streamlined, easy-to-use accesdtoader range of advisory services. In
particular, we are focusing our efforts on managexbunts, which may appeal to a broader segmeasticdment plan participants. Revenue
for the managed retirement accounts offered thrddgimingstar Retirement Manager increased in b6®62and 2005, as assets under
management more than doubled in both 2006 and 2005.

In 2006, operating income for the Institutional reegt increased $16.7 million compared with 2009, iar2005, operating income increas



$13.4 million compared with 2004. The increaseprrating income in both years was primarily dribgrrevenue growth in Investment
Consulting and Licensed Data. Contract values th beeas and asset-based fees in Investment Cogsidtve increased, while the cost base
for these services has increased at a lower rate.

Operating expense increased approximately $33lbmih 2006 and $4.1 million in 2005. In both yeathe largest increase in expense was
driven by cost of goods sold, which contributedwtht0% and 75% of the expense increase in 200@@08, respectively. In both years,
incremental costs added by acquisitions also darted to the increase in this expense categorytpbat
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larger extent in 2006. During 2006, we incurredragjmately $2.8 million of product implementatioges related to our Advice by Ibbotson
service. In addition, a large portion of increméh&adcount from acquisitions was added to thetliigtnal segment in 2006, which
contributed to higher compensation and bonus expienthis category. Compensation-related costaeiud) acquisitions increased in both
years because of added headcount and higher bo

The remaining increase in operating expense in 2a6spread across the other expense categoriesfiends higher compensation and
bonus expense as well as incremental expense &aaedcquisitions. The remaining increase in opegagxpense in 2005 was driven by
growth in sales and marketing expense, reflectighdr compensation and sales commission expendecrease of $0.7 million and $2.2
million in stock-based compensation expense in 20@b62005, respectively, partially offset theseesge increases, and in turn, positively
impacted operating income. Our operating marginrowed 4.1 percentage points in 2006 and 12.3 ptagerpoints in 2005, reflecting the
impact of revenue growth that exceeded the incriasperating expense.

Corporate and Eliminations
Corporate items and eliminations include capitalizgernal product development costs and relategrémation expense. In addition, this

category includes amortization expense relatedtamgible assets, primarily recorded as part ofisitipn-related purchase price allocations.
The following table shows the components of corfmeand eliminations expense (income) that impactedtonsolidated operating income:

($000) 2006 2005 2004 2006 Chang 2005 Changt
Depreciation and amortizatic $ 9,66 $ 3,67¢ $ 3,34z 170.4% 7.0%
Capitalized internal product

development cos! (178) (375) (2,802) (52.5)% (86.6)%
Other (119) 485 460 NMF 5.4%
Corporate items and eliminations $ 9,372 $ 3,68¢ $ 1,00C 154.2% 268.6%

In 2006, corporate items and eliminations incre&ed million primarily because of an increasenmogtization expense related to intangible
assets we acquired with Ibbotson, Aspect Huntlegl,the hedge fund and separate account databasmeuliof InvestorForce. In 2005,
corporate items and eliminations increased $2.Hamjlreflecting a decrease of $2.4 million in dapzed internal product development costs
and a $0.3 million increase in depreciation and rimagion.

Equity in Net Income of Unconsolidated Entities, No-Operating Income, and Income Tax Expense

Equity in Net Income of Unconsolidated Entities

($000) 200€ 2005 2004
Equity in net income of unconsolidated enti $ 2,781 % 1,662 $ 843

Equity in net income of unconsolidated entitiesraiily includes our portion of the net income (JosEMorningstar Japan K.K. (MJKK),
Morningstar Korea, Ltd., Morningstar Danmark A/8davliorningstar Sweden AB. In both 2006 and 2005jtgdn net income of
unconsolidated entities increased primarily becadsea increase in equity earnings from MJKK. Idigidn, in 2006, MJKK recorded a gain
related to the sale of shares in a subsidiarytgirpublic offering. Our share of the pre-tax gaias approximately $1.0 million. For more
information about our investments in unconsolidaatities, refer to Note 8 of the Notes to our Gidated Financial Statements.

Non-Operating Income

The following table presents the components ofoetoperating income:

($000) 200€ 2005 2004
Interest income, ne $ 462 $ 3,07¢ $ 1,211
Other income (expense), net (459) 121 594
Non-operating income $ 4,164 $ 3,19¢ $ 1,80t

Net interest income primarily reflects interestnfrour investment portfolio. Net interest incomerassed $1.5 million and $1.9 million dur
2006 and 2005, respectively, because of increasessh, cash equivalents, and investments, asgligher returns on invested cash
balances.
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Other income (expense), net primarily representsida currency exchange gains and losses arisimg fhe ordinary course of business
related to our non-U.S. operations, unrealizedraatized gains and losses from our investment @lastfand royalty income from MJKK.
The increase in other expense, net in 2006 wasapitynrelated to foreign currency exchange lospasticularly with regard to the euro.
Income Tax Expense

The following table summarizes the components ofefiective income tax expense rate:

($000) 2006 2005 2004
Income before income taxes and equity in net incomeconsolidated

entities $ 81691 $ 4967¢ $ 19,54(
Equity in net income of unconsolidated entities 2,787 1,662 843
Total $ 8447¢ $ 51,341 $ 20,38:
Income tax expense $ 3297t $ 20,22¢ % 11,574
Effective income tax expense r: 39.C% 39.4% 56.8%

For a reconciliation of the U.S. federal tax rat@tr effective tax rate, refer to Note 15 of thetéé to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our effective income tax rate is influenced by ¢hpgimary factors: the reported income or losswfron-U.S. entities and our evaluation of
the realizability of their net operating lossegéntive stock options; and the impact of specéicilanning strategies.

In 2006, our effective income tax rate was 39.0%ictv is comparable to our effective income tax mt2005. This rate, however, reflects
three items related to our non-U.S. operations.ZDO6 effective income tax rate includes additianabme tax expense outside the United
States recorded in the second quarter of 2006.addgional income tax expense increased our éfetax rate by 1.1 percentage points. In
addition, in 2006 we paid withholding taxes in Ngrs. jurisdictions for which we do not anticipaézeiving a credit for U.S. income tax
purposes. These withholding taxes increased oactfe rate by approximately a half of a percentagjat. These increases were mostly
offset by the benefit we recorded as a result dficeng previously recorded deferred tax valuatibmwaances. Based on the evidence related
to certain of our non-U.S. entities, we concludedads more likely than not that we would be ablede the accumulated net operating losses.

We have net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards28.8 million related to our non-U.S. operationsc@&gse of the historical operating losses
of the non-U.S. operations that generated thesedN@& have recorded a valuation allowance agalnistie$6.0 million of these NOLs,
reflecting the likelihood that the benefit of th€©Ns will not be realized.

We anticipate that our effective income tax ratey m@antinue to fluctuate related to the valuatidowahnces and non-U.S. tax related items.

In 2005, our effective income tax expense rateebs®d compared with prior years, primarily becafigsereduction in the tax impact related
to incentive stock options. For incentive stockiaps, we record stock-based compensation experisgebdo not record a corresponding tax
benefit. This had the impact of increasing oureffe income tax rate above the U.S. Federal ra85%. The amount of incentive stock
option expense recorded in 2005 was lower thamutheunts recorded in 2004, reflecting the fact thalbsequent to our initial public offerir
incentive stock options are no longer accountedifiofer the liability method, and because they altg ¥ested, no stock-based compensation
expense was recorded for these options duringaienine months of 2005.

Our 2005 effective tax rate also reflects an ingeeia the number of disqualifying dispositions tetato incentive stock options. A
disqualifying disposition occurs when the optiotden sells shares within one year of exercisingnaentive stock option. We receive a tax
benefit when a disqualifying disposition occursrQQ005 income tax expense also reflects a berfe$i0d million related to research and
development expenses due to a change in U.S. intaomegulations. This benefit resulted in a omeetreduction of our effective income tax
expense rate. In the fourth quarter of 2005, wemédized cost-sharing agreements among our opesattiomore accurately reflect the
economic sharing arrangements that benefit oundialbies. This also had the effect of lowering taxes in certain jurisdictions.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We believe that our available cash balances arestments, along with cash generated from operatwitide sufficient to meet our
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operating and cash needs for the foreseeable filgaenvest our cash reserves in cash equivalentsrwestments, consisting primarily of
fixed-income securities. We intend to use our caabh equivalents, and investments for generabcatp purposes, including working
capital, and for funding future growth.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

As of December 31, 2006, we had cash and cashaqote of $96.1 million, an increase of $3.7 millcompared with the balance as of
December 31, 2005. The increase primarily refl$8&.7 million in cash provided by operating actestand $34.0 million in cash provided
by financing activities, partially offset by $12%llion in cash used for investing activities.dddition to the $96.1 million of cash and cash
equivalents as of December 31, 2006, we had $6ifli6mof investments, consisting primarily of fidencome securities, an increase of $6.8
million from December 31, 2005.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments (3000
as of December 31

£163,751
$153,100

595,463

$76,158
364,796

W

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
% change 0% 1TH%m 53%  605% 6.9%
Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Our main source of capital is cash generated frparating activities. In 2006, cash provided by agiag activities was $98.7 million. The
increase of $50.3 million, or 103.7%, in operatiagh flows mainly reflects increases in net incoimeme taxes payable, and accrued
compensation. In 2006, we made $9.6 million of medax payments, compared with $19.5 million in208s part of the Ibbotson purchase
price allocation, we recorded a reduction to incaaxes payable of $13.0 million. This income tarddf#, primarily related to the payments
for the cancellation of Ibbotson’s stock optiongswWully used during 2006, reducing the amount aid for income taxes. This cash income
tax benefit did not impact our income tax expenseat income in 2006. We will not receive additibcash tax benefits from the Ibbotson
acquisition, and therefore, our income taxes payhhbb increased in anticipation of future paymekxtsrued compensation increased
primarily because of an increase in accrued bonlisé=bruary 2007, we made approximately $35.0anibf bonus payments that were
accrued as of December 31, 2006. In 2006, we madeasbpayments of $23.0 million.

In 2005, cash provided by operating activities éased approximately $15.6 million, or 47.4%, to.844illion. The increase in operating
cash flows during 2005 primarily reflects an in@@#& net income and a decrease in net operatsggsaand liabilities, excluding income tax
and bonus payments. In 2005, we made income tax@atg of $19.5 million. In 2004, we made only $&iflion of income tax payments
because of the U.S. net operating loss carryforsvavgilable from prior years. In 2005 and 2004 paigl bonuses of approximately $18.0
million and $12.3 million, respectively. The highsrnuses paid in 2005 were the result of strongl 2i&rating performance and the last
installment of a special bonus paid to our andlain in connection with the ramp-up of our indeegrieéquity research business. Excluding
the impact of income tax and bonus payments, ouoperating assets and liabilities decreased piiynaecause of increases in accounts
payable and accrued liabilities, accrued bonudagexkto the current year's performance, and accimeme taxes. The increase in accounts
receivable, resulting primarily from higher clidaitlings, was partially offset by the related inase in deferred revenue.

Because we frequently invoice our customers anéatatash in advance of providing services or Hfiifj subscriptions, we often have
significant deferred revenue, which is shown aalaility on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. ABe€ember 31, 2006 and December 31,
2005, our deferred revenue was $100.5 million (iditlg deferred revenue from acquisitions) and $#iilRon, respectively.

In 2003, we began participating in voluntary disclige or similar programs related to state salesviexestimated our total liability for these
taxes to be approximately $9.0 million. BeginnindD03 through the end of 2006, we made total pagments of $8.2 million in
conjunction with these voluntary disclosure progsaifhe remaining amount expected to be due in atiomewith these voluntary disclosure
programs is recorded as an accrued liability in@omsolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2006

Cash Used for Investing Activities

Cash used for investing activities consists pritpari cash used for acquisitions; purchases ofstments, net of proceeds from the sale of
investments; and capital expenditures. In 2006 caed for investing activities increased $112.Hionicompared with 2005, primaril



reflecting an increase in cash used for acquistitm 2005, cash used for investing activities dased $5.9 million from 2004 primarily
reflecting a decrease in purchases of investmaatxf proceeds from the sale of investments. d@ease in cash used was partially offset
by cash outflows related to the January 2005 aitmurisof VARDS.
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Cash used for acquisitions in 2006, net of casliieed, was $117.3 million. This total includes casled to purchase Ibbotson in March 2!
Aspect Huntley in July 2006, and the hedge fundsamhrate account database division of InvestoeHaréugust 2006. In 2005, cash used
for acquisitions was $8.2 million, related to oandary 2005 acquisition of VARDS. In 2004, cashduee acquisitions was $0.2 million,
related to our February 2004 purchase of the ran@iil% of Morningstar Norge AS (Morningstar Norydlyat we did not previously own.

Purchases of investments, net of proceeds fromaaleeof investments, were $6.6 million, $1.3 milliand $14.9 million in 2006, 2005, and
2004, respectively. As of December 31, 2006 andb2@@ had investments, consisting primarily of fixacome securities, of $67.6 million
and $60.8 million, respectively. As of both Decem®&, 2006 and 2005, our investments representaxrimately 40% of our total cash,
cash equivalents, and investments.

Capital expenditures were $4.7 million, $7.5 milli@and $7.7 million in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respely. Capital expenditures are prima
for leasehold improvements, computer hardware capitalized internal product development cost2007, we expect to make capital
expenditures of approximately $8 million primarity computer hardware to support our technologyf@ims and the build-out of new office
space for our non-U.S. operations. In additionyway also spend up to $6 million in capital expeumdis for the build-out of our new
corporate headquarters in Chicago, depending oprtiggess of construction of the new building.

Cash Provided by (Used for) Financing Activities

In 2006, cash provided by financing activities 8% million increased $8.7 million, or 34.6%, guiarily reflected proceeds of $20.2
million from stock option exercises. Stock optio®ecises continued to increase in 2006, our firbtyfear as a public company. We also
recognized $13.7 million of excess tax benefitsrfistock option exercises in 2006. We adopted Steteof Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 123(R)Share-Based Paymendn January 1, 2006; the new standard requirésvaaecord excess tax benefits from stock og
exercises as a financing activity, instead of agp@arating activity. Excess tax benefits occuhatttme a stock option is exercised when the
intrinsic value of the option (the difference betmehe exercise price of the option and the fdinevaf our stock on the date of exercise) is
greater than the fair value of the option at theetof grant.

In 2005, cash provided by financing activities ea&sed $31.7 million, reflecting net proceeds of. $18illion from our initial public offering

in May 2005. These proceeds resulted from the wyriters’ exercise of their over-allotment optionskd on our initial public offering price
of $18.50 per share, after deducting the undemgritiscounts and commissions and approximately ®#l®n of offering expenses. We also
received proceeds of $7.2 million from stock optexercises in 2005, compared with only $0.2 millior2004. Stock option exercises
increased in 2005 following our initial public offieg.

In March 2004, we repaid a $6.5 million promissnoge payable to Joe Mansueto, our chairman, cketigive officer, and controlling
shareholder. The obligation and related interesevgaid in full.

Acquisitions
Institutional Hedge Fund and Separate Account DasabDivision of InvestorForce, In

In August 2006, we acquired the institutional hefiged and separate account database division eftov Force, Inc., a financial software
and data integration company based in Wayne, Paramsg, for $10.1 million in cash, including traetian-related costs. This acquisition
included the Altvest database, one of the largasttthses covering hedge funds, managers, anchdatell as InvestorForce’s extensive
institutional separate account database. It aldodied several online software applications for aggar search, research, and reporting. We
began including the results of the hedge fund apdusite account database division of InvestorFemmgérations in our Consolidated
Financial Statements on August 1, 2006. This adtpnsallowed us to strengthen and expand our pedgny investment data.

Aspect Huntley Pty Limite

In July 2006, we acquired Aspect Huntley Pty Lirdjta leading provider of equity information, resdarand financial trade publishing in
Australia, for Australian $30.0 million in cash (@hich Australian $2.0 million will be paid in 20P3ubject to post-closing and working
capital adjustments. In 2006, the cash paid fore&spluntley, including transaction-related costaswl.S. $20.9 million (net of $0.9 million
of cash acquired). We began including the restilfsspect Huntley’s operations in our ConsolidatéaaRcial Statements on July 25, 2006.
This acquisition fits with our growth strategy txpand our products and services outside the USitates. This acquisition allowed us to
combine Morningstar’s expertise in fund researathiaformation with Aspect Huntley’s equity researitformation, and financial media
expertise in Australia.
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Ibbotson Associates, In

In March 2006, we acquired Ibbotson Associates, Bnéirm specializing in asset allocation reseamat services, for $83.0 million in cash,
plus an additional $3.5 million for working capitaid other items. We began including the resultblodtsons operations in our Consolida
Financial Statements on March 1, 2006. This actimiscomplemented our growth strategies in sev@wglareas, including investment
consulting, managed retirement accounts, and utistital and advisor software.

Variable Annuity Research and Data Service (VARDS)

In January 2005, we acquired the VARDS unit, wipobvides research and data on variable annuities Finetre Corporation for $8.2
million in cash. We believe this acquisition strévened our investment database and enhanced outséfi provide investors with the
information they need to make well-informed deaisiavhen investing in variable annuities.

Morningstar Norway

In February 2004, we purchased the remaining 51%arhingstar Norway that we did not previously owWime purchase price consisted of
$0.2 million in cash and approximately $0.1 milliohother consideration. Prior to this transactiwe,accounted for our investment in
Morningstar Norway using the equity method.

Initial Public Offering

In May 2005, we completed our initial public offiegi of 7,612,500 shares of our common stock. Thiesees began trading on May 3, 2005
on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “NNDBnd now trade on the Nasdaq Global Select Mawkiébf these shares were sold
by affiliates of SOFTBANK Finance Corporation, aalllf owned subsidiary of SOFTBANK Corp. We did meteive any proceeds from the
sale of these shares.

We granted the underwriters the right to purchgst®wan additional 1,141,875 shares at the irptigdlic offering price to cover over-
allotments. In May 2005, the underwriters exercigesir over-allotment option in full. The net precks to us from the exercise of the
underwriters’ over-allotment option were $18.1 foifl, based on our initial public offering price®#8.50 per share, after deducting the
underwriting discounts and commissions and $2.6anibf offering expenses.

Subsequent Event

In February 2007, we entered into a definitive agrent to acquire Standard & Poor’s mutual fund Bataness for $55 million in cash,
subject to post-closing adjustments. Standard &'Ba®a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies. 8tard & Poor’s fund data business
consists of data and products covering more th&0D8 managed investment vehicles, including mutuads, exchange-traded funds
(ETFs), hedge funds, and offshore funds. Underderhthe agreement, Standard & Poor’s will licehs® data from Morningstar after the
acquisition is completed. We completed the tramsaain March 16, 2007.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estmates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caadiand results of operations are based on ourdlidased Financial Statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP s@uificant accounting policies are discussebte 2 of the Notes to our
Consolidated Financial Statements. The preparafidinancial statements in accordance with U.S. ®A&quires our management team to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, espeand related disclosures included in our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis.a%e dur estimates on historical experience andagous other assumptions that we
believe are reasonable. Based on these assumatidrestimates, we make judgments about the carwlugs of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Owahcesults could vary from these estimates asdraptions. If actual amounts are different
from previous estimates, we include revisions inresults of operations for the period in which #wtual amounts become known.

We believe the following critical accounting poésireflect the significant judgments and estimagesl in the preparation of our Consolidi
Financial Statements:
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Revenue Recognition

Much of our revenue comes from the sale of subseornip or licenses for print publications, softwaaad Internebased products and servic
We recognize this revenue in equal amounts ovetetime of the subscription or license, which gergnanges from one to three years. We
also provide analysis, consulting, retirement aglvand other services. We recognize this revenw@nte service is provided or during the
service obligation period defined in the contr@xferred revenue is the amount invoiced or colk:ateadvance for subscriptions, licenses
services that has not yet been recognized as revé&suf December 31, 2006, our deferred revenie$480.5 million. We expect to
recognize this deferred revenue in future pericaea fulfill our service obligations. The amountdafferred revenue may increase or dect
primarily based on the mix of contracted productd services and the volume of new and renewal sipiiens. The timing of future revenue
recognition may change depending on the termseofitknse agreements and the timing of fulfillifgoar service obligations. We believe
that the estimate related to revenue recognitiendstical accounting estimate, and to the extieatt there are material differences between
our determination of deferred revenue and actuwlli® our financial condition or results of op&as may be affected.

Purchase Price Allocation

Over the past several years, we have acquired aupgpthat complement our business operations. 06,20e acquired Ibbotson Associates,
Aspect Huntley, and the database division of Irmé&sirce. The total cash paid for these acquisifinasof cash acquired, was $117.3 million
in 2006. In 2005, we acquired VARDS for $8.2 mitlim cash. In 2004, we acquired the remaining 51%arningstar Norway that we did
not previously own for $0.2 million in cash and Billion in other consideration. For each of thasquisitions, the purchase price was
allocated to the assets acquired, liabilities agsljrand goodwill, in accordance with SFAS No. 1Blsiness Combinationd/Ne recognized
the assets and liabilities acquired related toglaesgjuisitions at their estimated fair values idiig $81.0 million of value assigned to
intangible assets such as customer lists, inteldgiroperty, technology, non-competition agreemsesntd supplier lists. For these intangible
assets, the estimated useful lives range from tior@8 years. As of December 31, 2006, we also hes@rded $86.7 million of goodwiill
arising from acquisitions.

Management judgment is required in allocating thecpase price to the acquired assets and liaBiliée use judgment to:
¢ identify the acquired assets,
¢ estimate the fair value of these assets,
* estimate the useful life of the assets; and

* assess the appropriate method for recognizing diggi@ or amortization expense over the assetfulifife.

We believe that the accounting estimates relatgaitohase price allocations are critical accoungisigmates because the assumptions impact
the amounts and classifications of assets anditiabipresented in our Consolidated Balance Shéstsamount of amortization and
depreciation expense, if any, recorded in our Clihsted Statements of Income, and the impairmestinig performed in subsequent periods.

Goodwill

Goodwill recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheaif December 31, 2006 was $86.7 million. In edaace with SFAS No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assetsie do not amortize goodwill. Instead, it is sabj® at least an annual test for impairment, oendve!
indicators of impairment exist, based on a discedimash-flow model. An impairment would occur & ttarrying amount of a reporting unit,
including goodwill, exceeded the fair value of thegporting unit.

The process of evaluating the potential impairneérfoodwill is subjective and requires significgudgment. In estimating the fair value of
the reporting units, we make estimates and judgsrambut the future cash flows of the reporting.urtiese estimates include assumptions
about future market growth and trends, forecastgdnue and costs, capital investments, appromisteunt rates, and other variables that
can significantly affect the value of the reportungt.

Although our cash flow forecasts are based on aggBans that are consistent with plans and estimagesse to manage the underlying
business, there is significant judgment in detenngjrthe cash flows attributable to these businesgesa long-term horizon. We update these
assumptions and cash flow estimates annually@henum.

We believe that the accounting estimate relategbtwlwill impairment is a critical accounting estiméecause the assumptions used are
highly susceptible to changes in the operatingltesud cash flows of the reporting units includedur segments. If actual
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results differ from our estimates, future tests nmaljcate an impairment of goodwill. This would uéisn a non-cash charge, adversely
affecting our results of operations.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December(85 idcludes property, equipment, and capitalizgthsre of $15.9 million and

intangible assets of $72.8 million. In accordand WFAS No. 144Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lonigdd Assetswe

review our property, equipment, capitalized sofeyand intangible assets for impairment whenevenvor changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recabier. Such events or changes may include a detgdorin the business climate for a
specific product or service. If the total of prdt future undiscounted cash flows is less tharcdéing/ing amount of an asset, we may need to
record an impairment loss based on the exces®afairying amount over the fair value of the assets

Estimates of future cash flows and the estimatedulives associated with these assets are drttidhe assessment of recoverability and
values. They are susceptible to change from peadgetriod because of the requirement to make agsomspabout future cash flows
generated over extended periods of time. Changiese estimates could result in a determinatiassét impairment, which would result in
a reduction to the carrying value and could advVgmsiect our operating results in the related peri

Stock-Based Compensation

We adopted SFAS No. 123 (Revised 20@Hare-Based Paymef8FAS No. 123(R)) as of January 1, 2006. Under SRAS123(R), stock-
based compensation expense is measured at thedgtaritased on the fair value of the award, anddkeis recognized as expense ratably
over the award’s vesting period. In 2006, we grdilteth stock options and restricted stock unitsnployees. We measure the fair value of
our restricted stock units on the date of granetlam the market price of the underlying commouglsts of the close of trading on the day
prior to grant. We measure the fair value of oocktoptions on the date of grant using a Black-&shoption-pricing model.

Determining the fair value of our stock optionsuiegd that we make several estimates, including/dtatility of our stock price, the expect
life of the option, the expected strike price & time of exercise, interest rates, and dividertbgi As a recently public company, we have
limited historical information on the price of ostock as well as employees’ stock option exercédebior. Because of this limitation, we
cannot rely on our historical experience alonedwetbp assumptions for stock price volatility ahd expected life of our options. We
estimated stock-price volatility with referenceatpeer group of companies. Determining the companiénclude in this peer group involves
judgment. We estimated the expected life of ouromgtusing th¢‘shortcut method” described in Staff Accounting Btih Topic 14.D.2,
which is based on a calculation to arrive at thépuint between the vesting date and the end ofdh&ractual term.

Certain stock options granted in 2004, 2005, ar@b2tave initial exercise prices that will increaser the term of the options at a rate equal
to the 10-year Treasury bond rate as of the dageanit. We estimated the expected exercise prideded in the Black-Scholes model using
our estimated 6.25 year estimated life and theiegige 10-year Treasury bond rate. We based tkefmnég interest rate used in our
assumptions on the implied yield available on Oi®asury zero-coupon issues with a remaining tbahdpproximates the stock option
award’s expected life. We do not intend to paydvids on our common stock for the foreseeabledutherefore, we used a dividend yield
of zero in our assumptions.

The use of different assumptions in the Black-Sefiohodel would result in different amounts of stbelsed compensation expense. A 1%
change in the Black-Scholes value would have reguit a corresponding change of approximately $0llion in stock-based compensation
expense in 2006 for stock options.

Under SFAS No. 123(R), we are required to estireapected forfeitures of stock-based awards at thetglate and recognize compensation
cost only for those awards expected to vest. THeifare assumption is ultimately adjusted to th&ual forfeiture rate. Therefore, changes in
the forfeiture assumptions do not impact the tatabunt of expense ultimately recognized over trating period. Rather, different forfeiture
assumptions would only impact the timing of experm®gnition over the vesting period. Estimatedéitures will be reassessed in
subsequent periods and may change based on neafattircumstances.

We believe that the estimates related to stockébesmpensation expense are critical accountinghastis because the assumptions used
could significantly impact the amount of stock-lthsempensation expense recorded in our Consolidateshcial Statements.
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Income Taxes

Our annual effective income tax expense rate iedhas the mix of income and losses in our U.S.ramdU.S. entities which are part of our
Consolidated Financial Statements, statutory teesrand tax-planning opportunities available tinuse various jurisdictions in which we
operate. Significant judgment is required in evahgaour tax positions.

Tax law requires items to be included in the taunreat different times from when these items aftected in our Consolidated Financial
Statements. As a result, the effective tax ratectdd in our Consolidated Financial Statementifisrent from the tax rate reported on our
tax return (our cash tax rate). Some of theserdiffees are permanent, such as expenses that ateduatible in our tax return, and some
differences reverse over time, such as depreciatipense. These timing differences create defeabedssets and liabilities. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are determined based ondeanpdifferences between the financial reporting the tax basis of assets and liabilities.

As of December 31, 2006, we had $1.3 million ofetent deferred tax liabilities and $13.8 milliohnet long-term deferred tax assets. In
addition, we have net operating loss (NOL) carmyfmds of $28.4 million related to our n@hS. operations. Of these NOLs, $9.3 million®
begin to expire in 2008 through 2021 and $19.liamlhave no expiration. Because of the historigedrating losses of certain of the nors.
operations that generated these NOLs, we havededa valuation allowance against all but approtétyes6.0 million of the NOLs,
reflecting the likelihood that the benefit of th€©Ns will not be realized. In assessing the reallitglof our deferred tax assets and NOLs, we
consider whether it is more likely than not thainggportion or all of the deferred tax assets vl Ine realized. The ultimate realization of
deferred tax assets is dependent upon the genemndtfature taxable income during the periods irichtthose temporary differences become
deductible.

In assessing the need for a valuation allowance;omsider both positive and negative evidenceutlinly tax-planning strategies, projected
future taxable income, and recent financial perfomoe. If after future assessments of the realiibaloil the deferred tax assets we determi
lesser allowance is required, we would record actdn to the income tax expense and to the valoatilowance in the period this
determination was made. This would cause our incaxexpense, effective tax rate, and net inconfritbuate.

In addition, we establish reserves at the timewmeatetermine that it is more likely than not that will need to pay additional taxes relatec
certain matters. We adjust these reserves, inauaiy impact of the related interest and penalinelight of changing facts and circumstan
such as the progress of a tax audit. A number afsymay elapse before a particular matter for whiehhave established a reserve is audited
and finally resolved. The number of years with of@naudits varies depending on the tax jurisdicti@hile it is often difficult to predict the
final outcome or the timing of resolution of anyri@ular tax matter, we record a reserve when werdgne the likelihood of loss is more
likely than not. Such liabilities are recorded msome taxes payable in our Consolidated BalancetShgettlement of any particular issue
would usually require the use of cash. Favoraldelutions of tax matters for which we have previgestablished reserves are recognized as
a reduction to our income tax expense when the ataanvolved become known.

Assessing the future tax consequences of everthdlia been recognized in our financial statementax returns requires judgment.
Variations in the actual outcome of these futurectansequences could materially impact our findnamaition, results of operations, or cash
flows.

Contingencies

We are subject to various claims and contingeneileded to legal proceedings and investigationéeiRe Note 16 of the Notes to our
Consolidated Financial Statements. Due to theiineasuch legal proceedings involve inherent uaggies, including, but not limited, to
court rulings, negotiations between affected psyted government actions. Judgment is requirettasssess the probability of loss for such
contingencies and either accrue a liability or ldise the relevant circumstances, as appropriasetifal results differ from our assessments,
our financial position, results of operations, asle flows would be impacted.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Stashsl&oard (FASB) issued SFAS No. 15ajr Value Measurementsvhich defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring faiue, and expands disclosures about fair value unesents. The standard applies
whenever other standards require (or permit) assdiabilities to be measured at fair value. Ttendard does not expand the use of fair v
in any new circumstances. SFAS No. 157 is effedtivdiscal years beginning after November 15, 286d for interim periods within those
years; therefore, we will adopt SFAS No. 157 infire& quarter of 2008. We are in the process ¢édrining the effect the adoption of SF.
No. 157 will have on our Consolidated Financialtt&tzents

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff AccouBinetin (SAB) No. 108Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements
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when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Ririal StatementéSAB 108). SAB 108 addresses quantifying the fin@rstatement
effects of misstatements; specifically, how theet$ of prior year uncorrected errors must be dened in quantifying misstatements in the
current year financial statements. SAB 108 is ¢iffedor fiscal years ending after November 15, Qberefore, we adopted SAB 108 in the
fourth quarter of 2006. The adoption of SAB 108 dlid have an impact on our Consolidated Finandee®ents.

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation Ng.A&ounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, anriptetation of FASB Statement No.
109(FIN 48), which prescribes the minimum recognitibreshold a tax position is required to meet bebmiag recognized in the financial
statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on dgrefion, measurement, classification, interest padalties, accounting in interim periods,
and disclosure for uncertain tax positions. FINgi&ffective for fiscal years beginning after Detem15, 2006; therefore, we will adopt FIN
48 in the first quarter of 2007. We do not antitéptnat the adoption of FIN 48 will have a mateiapact on our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

In June 2006, the Emerging Issues Task Force (Efdtied Issue No. 06-2Accounting for Sabbatical Leave and Other Similan&fits
Pursuant to FASB Statement No. “Accounting for Compensated Absenc€EITF No. 06-2), which requires that a liabilityrfemployees’
sabbatical benefits be accrued over the periodnedjior employees to earn the right to sabbat&ale. EITF No. 06-2 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2006; therefeeeyill adopt EITF No. 0-2 in the first quarter of 2007. In the first quarof 2007, we
will record a cumulative effect of accounting changet of tax, of approximately $3.4 million to oed the portion of employee sabbatical
leave that has been earned. Other than recordimgumulative effect of accounting change, we doambicipate that the adoption of EITF
No. 0€-2 will have a material impact on our Consolidaf@dancial Statements.

Contractual Obligations

The following table presents our known contractiaigations as of December 31, 2006 and the exgduteng of cash payments related to
these contractual obligations:

($000) 2007 2008 200¢ 2010 2011 _ Thereafter Total
Minimum commitments on non-cancelable

operating lease obligations ( $ 430¢$ 744€$ 7,002 $ 6,98 $ 693C $ 68,75 $ 101,42¢
Asset retirement obligation (2) — — 98 — — — 98
Total $ 430¢ $ 7,44¢€ $ 7,10C $ 6,98¢ $ 6,93C $ 68,75¢ $ 101,52¢

(1) The non-cancelable operating lease obligationsarg@iamarily to lease commitments on office spacdecember 2005, we signed an
agreement to lease approximately 210,000 squarefieew office space for our corporate headqusaiiteChicago, lllinois. The lease
begins in 2008 and has a term of 15 years. Thenmimi future lease payments are included in the fafglsented above.

(2) The asset retirement obligation relates to coststfil be incurred to return office space modifiegleasehold improvements to its
original condition in accordance with the leasesagnent.

In addition, we have an obligation to pay up toragpnately $2.0 million under a deferred comperwaagreement with Don Phillips, one of
our managing directors, as discussed in Note TBeoNotes to our Consolidated Financial Statemégof December 31, 2006, $1.9 million
is classified as a current liability and $0.1 moifliis classified as a long-term liability. We aeguired to make these payments as Don
exercises certain stock options granted to him utiee1999 Stock Option Plan. Because the timinthe$e payments is uncertain, we have
not included this obligation in the above tableMay 2006, Don entered into a Rule 10b5-1 plan@mpiating the sale of up to 450,000
shares to be acquired through stock option exerciseing 2006 and 2007. As of December 31, 20@8ettvere 310,000 options remaining
be exercised under this 10b5-1 plan. If all 310,8@@k options are exercised in 2007, we would npakaments to him of approximately
$834,000 in accordance with the deferred compeorsatjreement.

There are no purchase commitments as of Decemb@086 that we believe would have a significantaetpn our Consolidated Balance
Sheet or Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.
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Selected Quarterly Financial Data

2005 2006
(in thousands except per shar
amounts) Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Revenue $ 53,20¢ $ 56,24: $ 56,927 $ 60,74C $ 70,06( 76,251 $ 81,821 $ 87,037
Operating expense (1
Cost of goods sol 15,91z 15,674 16,261 16,561 18,67: 22,05z 22,38¢ 23,861
Developmen 5,14¢ 4,592 4,74¢ 5,16% 6,091 7,30€ 7,87¢€ 8,221
Sales and marketir 9,78k 9,84k 9,49¢ 9,942 11,66( 11,88( 12,971  14,10¢
General and administratiy 13,08¢ 11,13t 11,84¢ 13,167 12,03z 13,79z 13,781  15,98¢
Depreciation and amortization 2,39€ 1,852 2,222 1,79€ 2,40€ 3,767 4,267 4,53E
Total operating expense 46,32¢  43,09¢  44,58(  46,62¢ 50,86: 58,79¢ 61,28¢ 66,704
Operating income 6,876  13,14¢ 12,347 14,111 19,19¢ 17,45¢ 20,537 20,33t
Non-operating income
Interest income, ne 449 605 892 1,132 1,05¢ 858 1,16€ 1,537
Other income (expense), net 260 (200) (46) 107 (126) (186) (31) (116)
Non-operating income, net 709 405 846 1,23¢ 933 672 1,13¢ 1,421
Income before income taxes, equity
in net income of unconsolidated
entities, and cumulative effect of
accounting chang 7,587 13,54¢ 13,19¢  15,35C 20,131 18,131 21,678 21,75¢
Income tax expens 4,06C 4,60C 5,857 5,707 7,59¢ 7,624 9,22¢ 8,52t
Equity in net income of
unconsolidated entitie 480 549 183 450 647 658 1,10C 382
Income before cumulative effect of
accounting chang 4,007 9,49¢ 7,51¢  10,09: 13,18( 11,16¢ 13,547 13,611
Cumulative effect of accounting
change, net of income tax
expense of $17 — — — — 259 — — —
Net income $ 4,007 $ 949 $ 7,51¢ $ 10,09t $ 13,43¢ 11,1658 $ 13,547 $ 13,611
Basic income per shar
Income before cumulative effect
of accounting chang $ 01C$ 024$% 01¢ 3% 025 % 0.33 0.27 $ 032 $ 0.32
Net income $ 010$ 024%$ 019$ 025 % 0.33 0.27 $ 032 $ 032
Weighted average common shares
outstandin—basic 38,44¢  39,06¢ 39,922  40,10¢ 40,35¢ 40,92t 41,44¢ 41,957
Diluted income per shar
Income before cumulative effect
of accounting chang $ 008 $ 022% 017% 022% 0.28 024 $ 0.2¢ $ 0.29
Net income $ 009% 022% 017%$ 022% 0.29 024 $ 0.2¢ $ 0.29
Weighted average common shares
outstandin—diluted 4294, 43,74z 45,3542 45,73( 46,42¢ 46,68¢ 46,57¢  47,10C
(1) Includes stock-based compensatiomes@ of:
2005 2006
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Cost of goods sold $ 664% 2643 274% 271 $ 272 285 $ 302 $ 313
Developmen 275 105 112 111 114 131 141 146
Sales and marketir 325 128 129 128 126 137 152 156
General and administrative 3,628 1,441 1,51¢ 1,53C 1,422 1,52¢ 1,665 1,68¢
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 4,887 $ 1,93¢ $ 2,03C $ 2,04C $ 1,934 207¢ $ 225t $ 2,304
Stock-based compensation expense
under the liability metho $281C $ — $ — $ — $ — — $ — 3 —
Stock-based compensation expense under
the equity metho 2,077 1,93€ 2,03C 2,04C 1,934 2,07¢ 2,25¢ 2,304
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 4,887 $ 193¢ $ 203C $ 2,04C $ 1,934 207¢$ 2256 3% 2,304
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures @&out Market Risk

We may be subject to risk from fluctuating inteneges. Our investment portfolio is actively marthgad may suffer losses due to fluctuating
interest rates, market prices, or adverse secseigction. At December 31, 2006, we held $67.6onilbf investments, consisting primarily
fixed-income securities. Based on our estimatdfabasis point change in interest rates would haasreased or decreased the fair value of
our investment portfolio by approximately $0.4 ioii.

As our non-U.S. revenue increases, fluctuatioromifyn currencies is an increasing potential fiskdate, we have not engaged in currency
hedging, and we do not currently have any positiorierivative instruments to hedge our currensi.rOur results could suffer if certain
foreign currencies decline relative to the U.Slatoln addition, because we use the local curre@ur subsidiaries as the functional
currency, we are affected by the translation oéifgm currencies into U.S. dollars.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accountingirms
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Magstar, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineet of Morningstar, Inc. and subsidiariesf &egember 31, 2006, and the related
consolidated statements of income, shareholdetstyegnd comprehensive income, and cash flowsHeryear then ended. Our audit also
included the financial statement schedule listetth@index at Item 15(a). These financial statesiantl schedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to egpian opinion on these financial statements ametisite based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq@nited States). Those stande
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finastaiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disads in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptesiused and significant estimates made by marnageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodit provides a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of
Morningstar, Inc. and subsidiaries at Decembe2B06, and the consolidated results of their opamatand their cash flows for the year then
ended, in conformity with U.S. generally acceptedoanting principles. Also in our opinion, the teldfinancial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic financial stegets taken as a whole, presents fairly in all meteespects, the information set forth ther

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated findrst@tements, effective January 1, 2006, the Comphanged its method of accounting for
share-based payments to conform with FASB Stateieni23(R).

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the effectiveness
of Morningstar, Inc. and subsidiarigaternal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2006, based on criteria establishedtémria
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cassion and our report dated
March 9, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinionetbier

/sl Ernst & Young LLF
Ernst & Young LLP
Chicago, Illinois
March 9, 200

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Magstar, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, inclodbd accompanying Management’s Report on InteCoakrol Over Financial
Reporting, that Morningstar, Inc. and subsidiam@sntained effective internal control over finarieigporting as of December 31, 2006, be
on criteria established in Internal Control—InteagthFramework issued by the Committee of Sponsddirganizations of the Treadway
Commission (the COSO criteria). Morningstar, Ined subsidiaries’ management is responsible for ta@img effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of fifiecéveness of internal control over financial ogfing. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinitimeceffectiveness of the Company’s internal adraver financial reporting based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those stande
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordv@r financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluatirpiign and operating effectiveness of internatrobrand performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the dtanoes. We believe that our audit provides a redse basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablessesuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over fircgal reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainly reflect the transactions and dispositionshaf assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdegtessary to permit preparation of financakstents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and @jge reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygsats that could have a material effect
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on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Mgstam, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained effectiternal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2006 is fairly stated, in altarial respects, based on the COSO criteria. Afsour opinion, Morningstar, Inc. and
subsidiaries maintained, in all material respegffective internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2006 based on the C
criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
balance sheet of Morningstar, Inc. and subsidiarsesf December 31, 2006, and the related consetiddatements of income, shareholders’
equity and comprehensive income, and cash flowthoyear then ended, and our report dated Mar20®7, expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF
Ernst & Young LLP
Chicago, Illinois
March 9, 200

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Magstar, Inc.
Chicago, lllinois

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeet of Morningstar, Inc. and subsidiaries Gbmpany) as of December 31, 2005,
and the related consolidated statements of inceh@geholders’ equity and comprehensive incomecast flows for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004. These financial statsnaee the responsibility of the Company’s manag@nOur responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements basedipaudits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. The Company is not required to hamewere we engaged to perform, an audit of isriral control over financial reporting.
Our audits included consideration of internal cohtwer financial reporting as a basis for desigranidit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of esgimg an opinion on the effectiveness of the Comlganternal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinidn.audit also includes examining, on a test basiglence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessagccounting principles used and significannesttes made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@rmaWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbhsis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, tbasolidated financial position of Morningst
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005tt@ndesults of its operations and its cash flowdHe years ended December 31, 2005 and
2004, in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLF
Deloitte & Touche LLF
Chicago, Illinois

March 3, 200¢
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Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income

Year ended December 31 (in thousands except per shamounts) 2006 200& 2004
Revenue $ 31517t $ 227,11« $ 179,65¢
Operating expenses: (
Cost of goods sol 86,97¢ 64,40¢ 54,70¢
Developmen 29,492 19,65¢4 16,167
Sales and marketir 50,61¢ 39,071 36,03¢
General and administratiy 55,59( 49,23t 46,78¢
Depreciation and amortization 14,97¢ 8,26€ 8,22E
Total operating expense 237,64¢ 180,63 161,92:
Operating income 77,527 46,48( 17,73t
Non-operating income
Interest income, ne 4,622 3,07¢ 1,211
Other income (expense), net (459) 121 594
Non-operating income, net 4,164 3,19¢ 1,80¢
Income before income taxes, equity in net incomenaonsolidated entities,
and cumulative effect of accounting chai 81,691 49,67¢ 19,54(
Income tax expens 32,97¢ 20,22¢ 11,574
Equity in net income of unconsolidated entities 2,787 1,662 843
Income before cumulative effect of accounting cleang 51,50z 31,117 8,80¢
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of medax expense of $171 259 — —
Net income $ 51,76z $ 31,117 $  8,80¢
Basic income per shar
Income before cumulative effect of accounting clee $ 125 $ 0.7¢ $ 0.23
Cumulative effect of accounting change 0.01 — —
Net income $ 126 $ 0.7¢ $ 0.23
Diluted income per shar.
Income before cumulative effect of accounting clee $ 110 $ 07C $ 0.21
Cumulative effect of accounting change 0.01 — —
Net income $ 111 $ 0.7C $ 0.21
Weighted average shares outstand
Basic 41,17¢ 39,392 38,41¢
Diluted 46,72: 44,45¢ 41,85¢
2006 2005 2004
(2) Includes stoc-based compensation expense
Cost of goods sol $ 1,172 $ 1,472 $ 2,14z
Developmen 532 603 1,02C
Sales and marketir 571 710 1,184
General and administrative 6,30C 8,10¢ 12,37¢
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 857t $ 10,89t $ 16,72

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of December 31 (in thousands except share amosht 2006 200&
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 96,14C $ 92,361
Investment: 67,611 60,82:
Accounts receivable, less allowance of $225 an®$rlspectively 65,17¢ 47,53(
Other 8,557 5,49t
Total current assets 237,48¢ 206,21°¢
Property, equipment, and capitalized software, net 15,86¢ 17,35t
Investments in unconsolidated entit 18,65¢ 16,35¢
Goodwill 86,68( 17,50(
Intangible assets, n 72,841 7,251
Deferred tax asset, n 13,78¢ 29,72¢
Other assets 2,51€ 1,90€
Total assets $ 447,83t $ 296,31

Liabilities and shareholders equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilit $ 21,012 3% 13,66¢
Accrued compensatic 40,85¢ 26,46°
Income tax payabl 1,62C 1,25¢
Deferred revenu 100,52¢ 71,15¢
Deferred tax liability, ne 1,26€ 833
Other 2,182 2,467
Total current liabilities 167,46 115,84
Accrued compensation 7,591 4,45¢
Other long-term liabilities 3,361 2,29¢
Total liabilities 178,41¢ 122,59

Shareholder equity:
Common stock, no par value, 200,000,000 sharesardil, of which 42,228,418 and 40,284,513

shares were outstanding as of December 31, 2008G0% respectivel 4 4
Treasury stock at cost, 233,332 shares as of DezreBih 2006 and 20( (3,280) (3,280)
Additional paic-in capital 268,721 226,59:
Retained earnings (accumulated defi 1,154 (50,60¢)
Accumulated other comprehensive incol

Currency translation adjustme 2,871 1,13C

Unrealized losses on available for sale securities (47) (125)

Total accumulated other comprehensive income 2,824 1,00&

Total shareholders’ equity 269,42 173,71«

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 44783t $ 296,31

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity an€omprehensive Income

Common

Common

Retained Accumulated

Stock Stock Additional Earnings Other Total
Shares Par Treasury Paid-In  (Accumulated Comprehensive Shareholder¢
(in thousands except share amount: Outstanding Value Stock Capital Deficit)  Income (Loss Equity
Balance at January 1, 200- 38,395,481 $ 4 $ (3,280)$139,16: $ (90,539 % (530)$ 44,821
Comprehensive incom
Net income — — — 8,80¢ — 8,80¢
Reclassification adjustment for realized
gains included in net
income — — — — (8) (8)
Unrealized loss on investments, net
of tax of $69 — — — — (97) (97)
Foreign currency translation
adjustmen — — — — 1,872 1,875
Total comprehensive income — — — 8,80¢ 1,76€ 10,57
Issuance of common stock related to
stock option exercises, n 51,13¢ — — 692 — — 692
Reclassification related to conversion of
Morningstar Europe options to
Morningstar, Inc. option — — 531 — — 531
Stock-based compensation — — 7,76C — — 7,76C
Balance at December 31, 20C 38,446,61- 4  (3,280) 148,14« (81,72%) 1,23¢€ 64,381
Comprehensive incom
Net income — — — 31,115 — 31,115
Reclassification adjustment for
realized gains included in net
income — — — — 3) (3)
Unrealized loss on investments, net
of tax of $16 — — — — (20) (20)
Foreign currency translation
adjustmen — — — — (210) (210)
Total comprehensive income — — — 31,117 (233) 30,88¢4
Issuance of common stock related to
initial public offering, net of related
Ccosts 1,141,87! — —  18,10¢ — — 18,10¢
Issuance of common stock related to
stock option exercises, n 696,024 — — 8,221 — — 8,221
Reclassification of stock-based
compensation liabilitie — —  41,58¢ — — 41,58¢
Stocl-based compensatic — — 8,08t — — 8,08t
Tax benefit derived from stock option
exercise — — 2,44¢€ — — 2,44¢€
Balance at December 31, 20C 40,284,51. 4  (3,280) 226,59 (50,60¢) 1,00% 173,71«
Comprehensive incom
Net income — — — 51,762 — 51,762
Unrealized gains on investments, net
of income tax of $5: — — — — 78 78
Foreign currency translation
adjustmen — — — — 1,741 1,741
Total comprehensive income — — — 51,762 1,81¢ 53,581
Issuance of common stock related to
stock option exercises, n 1,943,90! — —  20,24¢ — — 20,24¢
Stocl-based compensatic — — 8,57¢ — — 8,57¢
Cumulative effect of accounting char — — (430) — — (430)
Tax benefit derived from stock option
exercises — — 13,73¢ — — 13,734
Balance at December 31, 20C 42,228,411 $ 4 $ (3,280)$268,72! $ 1,154 $ 2,824 $ 269,42:

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31 (in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
Operating activities
Net income 51,76z $ 31,117 8,80¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashglrom operating activitie:
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of (259) — —
Depreciation and amortizatic 14,97¢ 8,26€ 8,22¢
Deferred income taxe (3,85€) 583 830
Stocl-based compensatic 8,57¢ 10,89t 16,72:
Provision for (recovery of) bad de 159 223 (55)
Equity in net income of unconsolidated entit (2,787) (1,662) (843)
Foreign exchange (gain) lo 880 146 (333)
(Gain) loss on sale of fixed ass 165 19 (73)
Excess tax benefits from stock option exerc (13,73¢) 2,44¢€ —
Other, ne (412) (269) (575)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffett of acquisitions
Accounts receivabl (9,261) (14,989 (10,86¢€)
Other asset (1,217) (1,07¢€) (2,35¢)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (563) 2,167 2,48¢
Accrued compensatic 16,42¢ 6,997 —
Deferred revenu 10,967 7,364 7,03¢
Income taxes payab 26,69¢ (2,43¢) 3,763
Other liabilities 160 (1,344) 88
Cash provided by operating activities 98,671 48,44~ 32,862
Investing activities
Purchases of investmer (81,26%) (78,79¢) (79,12¢€)
Proceeds from sale of investme 74,67¢ 77,51C 64,18(
Capital expenditure (4,722) (7,451) (7,730)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquir (117,337) (8,192) (210)
Other, net (363) 18 136
Cash used for investing activities (129,007) (16,917) (22,750)
Financing activities
Proceeds from sale of common stock, primarily stogfon exercise 20,24¢ 7,16€ 194
Excess tax benefits from stock option exerc 13,73¢ — —
Proceeds from initial public offering, n — 18,10¢ —
Payments of long-term debt and capital lease adiigs — (18) (6,561)
Cash provided by (used for) financing activities 33,98z 25,25¢ (6,367)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casbatants 115 (328) 317
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,77< 56,46( 4,062
Cash and cash equivalents — Beginning of year 92,367 35,907 31,84t
Cash and cash equivalents — End of year 96,14 $ 92,367 35,907
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informatio
Cash paid for intere: —  $ 29 90
Cash paid for income tax 9,64¢ $ 19,527 6,612
Supplemental information of nor-cash investing and financing activities
Unrealized gain (loss) on availa-for sal¢-investment: 148 $ (36) (166)
Non-cash consideration related to acquisi — % — 69

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MORNINGSTAR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Description of Business

Morningstar, Inc. and its subsidiaries (Morningstee, our), is a provider of independent investnresearch in the United States and in ir
international markets. We offer an extensive lihtnternet, software, and prittased products for individual investors, finaneidVisors, an
institutional clients and provide data on investiaferings worldwide. We also offer asset managenservices for advisors, institutions,
and retirement plan participants.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of ConsolidatiorThe accompanying consolidated financial statemietade the accounts of Morningstar, Inc. and obolly and
majority-owned subsidiaries. The assets, liabdjtend results of operations of subsidiaries irctvlwve have a controlling interest have been
consolidated. We account for investments in emstitiewhich we exercise significant influence, batribt control, using the equity method.
significant intercompany accounts and transactiae been eliminated.

Use of Estimated’he preparation of financial statements in conféymiith accounting principles generally accepteth@ United States
requires us to make estimates and assumptionaffeat the reported amounts of assets, liabilitiegenues, and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results may differ fronesle estimates.

Reclassificationsin 2006, we changed our segment reporting by dilogatock-based compensation expense to eachr ¢fime business
segments. Before 2006, stock-based compensati@nse&pvas recorded as a corporate item. We behévsehange gives our chief operating
decision maker a more complete picture of the mablfiity of each business segment. We have reflagthe 2005 and 2004 financial results
for each segment to reflect this change.

Certain other amounts reported in 2005 and 2004 baen reclassified to conform to the 2006 presienta

Cash and Cash EquivalentSash and cash equivalents consist of cash andtimeats with original maturities of three monthdess. We
state them at cost, which approximates fair markhte.

InvestmentsWe classify certain investments, consisting ofiieates of deposit, as held-to-maturity securitiegsed on our intent and ability
to hold these securities to maturity. We recordlfietmaturity investments at amortized cost on@oasolidated Balance Sheets. We classify
certain other investments, consisting primarilyeqtiity securities, as trading securities, basedurrintent to hold the securities for a short
period of time and generate profits on short-teiffeigences in price, as well as the requirementsnef of our wholly-owned subsidiaries,
which is a registered broker-dealer. We includdized and unrealized gains and losses associatédhgse investments in “Other income
(expense), net” in the Consolidated Statementaadrhe. We classify investments not classified d&-teematurity or trading securities,

which primarily consist of fixed-income securities, available-for-sale securities. We report utiredlgains and losses for available-for-sale
securities as other comprehensive income (losspfrrelated income taxes. We record both tradimdy @vailable-for-sale securities at their
fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Concentration of Credit Risko single customer is large enough to pose a sogmif credit risk to our operations or financiahdaion. For

the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 803ingle customer represented 10% or more of eusalidated revenue. If receivables
from our customers become delinquent, we begirlaatimns process. We maintain an allowance forbdiml accounts based on our estimate
of the probable losses of accounts receivable.

Property, Equipment, and DepreciaticWe state property and equipment at historical eedtpf accumulated depreciation. We depreciate
property and equipment primarily using the straiijie method based on the useful life of the asgkich ranges from three to seven years.
We amortize leasehold improvements over the remgiléiase term or their useful lives, whicheverhigreer.

Computer Software and Internal Product Developn@ogts.We capitalize certain costs in accordance with Acaer Institute of Certified
Public Accountants Statement of Position No. 98dgounting for the Costs of Computer Software Dmpad or Obtained for Internal Use
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SHA&)86,Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software tSble, Leased, or Otherwise
Marketed, and Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 08«ounting for Web Site Development Cositdernal product development costs
mainly consist of personnel costs relating to teeatopment of new Webased products and certain major enhancementsstiingxproducts
We amortize these costs on a straight-line bass the estimated economic life, which is genertillge years.

Goodwill. During the years ended December 31, 2006, 20052@dd, changes in the carrying amount of our rezbigbodwill were

primarily the result of business acquisitions. te@dance with SFAS No. 14&oodwill and Other Intangible Assetgoodwill is not
amortized; instead, goodwill is subject to at leasinnual test for impairment, or whenever indicabf impairment exist. An impairment
would occur if the carrying amount of a reportingtexceeded the fair value of that reporting u@itir reporting units are components of our
reportable segments. We performed annual impairnesigws in the fourth quarter of 2006, 2005, a@i&and did not record any
impairment losses in these years.
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Intangible AssetsWe amortize intangible assets using the straigignethod over their estimated economic usefus)ivnich range from
three to 20 years. In accordance with SFAS No. A¢dounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lonigdd Assetswe review intangible
assets for impairment whenever events or changescimmstances indicate that the carrying value maybe recoverable. If the value of
future undiscounted cash flows is less than theyicey amount of an asset, we record an impairmes# based on the excess of the carrying
amount over the fair value of the asset. No impairtiosses were recorded in 2006, 2005, or 2004.

Revenue RecognitioWe recognize revenue from subscription sales, diatyprint publications, CD-ROM software, Morningstom
Premium service, and other subscription produstsgual installments over the term of the subsoripgenerally one year. Deferred revenue
represents the portion of subscriptions billedalltected in advance which we expect to recogniZeture periods. We recognize revenue
from consulting, retirement advice, and other nobssription products and services when the produservice is delivered or, when
applicable, over the service obligation period wedi by the terms of the contract.

EITF Issue No. 06-ZFlow Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitt&biernmental Authorities Should be Presented irirtbeme
Statementallows companies the option to report taxes impaserkvenue-producing transactions (such as ssesyalue added, and some
excise taxes) on either a gross basis (includeevianues and costs) or a net basis (excluded feoBnues). Morningstar records such taxes
on a net basis; therefore, they are excluded fermanue in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

Advertising CostsAdvertising costs include expenses incurred forower print and Internet ads, search engine feeksdaact malil
campaigns. We expense advertising costs as incuktaartising expense for the years ended Dece@be2006, 2005, and 2004 totaled
$6,450,000, $5,862,000, and $6,180,000, respegtivel

Stock-Based Compensation Expelstective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No.(F2%ised 2004)Share-Based Payme{8FAS No.
123(R)), using the modified prospective transitioethod. Under this method, the provisions of SFAS N3(R) apply to all awards granted
after the date of adoption and to any unrecognizgense of awards unvested at the date of addpdised on the fair value as of the date of
grant. Prior to this date, we accounted for ouclstaptions in accordance with the fair value prionis of SFAS No. 1235tock-Based
Compensation Under SFAS No. 123, we accounted for forfeiturestock options as they occurred. SFAS No. 123égyires us to estimate
expected forfeitures at the grant date and recegrompensation cost only for those awards expéotedst. Accordingly, in the first quarter
of 2006, we recorded a cumulative effect of accimgnthange, net of tax, of $259,000 to reversertipact of stock-based compensation
expense recorded in prior years related to outsigrefock options that we estimate will not vestcBuse we previously recognized stock-
based compensation expense in accordance with 8lEA$23, the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) did notehany other impact on our
financial position or results of operations.

Prior to our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), we clfsditax benefits arising from the exercise of ktoptions as operating cash flows. SFAS
No. 123(R) requires that we classify the cash flosguilting from the tax benefit that arises whentdx deductions exceed the compense
cost recognized for those options (excess tax bshas financing cash flows. These excess taxfiteneere $13,734,000 in 2006 and
$2,446,000 in 2005; there were no excess tax liemefiorded in 2004.

Income per SharéWe compute and present income per share in acamedaith SFAS No. 12&arnings per ShareThe difference between
weighted average shares outstanding and dilutegéslatstanding reflects the dilutive effect of émgpe stock options in all periods
presented, and beginning in 2006, the dilutivectffé restricted stock units.

Income TaxesWe record deferred income taxes for the tempor#fgrdnces between the carrying amount of assetdiabilities for
financial statement purposes and the amounts wseddome tax purposes in accordance with SFAS1N8, Accounting for Income Taxes

Foreign CurrencyWe translate the financial statements of non-UuBskliaries to U.S. dollars using the period-enchaxge rate for assets
and liabilities and an average exchange rate f@mae and expenses. We use the local currencedsrthtional currency for all of our non-
U.S. subsidiaries. We record translation adjustméntnon-U.S. subsidiaries as a component of “Audlated other comprehensive income
(loss)” in the Consolidated Statements of SharedreldEquity and Comprehensive Income. We include excaaains and losses arising fr
transactions denominated in currencies other tharunctional currency in “Other income (expense); in the Consolidated Statements of
Income.

3. Initial Public Offering

In May 2005, we completed our initial public offegi of 7,612,500 shares of our common stock. Thiesees began trading on May 3, 2005
on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “NNDBnd now trade on the Nasdaq Global Select Mavkiébf these shares were sold
by affiliates of SOFTBANK Finance Corporation, aalllif owned subsidiary of SOFTBANK Corp. We did meteive any proceeds from the
sale of these shares. In addition, we grantednidemwriters the right to purchase up to an additidn141,875 shares at the initial public
offering price to cover over-allotments. In May B0the underwriters exercised their over-allotnagstton in full. We received net proceeds
of $18,108,000 based on our initial public offerprice of $18.50 per share, after deducting theeandting discounts and commissions and
$2,594,000 of offering expenses.
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4. Income Per Share

The numerator for both basic and diluted incomespere is net income. The denominator for basiocrmeper share is the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during thegeTihe dilutive effect of outstanding employeecktoptions and restricted stock unit:
reflected in the denominator for diluted income gleare using the treasury stock method.

The following table reconciles our net income dmelnumber of shares used in computing basic antediincome per share:

(in thousands, except per share amounts) 200€ 2005 2004
Basic income per share:
Income before cumulative effect of accounting clee $ 51,50 $ 31,117 $  8,80¢
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax 259 — —
Net income $ 51,76z $ 31,117 $ 8,80¢
Weighted average common shares outstanding 41,17¢ 39,39: 38,41¢
Basic income per share before cumulative effeacabunting chang $ 125 $ 0.79 $ 0.23
Cumulative per share effect of accounting changephtax 0.01 — —
Basic net income per share $ 126 $ 0.7 $ 0.23
Diluted income per share:
Income before cumulative effect of accounting clee $ 51,50 $ 31,117 $  8,80¢
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax 259 — —
Net income $ 51,76z $ 31,117 $ 8,80¢
Weighted average common shares outstan 41,17¢ 39,39z 38,41¢
Net effect of dilutive stock options and restricitdck units 5,547 5,067 3,44C
Weighted average common shares outstanding for gtingpdiluted

income per shar 46,728 44,45¢ 41,85¢
Diluted income per share before cumulative effé@azounting chang $ 1.1¢ % 070 $ 0.21
Cumulative per share effect of accounting changephtax 0.01 — —
Diluted net income per share $ 111 $ 0.70 $ 0.21

5. Segment and Geographical Area Information

We organize our operations based on products amitas sold in three primary business segmentsvitheal, Advisor, and Institutional.

Individual segmen®©Our Individual segment focuses on products andcesyor individual investors. The largest prodincthis segment
based on revenue is our U.S.-based Web site, Mgstancom, which includes our Premium Membershipise and sales of Internet
advertising space. Our Individual segment alscuithes Morningstar Equity Research, which we distelihrough several channels.
Investors can access our equity research througRremium Membership offering on Morningstar.comaddition, our equity research
is distributed through six major investment barkeeet the requirement for independent researchruithd Global Analyst Research
Settlement, as well as to several other companiesprovide our research to their affiliated final@dvisors or to individual investors.
We also offer a variety of print publications onaks and mutual funds, including our monthly nettets,Morningstar Fundinvestor
andMorningstar Stockinvestqgrand our twice-monthly publicatioMorningstar Mutual Funds We sell several annual reference guides,
including theMorningstar Funds 500theMorningstar Stocks 500theMorningstar ETFs 150 and theStocks, Bonds, Bills, and
Inflation Yearbook With the addition of Aspect Huntley in July 20@Bis segment also includes several newsletterotret
publications for Australian investors. With the #iioh of Aspect Huntley, our Individual segment nowludes revenue from both U.S.
and non-U.S. operations.

Advisor segmenOur Advisor segment focuses on products and sex¥ardinancial advisors. Key products in this seginbased on
revenue are Morningstar Advisor Workstation and Miogstar Principia. Advisor Workstation is a Welséd investment planning
system that provides financial advisors with a corhpnsive set of tools for conducting their corsibess, including investment resea
planning, and presentations. Advisor Workstatioavigilable in two editions: the Office Edition fmdependent financial advisors and
Enterprise Edition for financial advisors affilidtavith larger firms. Principia is our CD-ROM-basegestment research and planning
software for financial advisors. In addition, wdesfMorningstar Managed Portfolios, a fee-basedrditonary asset management service
that includes a series of mutual fund and exchadregted fund portfolios tailored to different invesnt time horizons and risk levels that
financial advisors can use for their clients’ tabeadnd tax-deferred accounts. Following our actjoisiof Ibbotson in March 2006, we
offer a series of NASD-reviewed Financial Commutiarzs materials that advisors can use to educagstslabout asset allocation and
demonstrate other key investment concepts, asaselhta and graphs that financial advisors candieéo use in published materials.
Following our acquisition of Aspect Huntley, thisgsnent also includes software that we sell to firemplanners and other market
participants in Australia.
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¢ Institutional segmentOur Institutional segment focuses on productssamdices for institutions, including banks, inswoa companies,
mutual fund companies, brokerage firms, media firamgl retirement plan providers and sponsors. Keglycts and services in this
segment based on revenue are Investment Consuititigh focuses on investment monitoring and adsmtadion for funds of funds,
including mutual funds and variable annuities; hised Data, a set of investment data spanning Hdaiabases, available through
electronic data feeds; Retirement Advice, includimg Morningstar Retirement Manager and Advicebiotson platforms; Morningstar
Direct, a Web-based institutional research platftrat provides advanced research and tools ondtim@lete range of securities in
Morningstar’s global database; Licensed Tools aodtént, a set of online tools and editorial contiegtigned for institutions to use in
their Web sites and software; Investment Profile&&ides, which are designed for institutions to imssommunicating investment
information to individual investors; the Morningstannuity Research Center (formerly VARDS Onlinaid Morningstar EnCorr, an
asset allocation software package (acquired witlotdon). With the addition of Aspect Huntley, thkegment now includes financial
information as well as other data feeds on Austraditocks which we sell to stock brokers, informragroviders, and financial Web sit
The Institutional segment also includes the hedge find separate account database division weraddgudm InvestorForce in August
2006.

We measure the operating results of these segrasésl on operating income (loss), including arcation of corporate costs. We include
intersegment revenue and expenses in segment iatiorm We sell services and products between segmagpredetermined rates primarily
based on cost. The recovery of intersegment castag/n as “Intersegment revenue.”

In the first quarter of 2006, we changed our sedmegporting by allocating stock-based compensatiqense to each of our three business
segments; before 2006, stock-based compensati@nsgvas recorded as a corporate item. We beliévetiange gives our chief operating
decision maker a more complete picture of the mablflity of each business segment. The 2005 and #if@ncial results for each segment
have been reclassified to reflect this change.

Our segment accounting policies are the same ag thescribed in Note 2, except for the capitatizatind amortization of internal product
development costs and amortization of intangibetss We exclude these items from our operatinmeagresults to provide our chief
operating decision maker with a better indicatibeach segmert’ability to generate cash flow. This informatisrone of the criteria used
our chief operating decision maker in determiniogvhio allocate resources to each segment. We iadhel capitalization and amortization
internal product development costs, the amortipatitintangible assets, and the elimination ofredégment revenue and expense in the
Corporate Items and Eliminations category to aratthe consolidated financial information. Ourreegt disclosures include the business
segment information provided to our chief operatiegision maker on a recurring basis, and, thezefee do not present balance sheet
information, including goodwill or other intangilsleby segment.

The following tables show selected segment datéhtoyears ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004:

2006 Segment Data

Corporate Items

($000) Individual Advisor Institutional & Eliminations Total
Revenue

External customet $ 77,171 $ 94,63 $ 143,36¢ $ — $ 315,17¢

Intersegment 3,63 59 2,71€ (6,310)
Total revenue 80,70¢ 94,69 146,08t (6,310) 315,17¢
Operating expense, excluding

depreciation and amortizati 54,254 63,62( 102,831 (6,607) 214,09¢
Stocl-based compensatic 2,30¢€ 2,64t 3,624 — 8,57¢
Depreciation and amortization 1,22E 1,695 2,38€ 9,66¢ 14,97¢
Operating income (loss) $ 22,921 $ 26,73 $ 37,244 $ (9,372) $ 77,521
Capital expenditure $ 313 $ 453 $ 1,255 $ 2,701 $ 4,722
U.S. revenut $ 270,89¢
Non-U.S. revenut $ 44,27¢

As of Dec. 3!

U.S. long-lived assets $ 11,777
Non-U.S. lon¢-lived asset: $ 4,09z
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2005 Segment Data

Corporate Items

($000) Individual Advisor Institutional & Eliminations Total
Revenue

External custometr $ 60,64 $ 72,68: $ 93,78¢ $ — $ 227,11«

Intersegment 2,80E 6 2,15¢ (4,970) —
Total revenue 63,44¢ 72,68¢ 95,947 (4,970) 227,11«
Operating expense, excluding

depreciation and amortizati 43,90z 53,29( 69,14( (4,860) 161,47:
Stocl-based compensatic 3,36¢ 3,27¢ 4,252 — 10,89t
Depreciation and amortization 1,172 1,507 2,011 3,57€ 8,26€
Operating income (loss) $ 15,008 $ 14,617 $ 20,54¢ $ (3,68€) $ 46,48(
Capital expenditure $ 305 $ 709 $ 193¢ $ 4,49¢ $ 7,451
U.S. revenut $ 197,67:
Non-U.S. revenut $ 29,44;

___As of Dec. 3.
U.S. long-lived assets $ 13,89¢
Non-U.S. lon¢-lived asset: $ 3,461
2004 Segment Data
Corporate Items

($000) Individual Advisor Institutional & Eliminations Total
Revenue

External customet $ 44.47¢ $ 59,32¢ $ 75,85¢ $ — $ 179,65¢

Intersegment 2,51¢ 1,554 2,54¢ (6,620) —
Total revenue 46,99¢ 60,88( 78,40z (6,620) 179,65¢
Operating expense, excluding stock-

based compensation, depreciation,

and amortizatiol 38,13( 45,311 62,49¢ (8,962) 136,97¢
Stocl-based compensatic 5,222 4,967 6,534 — 16,72
Depreciation and amortization 1,041 1,602 2,23¢ 3,342 8,22E
Operating income (loss) $ 2,602 $ 8,99¢ $ 7,135 $ (1,000)$ 17,73¢
Capital expenditure $ 100 $ 622 $ 722 % 6,28€ $ 7,73C
U.S. revenut $ 154,24¢
Non-U.S. revenut $ 25,41C

___Asof Dec. 3:

U.S. long-lived assets $ 16,01¢€
Non-U.S. lon¢-lived asset: $ 1,50&
6. Investments
We classify our investment portfolio, which is parily invested in fixed-income securities, as falk
($000) Dec. 31, 200 Dec. 31, 200
Available-for-sale $ 63,122 $ 58,761
Held-to-maturity 2,33¢ 420
Trading securities 2,15C 1,642

Total $ 67,611 $ 60,82

75




The following table shows the cost, unrealized gdliosses), and fair values related to investmeatsified as available-for-sale and held-to-
maturity:

Dec. 31, 2006 Dec. 31, 2005

Unrealized Unrealized Fair Unrealized Unrealized Fair

($000) Cost Gain Loss Value Cost Gain Loss Value
Available-for-sale:

Auction-rate securitie $ — $ — $ —$ — $ 1629 $ — $ — $ 16,29¢

Corporate bond 31,00¢ 10 (9) 31,007 18,42( 2 (57) 18,36%

Government obligation 31,587 4 (59) 31,53 24.,24¢ — (147) 24,09¢

Commercial paper 583 — — 583 — — — —

Total $ 63,17¢ $ 14 $ (68) $63,12- $ 58,96 $ 2 % (204) $ 58,761
Held-to-maturity:

Certificate of deposit $ 2,33¢ $ — $ — $ 233 $ 420 % — $ — $ 420

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, investments witkalized losses for greater than a 12-month geviere not material to the
Consolidated Balance Sheets and were not deenfeVéother than temporary declines in value.

The table below shows the cost and estimated &direvof investments classified as available-foe-said held-to-maturity based on their
contractual maturities. The expected maturitiesesfain fixed-income securities may differ fromith@ntractual maturities because some of
these holdings have call features that allow theeass the right to prepay obligations without ptesl

Dec. 31, 2006 Dec. 31, 2005
($000) Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value
Available-for-sale:
Due in one year or le: $ 35817 $ 35,76¢ $ 25,82 $ 25,74(
Due in one to three yea 27,35¢ 27,35¢ 16,84~ 16,72%
Due in greater than ten years — — 16,29¢ 16,29¢
Total $ 63,17¢ $ 63,127 $ 58,96 $ 58,761
Held-to-maturity:
Due in one year or less $ 2,33¢ % 2,33¢ $ 420 % 420

As of December 31, 2005, securities with contrdaneturities of greater than 10 years consisteauation-rate securities. Auction-rate
securities are long-term variable rate bonds tieshbrt-term interest rates that are reset thr@amghuction process that occurs approximately
every seven to 35 days. As of December 31, 2006 yaMenger hold auction-rate securities.

Net unrealized gains on trading securities incluideaur Consolidated Statements of Income were 06 $18,000, and $71,000 in 20
2005, and 2004, respectively.

The following table shows the net realized gainsgés) arising from sales of our investments rexcbid our Consolidated Statements of
Income:

($000) 200€ 2005 2004
Realized gain $ 25 $ 36 $ 33
Realized losses (2) (4) (2)
Realized gains, net $ 23 % 32 $ 31

7. Acquisitions, Goodwill, and Other Intangible Assts
Institutional Hedge Fund and Separate Accounts Basa Division of InvestorForce, Ir

In August 2006, we acquired the institutional hefigel and separate account database division ektoviorce, Inc. (InvestorForce), a
financial software and data integration companyetas Wayne, Pennsylvania, for $10,050,000 in ceslyding expenses directly related to
the acquisition. We have included the financiattssof this acquisition in our Consolidated Finah&tatements beginning on August 1,
2006. This acquisition included the Altvest datahame of the largest databases covering hedgs famehagers, and data, as well as
InvestorForce’s extensive institutional separatoant database. It also included several onlineveoé applications for manager search,
research, and reporting. This acquisition allowsdoustrengthen and expand our proprietary investuiata.

The following table summarizes our preliminary aition of the purchase price to the estimatedvidines of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the date of the acquisition:
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($000)

Accounts receivable $ 354
Intangible asset 5,29C
Goodwill 6,02C
Deferred revenue (1,614)
Total purchase price $ 10,05(

The preliminary purchase price allocation inclu#i82290,000 of acquired intangible assets. Thesstsaasxlude technology-based assets of
$2,500,000 that will be amortized over a weightegrage period of 5 years; custonfersed assets of $2,350,000 that will be amortixed a
weighted average period of 5 years; trade nam&823,000 that will be amortized over a weightedrage period of 4 years; and a non-
compete agreement of $50,000 that will be amortmest 3 years.

The value assigned to goodwill and intangiblesdf,$10,000 is deductible for U.S. income tax puesasver a period of 15 years.

If the acquisition of the database division of IsteeForce had occurred as of January 1, 2005 ad@, 28venue, operating income, net
income, and basic and diluted income per sharedvaot have been significantly different from thecamts reported in 2006 and 2005.

Aspect Huntley Pty Limite

In July 2006, we acquired Aspect Huntley Pty Lidi{&spect Huntley), a leading provider of equitfoimation, research, and financial tre
publishing in Australia. We have included the resof Aspect Huntley’s operations in our ConsokdbFinancial Statements beginning on
July 25, 2006. This acquisition fit our growth $é@y to expand our products and services outsiel®tiited States and allowed us to combine
Morningstar’s expertise in fund research and infation with Aspect Huntley’s equity research, infation, and financial media expertise in
Australia.

The purchase price of $23,384,000 represents Aiastr$30,000,000 in cash (of which Australian $2,000 will be paid in the third quarter
of 2007), and includes transaction costs dire@lsited to the acquisition and post-closing adjustmdn 2006, the cash paid for Aspect
Huntley, including transaction costs and post-cigsidjustments, was $20,914,000 (net of cash atjuir

The following table summarizes our preliminary aition of the purchase price to the estimatedviines of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the date of the acquisition:

($000)
Cash $ 922
Accounts receivabl 671
Other current asse 324
Fixed asset 273
Intangible asset 11,01¢
Goodwill 17,274
Deferred revenu (5,141)
Other current liabilitie (1,850
Income taxes payable (108)
Total purchase price $ 23,38¢

The preliminary purchase price allocation inclu@i#4,019,000 of acquired intangible assets. Theset@giclude trade names of $6,622,000
that will be amortized over a weighted averagequedf 10 years; technology-based assets (primatlyding a database) of $2,593,000 that
will be amortized over a weighted average perioti®fears; and customer-related assets of $1,804n@@ will be amortized over 10 years.

The goodwill we recorded of $17,274,000 is not dithle for U.S. or Australian income tax purposes.

If the acquisition of Aspect Huntley had occurredoé January 1, 2005 and 2006, revenue, operatoapie, net income, and basic and dill
income per share would not have been significatiffgerent from the amounts reported in 2006 and5200

Ibbotson Associates, In

In March 2006, we acquired Ibbotson Associates, (lhbotson), a firm specializing in asset allooatresearch and services, for $83,000,000
in cash, plus an additional $3,470,000 in castwiarking capital and other items. We have includeglresults of Ibbotson’s operations in our
Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on Mar@006. This acquisition complemented our grostthtegies in several key areas,
including investment consulting, managed retirena@ebunts, and institutional and advisor
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software.

The following table summarizes our allocation &f fhurchase price to the estimated fair valuesea#isets acquired and liabilities assum
the date of the acquisition:

($000)
Cash $ 103
Accounts receivabl 6,77C
Income tax benefits, n 13,047
Other current asse 1,39¢
Fixed asset 1,407
Other asset 156
Intangible asset 55,28(
Goodwill 46,221
Deferred revenu (20,772)
Accrued liabilities (4,882)
Deferred tax liability, ne (21,497)
Other non-current liabilities (761)
Total purchase price $ 86,47(

As part of the purchase price allocation, we reedrdn asset of $13,047,000, primarily for the inedax benefit related to payment for the
cancellation of Ibbotson’s stock options. This ceslome tax benefit reduced the amount of cashaie for income taxes in 2006. This cash
income tax benefit did not impact our income tagense or net income in 2006.

The purchase price allocation also includes $55@#Dof acquired intangible assets. These assdtglmcustomer-related assets of
$34,200,000 that will be amortized over a weighdedrage period of 9 years; intellectual propemgl(iding patents and trade names) of
$17,710,000 that will be amortized over a weigtaedrage period of 10 years; technology-based asE88070,000 that will be amortized
over a weighted average period of 5 years; anchacompete agreement of $300,000 that will be ameditover 5 years. The deferred tax
liability of $21,497,000 results primarily becaibe amortization expense for these intangible assetot deductible for U.S. income tax
purposes.

Based on the purchase price allocation, we recagdé221,000 of goodwill. The goodwill we recordsdhot deductible for U.S. income tax
purposes. SFAS No. 108ccounting for Income Taxegrohibits recognition of a deferred tax assdtadnility for goodwill temporary
differences if goodwill is not amortizable and detilole for tax purposes.

Based on plans in place at the time of acquisitismrecorded a liability of $596,000 for severaand $761,000 for lease termination costs,
net of estimated sub-lease income. As of Decembe?2®6, we have made substantially all of theteelseverance payments. We expect to
pay the lease termination costs beginning in M&@b8, which is when we plan to vacate IbbotsonfEefspace.

The following unaudited pro forma information pretsea summary of our Consolidated Statements ahecfor the years ended December
31, 2006 and 2005 as if we had acquired Ibbotsari danuary 1, 2005 and 2006. In calculating tlefprma information below, we made an
adjustment to eliminate stock-based compensatiparese previously recorded by Ibbotson based orettagnition and measurement
principles of APB Opinion No. 2%\ ccounting for Stock Issued to Employeasd related interpretations. We also made arstadpnt to
record stock-based compensation expense for anatstil value of stock options assumed to be graatdabotson employees. This
adjustment assumes the stock option awards were maday 2005, consistent with the timing of ounaal equity grant, and vest over a
four-year period. In 2005, we recorded stock-basadpensation expense based on the recognition andurement principles of SFAS No.
123,Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
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Year Ended December 3:

($000) 2006 2005
Revenue $ 322,56¢ $ 266,621
Operating incom: 77,86¢ 42,03%
Income before cumulative effect of accounting chee 51,47¢ 27,007
Net income 51,737 27,007
Basic income per shar

Income before cumulative effect of accounting clee $ 125 $ 0.69
Net income $ 126 $ 0.69
Diluted income per shar

Income before cumulative effect of accounting clee $ 110 $ 0.61
Net income $ 111 $ 0.61

Variable Annuity Research and Data Service

In January 2005, we acquired Variable Annuity Redeand Data Service (VARDS) from Finetre Corpanatior $8,192,000 in cash,
including costs directly related to the acquisitidhe results of the VARDS operations have beeludsd in our Consolidated Financial
Statements beginning in January 2005.

The following table summarizes the allocation & flurchase price to the estimated fair valuesebtisets acquired and liabilities assume
the date of the acquisition:

($000)
Accounts receivable $ 639
Other asset 57
Intangible asset 6,37C
Goodwill 3,084
Liabilities, primarily deferred revenue (1,95¢)
Total purchase price $ 8,192

The acquired intangible assets include $5,700,0@dstomerrelated assets, consisting primarily of acquirestmmer contracts; $430,000
technology-based assets, consisting of a datalnalsdesveloped software; and $240,000 related tolmupplationships. Both the acquired
intangible assets and the acquired goodwill areickiiale for U.S. income tax purposes.

Morningstar Norway

In February 2004, we purchased the remaining 51%arhingstar Norway that we did not previously owWime purchase price consisted of
$210,000 in cash and $69,000 of other consideraBdnr to this transaction, we accounted for owestment in Morningstar Norway using
the equity method.

Goodwill

The following table shows the changes in our gotidwailances from January 1, 2005 to December 30620

($000)
Balance as of January 1, 2005 $  14,40¢
Gooduwill acquired related to VARD 3,084
Other, primarily currency translation 8
Balance as of December 31, 2005 17,50(C
Goodwill acquired related to Ibbots: 46,221
Gooduwill acquired related to Aspect Huntl 17,27¢
Gooduwill acquired related to the database divisibmvestorForce 6,02C
Reversal of valuation allowances related to-U.S. deferred tax assets, primarily related toopetrating losse (1,200
Other, primarily currency translation 865
Balance as of December 31, 2006 $ 86,68(

At the date of acquisition of certain of our norSUoperations, we recorded a valuation allowaneinagthe deferred tax assets related to the
acquired entities’ deductible temporary differenaad net operating losses. In 2006, we reversest thaluation allowances as we considered
that it is more likely than not that these tax H#seavill be realized. In accordance with SFAS NO9, the tax benefits for those items that are
first recognized in financial statements afterdlkgquisition date (by eliminating the
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valuation allowance) are applied first to reducg goodwill related to the acquisition. We therefogeorded a reduction to goodwill in the
amount of $1,200,000 related to the reduction e$¢hvaluation allowances.

We did not record any goodwill impairment losse2®06, 2005, or 2004, respectively.
Intangible Asset

The following table summarizes our intangible asset

As of December 31, 2006 As of December 31, 2005
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Accumulated Useful Life Accumulated Useful Life
($000) Gross _Amortization Net (years) Gross Amortization Net (years)
Intellectual propert $ 26,18:% (2,455)$ 23,73( 10$ 1132 % (405) 727 7
Custome-related asse! 45,01¢ (4,410) 40,60¢ 10 6,571 (597) 5,974 18
Supplier relationship 240 (24) 216 20 240 (22) 228 20
Technolog-based asse 9,177 (1,180) 7,997 9 430 (108) 322 4
Non-competition agreement 350 (57) 293 5 — — — o
Total intangible assets $ 80,961% (8,126€)$ 72,841 10$% 837t % (1,122)$ 7,251 16

We amortize intangible assets using the straigiet#ethod over their expected economic useful likesortization expense for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $0@0)4$692,000, and $287,000, respectively.

As of December 31, 2006, we estimate that aggregatetization expense for intangible assets wilb8¢29,000 in 2007; $9,458,000 in
2008; $9,113,000 in 2009; $8,188,000 in 2010; and&5,000 in 2011.

8. Investments in Unconsolidated Entities
Our investments in unconsolidated entities commsistarily of the following:

Morningstar Japan K.KIn April 1998, we entered into an agreement witlftl&mk Corporation to form a joint venture, Morndtar

Japan K.K. (MJKK), which develops and markets patsland services customized for the Japanese mérkkine 2000, MJKK became a
public company, and its shares are traded on tla&aStock Exchange, “Hercules Market,” using thkei 4765. Subsequent to MIKK’s
initial public offering, the joint venture agreemdretween us and Softbank Corporation was termihdtgt we continued to hold shares of
MJKK stock. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, waetvapproximately 35% of MJKK. We account for aurastment in MJKK using the
equity method. The book value of our investmen¥iKK totaled $16,693,000 and $14,884,000 as of D 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. The market value of our investmeritliitKK was approximately Japanese Yen 10.2 billippfoximately U.S. $85,482,000) as
of December 31, 2006 and Japanese Yen 9.7 bilipproximately U.S. $82,103,000) as of Decembe0805.

In the third quarter of 2006, MJKK recorded a galated to the sale of shares in a subsidiarytglrpublic offering. Our share of the pre-tax
gain was approximately $990,000 and is includ€etEnuity in net income of unconsolidated entities,’our Consolidated Statements of
Income.

Morningstar Korea, Ltc. In June 2000, we entered into a joint ventureagrent with Shinheung Securities Co., Ltd. and SEFNK
Finance Corporation to establish a Korean limitadility company, Morningstar Korea Ltd. (MorningstKorea). Morningstar Korea
provides financial information and services forestors in South Korea. Our ownership interest anfit@nd loss sharing interest in
Morningstar Korea was 40% as of December 31, 20@6Cecember 31, 2005. We account for this investmsing the equity method. Our
investment totaled $1,415,000 and $1,129,000 &eoémber 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Other Investments in Unconsolidated Entitiés of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the book valweir other investments in unconsolidated
entities totaled $551,000 and $342,000, respegtiagd primarily includes our investments in Mogstar Danmark A/S (Morningstar
Denmark) and Morningstar Sweden AB (Morningstar &svg. In August 2001, we entered into a joint vemtagreement with Phosphorus
A/S to establish Morningstar Denmark, which develapd markets products and services customizatiéddanish market. In April 2001,
we entered into a joint venture agreement with §iaden Citygate AB to establish Morningstar Swedadrich develops and markets
products and services customized for the SwediskehaOur ownership interest in both MorningstamBrrk and Morningstar Sweden was
approximately 25% as of December 31, 2006 and 28@5account for our investments in Morningstar Darland Morningstar Sweden
using the equity method.

80




The following table shows condensed combined fir@ricformation, a portion of which is unauditedy four investments in unconsolidated
entities.

($000) 2006 2005 2004
Revenue $ 18,894 $ 15,06¢ $ 9,64¢
Operating incom: 4,98t 2,94C 1,14<
Net income 6,97¢ 3,17¢ 656
($000) Dec. 31, 200 Dec. 31, 200 Dec. 31, 200
Current assel $ 57,32: $ 49 53¢ $ 50,132
Total asset 64,05¢ 55,23¢ 55,294
Current liabilities 3,781 2,792 1,53¢
Total liabilities 4,122 3,071 1,53¢

9. Property, Equipment, and Capitalized Software

The following table shows our property, equipmamigl capitalized software summarized by major catego

($000) Dec. 31, 200 Dec. 31, 200
Computer equipmet $ 22,83 $ 19,794
Capitalized softwar 21,61z 20,40¢
Furniture and fixture 4,461 2,71C
Leasehold improvemen 13,03¢ 13,52¢
Telephone equipmel 1,42¢ 1,277
Construction in progres 762 36
Other - 296
Property, equipment, and capitalized softwarepat ¢ 64,12t 58,04z
Less accumulated depreciation (48,25¢€) (40,687)
Property, equipment, and capitalized software, net $ 15,86¢ $ 17,35k

Depreciation and leasehold amortization expensgetdt$7,971,000, $7,574,000, and $7,938,000, i6,20005, and 2004, respectively.
10. Operating Leases

The following table shows our minimum future rerdammitments due in each of the next five yearsthatkafter for all non-cancelable
operating leases, consisting primarily of leaseoffice space:

Minimum Future Rental Commitments ($000)
2007 $ 4,30¢
2008 7,44¢€
2009 7,00z
2010 6,98¢
2011 6,93C
Thereafter 68,751
Total $ 101,42¢

In December 2005, we signed an agreement to lggwexdamately 210,000 square feet of new office spfac our corporate headquarters and
U.S. operations in Chicago, lllinois. The leaseibg@ 2008 and has a term of 15 years. The minirfutare lease payments are included in
the table above.

Rent expense for 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $6,808850234,000, and $4,155,000, respectively, inothxes, insurance, and other
operating costs.

Deferred rent in the amount of $1,143,000 and $8WiBat December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectivdteseto build-out and rent abatement
allowances received, which are being amortized stnaaght-line basis over the remaining portiortha original term of the lease. Deferred
rent is included in “Other current liabilities” afi@ther long-term liabilities” on our Consolidat&hlance Sheets, as appropriate.

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, we have recaxdeabset retirement obligation of $98,000 for cas&t®xpect to incur in 2009 to return
office space modified by leasehold improvemenisstoriginal condition in accordance with the leaggeement. The asset retirement
obligation is recorded in Other Long-Term Liabégion our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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11. Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Prior to November 2004, we granted stock optiordeawarious plans, including the 1993 Stock Op#tam (the 1993 Plan), the 2000
Morningstar Stock Option Plan (the 2000 Plan), #r@d2001 Morningstar Stock Option Plan (the 20@GnRIlIn general, options granted ur
the 1993 Plan vest ratably over a five-year peaiod options granted under the 2000 Plan and th& PR vest ratably over a four-year
period; options under all three plans expire 10yadter the date of grant.

In November 2004, we adopted the 2004 Stock Ineemlan. The 2004 Stock Incentive Plan amends estdtes the 1993 Plan, the 2000
Plan, and the 2001 Plan (collectively, the Pri@mB). Under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, wemwatlgrant any additional options under any
of the Prior Plans, and any shares subject to amchunder any of the Prior Plans that are forfeitaghceled, settled, or otherwise terminated
without a distribution of shares, or withheld byingonnection with the exercise of options or @dyment of any required income tax
withholding, will not be available for awards undke 2004 Stock Incentive Plan. The 2004 Stockritice Plan provides for grants of
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted lstoestricted stock units, and performance shaaf our employees are eligible for awards
under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan. Our non-emg@ajirectors are also eligible for awards unde2®@4 Stock Incentive Plan. Joe
Mansueto, our chairman and chief executive offidegs not participate in the 2004 Stock Incentikea Br the Prior Plans.

Since the adoption of the 2004 Stock Incentive Rlanhave granted stock options and, beginnin@@62restricted stock units. Stock
options granted under the 2004 Stock Incentive Béarerally vest ratably over a four-year period axpire 10 years after the date of grant.
Almost all of the options granted under the 200gcktncentive Plan have a premium feature in with&éhexercise price increases over the
term of the option at a rate equal to theyg@+ Treasury bond yield as of the date of graastitted stock units represent the right to rexe
share of Morningstar common stock when that urstseRestricted stock units granted under the B0dk Incentive Plan generally vest
ratably over a four-year period. The number of ehavailable for future grants under our 2004 Stockntive Plan as of December 31, 2006
and 2005 was 2,827,006 and 2,989,322, respectively.

In February 1999, we entered into an Incentive IS@ption Agreement and a Nonqualified Stock Opt#@meement under the 1999 Incent
Stock Option Plan (the 1999 Plan) with Don Phillips officer of Morningstar. Under these agreememgsgranted Don options to purchase
1,500,000 shares of common stock at an exercise pfi$2.77 per share, equal to the fair valubeagrant date. These options are fully
vested and expire in February 2009. On the datgasft, 1,138,560 options were fully exercisable anédditional 36,144 were scheduled to
become exercisable each year from 1999 through.2008f December 31, 2006 and 2005, there werel740and 869,174 options
remaining to be exercised, respectively.

Accounting for Sto-Based Compensation Awards

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No.(R)3Share-Based Paymentising the modified prospective transition metHexdor to
this date, we accounted for our equity plans iroedance with the fair value provisions of SFAS MIB3, Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to our initial public offering in May 2005,enaccounted for stock options granted under th& P3&n and the 1999 Plan using the
liability method in accordance with SFAS No. 128#ese these plans allowed for cash settlemeneatgtion holder’s election subject to
certain conditions. Under the liability method, aecounted for options as a liability that was meageach period using the fair value per
share of our common stock. We recorded changédweitiability resulting from changes in the fair walof our common stock in our
Consolidated Statements of Income. As a resultiofratial public offering, we are no longer recgirto settle options under the 1993 Plan
and the 1999 Plan in cash. Upon our initial pubffering, we valued the liability using a fair valof $18.50 per share, which was equal t
fair value of our common stock at the time of mitial public offering. We reclassified stock optgmaccounted for as current liabilities of
$16,707,000 and long-term liabilities of $24,88® @6 additional paid-in capital. In addition, besawll of the options previously accounted
for under the liability method were fully vested lharch 31, 2005, we have not recorded any additiexense for these options in
subsequent periods.

Conversion of Morningstar Europe Options

Prior to 2004, Morningstar Europe, a majority-owsedbsidiary of Morningstar, granted approximateB0D,000 options to acquire common
stock of Morningstar Europe to certain of its enygles. The options vested over a four-year periodname had been exercised as of
December 31, 2004. We accounted for these opti®es|aity instruments in accordance with the prowisiof SFAS No. 123. In

December 2004, the Board of Directors authorizedcdmcellation of the Morningstar Europe optiomad the exchange of all options
outstanding under the Morningstar Europe optiom jpba 81,189 options granted under the 2004 Stockntive Plan. The conversion was
accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 123 adahdt result in any incremental stock-based corspton expense.
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The following table summarizes our stock-based amsption expense:

($000) 200€ 2005 2004
Stocl-based compensation expense under the liability ook $ — 3 2,81C $ 8,963
Stock-based compensation expense under the eqgeityoch 8,57¢ 8,08¢ 7,76C
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 857t $ 10,89t $ 16,72:

The deferred tax benefit related to the stock-baseapensation expense above was $3,030,000, $a0B3&nd $3,084,000 in 2006, 2005,
and 2004, respectively.

We estimate forfeitures of all employee stock-bamsdrds and recognize compensation cost only fmettawards expected to vest. We
determine forfeiture rates based on historical 6gpee. Estimated forfeitures are adjusted to ac¢twteiture experience as needed.

Restricted Stock Uni

We measure the fair value of our restricted statkswon the date of grant based on the market pfitiee underlying common stock as of the
close of trading on the day prior to grant. We aimerthat value to stock-based compensation expaes®f estimated forfeitures, ratably
over the vesting period. We granted restrictedkstmits for the first time in May 2006. The totabgt date fair value of restricted stock units
granted through December 31, 2006 was approximé&te2y302,000.

The following table summarizes restricted stock antivity in 2006:

2006
Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Restricted Stock Units Shares Fair Value
Nonvested shar—January 1, 200 —
Granted 280,26: $ 43.9C
Vested — —
Forfeited (19,807) $ 4241
Nonvested shares—December 31, 2006 260,46 $ 44.01

As of December 31, 2006, the total amount of urgataed stock-based compensation expense relatedtricted stock units was
approximately $8,351,000, which is expected todmognized over an average period of approximat2lyndnths.

Stock Option Fair Value

We estimate the fair value of our stock optionghendate of grant using a Black-Scholes optionipgicnodel and amortize that value to
stock-based compensation expense ratably overptient vesting period. The weighted average falue of options granted during 2006,
2005, and 2004 using this model was $14.16 peesBar62 per share, and $9.39 per share, respgctiVe estimated the fair value of these
options on the date of grant using the followingghéed average assumptions:

200€ 2005 2004
Expected life (years) 6.25 7.0 7.0
Expected volatility (% 43.C% 50.C% 50.0%
Dividend yield (%) — — —
Interest rate (% 4.33% 4.04% 4.24%
Expected exercise pri $ 4531 $ 262 $ 19.67
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Expected lifeThe expected life represents the period over wthietstock options are expected to be outstandiagatse we have limited
historical information regarding stock option exses since becoming a public company in May 2002006 we determined the expected
life using the “shortcut method” described in Staffcounting Bulletin Topic 14.D.2, which is basadacalculation to arrive at the midpoint
between the vesting date and the end of the cdnaiterm.

Expected volatility. The volatility factor used in our assumptionbésed on an average of the historical stock pa€asgroup of our peers
over the most recent period commensurate with xpeated term of the stock option award. Becausanea recently public company with
limited historical data on the price of our stoale do not base our volatility assumption on our @hatk price.

Dividend yield. We do not intend to pay dividends on our comntooksfor the foreseeable future. Accordingly, wedia dividend yield of
zero in our assumptions.

Interest rate. We based the risk-free interest rate used iraesumptions on the implied yield available on U/®asury zero-coupon issues
with a remaining term that approximates the stquiom award’s expected term.

Expected exercise pricOptions granted in 2006, 2005, and 2004 have irgkarcise prices that increase over the termebitions at a rate
equal to the 10-year Treasury bond rate as of dibe af grant. The expected exercise price includekle option pricing models for these
options was calculated using the applicable estthlite 10-year Treasury bond rate.

Stock Option Activity
The following tables summarize stock option acyivdr our various stock option grants. The firdileaincludes activity for options granted at

an exercise price below the fair value per shauofcommon stock on the grant date; the second tatludes activity for all other option
grants.

2006 2005 2004

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Options Granted At an Exercise Price Average Average Average
Below the Fair Value Per Share on the Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise
Grant Date Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Options outstandir—beginning of yea 3,338,95¢ $ 10.5C 3,557,68. $ 10.3¢ 1,936,62: $ 6.78
Granted — — — — 1,622,53¢ 14.7C
Cancelec (73,999) 15.7C (42,65¢) 14.84 (1,45E) 8.57
Exercised (393,65() 7.41 (176,06¢€) 13.0¢ (25) 8.57
Options outstanding—end of year 2,871,31( 11.11 3,338,95¢ 10.5C 3,557,68: 10.3¢
Options exercisabl 2,11353! $ 9.81 2,102,24° $ 8.31 1,760,89: $ 7.07

2006 2005 2004

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

All Other Option Grants, Excluding Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise
Activity Shown Above Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Options outstandir—beginning of yea 7,795,84¢ $ 11.9¢ 7,394,24¢ $ 10.67 7,556,36: $ 10.62
Granted 46,551 34.65 1,077,08: 19.64 — —
Cancelec (85,697) 21.71 (98,451) 13.7¢ (80,705) 11.6¢
Exercised (1,658,10%) 10.4€ (577,037) 10.24 (81,417) 5.45
Options outstanding—end of year 6,098,59: 12.5¢5 7,795,84¢ 11.9¢ 7,394,24¢ 10.67
Options exercisabl 5142,32° $ 11.3¢ 6,193,67( $ 10.7¢ 6,011,68: $ 10.61

The total intrinsic value (difference between tharket value of our stock on the date of exercigbtha exercise price of the option) of

options exercised during 2006, 2005, and 2004 \8&s6$5,000, $13,095,000, and $23,000, respectively.
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Stock Options Outstanding and Exercisable

The table below shows additional information fotiops outstanding and options exercisable as okber 31, 2006:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Remaining Weighted Aggregate Remaining Weighted Aggregate
Outstanding Contractual  Average Intrinsic Contractual  Average Intrinsic
Exercise Value Exercisable Exercise Value
Range of Exercise Price Shares Life (years) Price ($000) Shares Life (years) Price ($000)
$2.00- $2.77 1,752,77! 1.68%$ 253% 74,53( 1,672,91- 166$ 252% 71,14¢
$8.57- $14.70 4,973,16° 40C 12.64 161,17¢ 4,798,20¢ 391  12.7¢ 154,79¢
$16.05- $36.16 2,243,96. 8.12 18.3¢€ 59,85( 784, 74( 8.03 17.2¢ 21,83:
$2.00- $36.16 8,969,90:« 4.58 12.1C$ 295,55¢ 7,255,86: 3.84 10.9c$ 247,78(
Vested or Expected to Vest
$2.00- $36.16 8,892,411t 454% 12.04% 293,54:

The aggregate intrinsic value in the tables abepeasents the total pretax intrinsic value, basedw closing stock price of $45.05 on
December 29, 2006 (the last day of trading in 20@®jch would have been received by the option éiddhad all option holders exercised
their options as of that date.

As of December 31, 2006, the total amount of urgatzed stock-based compensation expense relagtddk options was approximately
$11,362,000, which is expected to be recognized aweeighted average period of approximately 22 than

12. Related Party Transactions

In 1989, under our 1989 Nonqualified Stock OptitenRthe 1989 Plan), we granted options to purchas@0,000 shares of common stock at
an exercise price of $0.075 per share, equal téafhealue at date of issue, to Don Phillips, &ficer of Morningstar. These options were not
exercised and expired in February 1999. In conjanawith the expiration of options granted under 1989 Plan, we entered into a Deferred
Compensation Agreement (the Agreement) with Dordédithe terms of the Agreement, on any date thaixbecises the right to purchase
shares under the 1999 Plan, we shall pay him §&68hare in the form of cash or, at our electitiares of common stock. If on the date of
purchase the fair value of Morningstar's stocketolv $2.77 per share, the amount paid per shatdeileduced based on the terms of the
Agreement. Our obligation to pay deferred compeosatill not be increased by any imputed interastarnings amount.

In May 2006, Don entered into a Rule 10bBlan contemplating the sale of up to 450,000eshtr be acquired through stock option exer:
during 2006 and 2007. Upon exercise of these stptikns, we will make payments to him, as presdibye the Agreement, which, if all
450,000 stock options are exercised, would totZ2 #1,500. These payments would reduce the liatdbgociated with the Agreement. In
2006, Don exercised 159,000 options, of which 1d0@@ere sold under his 10b5-1 plan. As of Decertie2006 and 2005, a liability of
$1,963,000 and $2,340,000, respectively, for theeAment is recorded in our Consolidated BalancetShprimarily classified as “Other
current liabilities.” The reduction in the liabiliteflects amounts paid to Don in 2006 in accordanith the Agreement.

13. Defined Contribution Profit-Sharing Plan

We sponsor a defined contribution 401(k) plan, Whatlows our U.S.-based employees to voluntarilytdbute pre-tax dollars up to a
maximum amount allowable by the U.S. Internal Rese8ervice. We contribute an amount equal to th@l@me’s contributions, up to 7%
of the employee’s salary. Our matching contribugiarere $4,839,000, $3,717,000, and $3,221,00@héyears ended December 31, 2006,
2005, and 2004, respectively.
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14. Non-Operating Income

The following table presents the components ofhoetoperating income:

($000) 2006 2005 2004
Interest income, ne $ 4628 $ 3,07¢ $ 1,211
Other income (expense), net (459) 121 594
Non-operating income, net $ 4164 $ 3,19¢ $ 1,80

Interest income, net primarily reflects interesinfrour investment portfolio. Other income (expenaej primarily represents foreign currel
exchange gains and losses arising from the ordicauyse of business related to our non-U.S. omerstiunrealized and realized gains and

losses from our investment portfolio, and royaftgame from MJIKK.
15. Income Taxes

The following table shows our effective income &pense rate:

($000) 2006 2005 2004
Income before income taxes, equity in net incomenaonsolidated entities, and

cumulative effect of accounting chan $ 81,691 $ 49,67¢ $ 19,54(
Equity in net income of unconsolidated entities 2,787 1,662 843
Total $ 84,47¢ $ 51,341 $ 20,38t
Income tax expense $ 3297t $ 20,22¢ $ 11,57¢
Effective income tax expense r: 39.0% 39.4% 56.8%

The following table provides our income before imeptaxes, equity in net income of unconsolidatddies, and cumulative effect of

accounting change, generated by our U.S. and nBndperations:

($000) 200¢ 200t 2004
u.S. $ 79,39 % 48,58( $ 22,17¢
Non-U.S. 2,30( 1,09¢ (2,639
Income before income taxes, equity in net incomenansolidated entities, and cumulat

effect of accounting chang $ 81,69 $ 49,67¢ $ 19,54(
The following table reconciles our income tax exgat the U.S. federal income tax rate of 35% ¢orime tax expense as recorded:

2006 2005 2004

($000, except percentages) % % %
Income tax expense at U.S. federal | $29,567 35.C%$ 17,96¢ 35.C%%$ 7,134 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal income tax

effect 3,72z 4.4 2,41¢ 4.7 1,67C 8.2
Impact of equity in net income of

unconsolidated entitie (839) (2.0) (494) (0.9) (295) (1.4)
Stock option activity 333 0.4 1,71€ 3.3 2,351 11.5
Disqualifying dispositions on incentive stock

options (483) (0.6) (441) (0.9) (78) (0.4)
Non-U.S. withholding taxes, net of federal

income tax effec 456 0.5 — — — —
Reversal of valuation allowance related to

non-U.S. deferred tax assets, primarily

NOLs (1,013) (1.2) — — — —
Non-U.S. income tax resen 947 11 — — — —
Difference between U.S. federal statutory and

foreign tax rate: (2912) (0.2) 115 0.2 366 1.8
Research and development cc — — (588) (1.2) — —
Other — net 476 0.6 (472) (0.9) 426 2.1
Total income tax expense $32,97¢ 39.C%$ 20,22/ 39.4%$ 11,57¢ 56.8%

Our effective income tax rate is influenced by ¢hpeimary factors: incentive stock options; theomtgd income or loss of our non-U.S.
entities and our evaluation of the realizabilitytlogir net operating losses; and the impact ofifipgax planning strategies.

In 2004 and in the first quarter of 2005, we reeardtockbased compensation expense related to incentiek sfgions but we did not recc
a corresponding tax benefit. This had the impaatafeasing our effective income tax rate abovelitfe federal rate of 35%. Subsequent to
our initial public offering in May 2005, we no loagaccount for incentive stock options under thbility
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method, and because they are fully vested, no diaskd compensation expense was recorded forapéses in the last nine months of
2005 or in 2006.

Incentive stock options also impact our effectiae tate once a disqualifying disposition occurgligqualifying disposition occurs when the
option holder sells shares within one year of egérg an incentive stock option. We receive a tardfit when a disqualifying disposition
occurs. A disqualifying disposition reduces oueefive income tax rate.

Our effective income tax expense rate also refletsact that we are not recording an income &nefit related to losses recorded by certain
of our non-U.S. operations. The net operating lo$sOLs) may become deductible in certain non-th$jurisdictions to the extent these
non-U.S. operations become profitable. In the geatain non-U.S. entities record a loss, we daeodrd a corresponding tax benefit, thus
increasing our effective tax rate. For each ofaperations, we evaluate whether it is more likart not that the tax benefits related to net
operating losses will be realized. As part of gsluation, we consider evidence such as tax pigrstrategies, historical operating results,
forecasted taxable income, and recent financidbpaance.

We establish reserves at the time that we deterthatat is more likely than not that we will neegdpay additional taxes related to certain
matters. We adjust these reserves, including apgdtof the related interest and penalties, intlajftthanging facts and circumstances such
as the progress of a tax audit. A number of yearg elapse before a particular matter for which weehestablished a reserve is audited and
finally resolved. The number of years with openaaxlits varies depending on the tax jurisdictiomilVit is often difficult to predict the fin
outcome or the timing of resolution of any partarulax matter, we record a reserve when we deterthimlikelihood of loss is more likely
than not. These liabilities are recorded as inctares payable in our Consolidated Balance Sheetsi@not material to our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Settlement of any particular issued usually require the use of cash. Favoraldelwmions of tax matters for which we
have previously established reserves are recogagedreduction to our income tax expense whearnfmints involved become known.

Income tax expense consists of the following:

($000) 2006 2005 2004
Federa~ deferred $ (1,247) $ 411 $ 1,043
Federa~ current 27,163 15,62¢ 8,652
State— deferred (200) 92 352
State— current 5,832 3,51¢ 2,084
Non-U.S.— deferrec (577) 80 (565)
Non-U.S. — current 1,904 501 8
Income tax expense $ 3297t % 20,22¢  $ 11,574
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We recognize deferred income taxes for the tempatiffierences between the carrying amount of assaddiabilities for financial statement
purposes and their tax basis. The tax effectsefa¢mporary differences that give rise to the deteincome tax assets and liabilities are as
follows:

Dec. 31, 200¢ Dec. 31, 200!

Current Current Non-current Non-current Current Current Non-current Non-current
($000) Assel Liability Assel Liability Assel Liability Assel Liability

Net operating loss

carryforwards —

u.S. $ — $ — $ 1,402 $ — % — $ — $ 1,614 $ =
Net operating loss

carryforwards —

non-U.S., net of

valuation reserv — — 1,422 — 143 — — —
Stock-based

compensatiol — — 21,41¢ — — — 23,63¢ —
Deferred revenu — — — — — (847) — —
Property, equipment,

and capitalized

software — — 2,84k — — — 1,05C —
Deferred ren — — 338 — — — 190 —
Allowance for

doubtful account 389 — —
Prepaid expenst — (2,025) — — — (1,13%) — —
Deferred royalty

revenue — — 562 — — — 586 —
Accrued liabilities — (16) 4,25¢€ — 891 — 1,70C —
Foreign exchange

gains 346 — — — — — — (6)
Alternative Minimum

Tax Credit — — — — — — 294 —
Research and

development cos! — — 668 — — — 668 —
Unrealized loss on

available-for-sale

securities 31 — — — — (54) — —
Acquired intangible

assets not

amortizable for tax

purposes — — — (19,844) — — — —
Other 36 (27) 736 (11) — — — —

$ 802 $ (2,066)$ 33,644 $ (19,8595)% 1,201 $ (2,039)$ 29,73t $ (6)

A portion of the NOLs generated by mPower in thargeprior to July 2003 (the date of acquisitiomvsilable to Morningstar. Because of
limitations on the use of the NOLs imposed by th8.Unternal Revenue Code, our use of the NOLisnitdd to approximately $224,000 per
year. As of December 31, 2006, the remaining USLNarryforward of $3,714,000 will expire in 20Z

In addition, as of December 31, 2006 we have NQtyéarwards of approximately $28,400,000 relatedto non-U.S. operations. Of these
NOLs, approximately $9,300,000 will begin to expime2008 through 2021 and $19,100,000 have no atipir date. Because of the histori
operating losses of the non-U.S. operations tha¢igeed these NOLs, we have recorded a valuatiowahce against all but approximately
$6,000,000 of these NOLs, reflecting the likelihdbdt the benefit of the NOLs will not be realized.

As of December 31, 2005, we had NOL carryforwarfdspproximately $26,319,000 related to our non-W&rations. Because of the
historical operating losses of the non-U.S. openatithat generated these NOLs, we had recordelliatiom allowance against all but
approximately $396,000 of these NOLs, reflecting likelihood that the benefit of the NOLs would het realized.

16. Contingencies
Morningstar Australie

In 2001, Mr. Graham Rich, the then managing dineatw chief executive officer of Morningstar ResbalPty Limited (Morningstar
Australia), and one of two companies controlledvby Rich, filed a suit in the Supreme Court of NSauth Wales, Australia against
Morningstar and certain of its officers and nomid@ectors on the board of Morningstar Australia. Rich was also a beneficial owner of
shares in Morningstar Australia. Mr. Rich and lasnpany originally sought an injunction, which, iagted, would have precluded
Morningstar Australia from terminating the serviocdsvir. Rich and from issuing additional sharedtorningstar in exchange for the
provision of further funding by Morningstar to Mamgstar Australia. Further, Mr. Rich and his companught an order that a provisiol



liquidator be appointed for Morningstar Australidie court rejected this injunction application, etwéng that Morningstar Australia would
insolvent without financial backing from Morningstahe application for the appointment of a prawil liquidator also failed. The services
of Mr. Rich were terminated in November 2001. MichiRand his company were ordered to pay Morningstansts of the injunction
proceedings.
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Mr. Rich and the two companies controlled by MrchiRhave additional pending claims, alleging, amotingr things, breaches by Morning:

of contracts and statutory and general law dutiésleading, deceptive, and unconscionable condudidrningstar, oppression by
Morningstar and its nominee directors, claims uriderindustrial Relations Act of New South Wale®dthes of directors’ duties by
Morningstar's nominee directors, and conflict akirest. The claims seek various forms of religfluding monetary damages in the amount
of Australian $25,000,000, the setting aside aigeztions which resulted in Morningstar obtainingteol of Morningstar Australia, and an
order either setting aside Morningstar’'s acquisitid the shares formerly beneficially owned by Rich and his companies or determining a
different price for this acquisition. In the altative, Mr. Rich and his companies seek an ordérttiey be entitled to purchase the shares in
Morningstar Australia at a price to be determingdHhz court or book value (as defined in the Mogstiar Australia shareholders agreement).
Morningstar has denied the claims and filed couol@ms against Mr. Rich and certain of his companalleging breaches of statutory,
general law, and contractual duties.

In July 2004, the court decided Morningstar’s aggdion for security for its potential additionalst® in the litigation by ordering the two
companies controlled by Mr. Rich to provide appnoately Australian $925,000 to the court as sectioitghese potential costs. Morningstar
has been paid some of its costs and will be edtttdiebe paid its costs in the future only if theitanakes a determination to that effect. The
court stayed the proceedings pending its receithe@gecurity and indicated that it would entertinapplication by Morningstar for
additional security at a later time in the procegdi

In May 2005, Mr. Rich obtained conditional leavettod court to begin a proceeding in the name ofrihgstar Australia against Morningstar
and its nominee directors. The leave was, howewdject to the following conditions: (i) Mr. Richust pay and bear, and indemnify
Morningstar Australia against, all costs, charges] expenses of and incidental to the bringingamdinuation of the proceeding (except as
the court may otherwise direct or allow) and mat/seek contribution or indemnity from Morningstamgtralia for any of these costs,
charges, or expenses; (i) Morningstar Australidylo. Rich on its behalf, together with the two quemies controlled by Mr. Rich were
required to provide to the court, as security farMngstar’s costs, approximately Australian $928,8s described in the preceding
paragraph; and (iii) approximately Australian $0@® in costs owed by Mr. Rich and one of his congmto Morningstar in respect of the
2001 injunction proceedings were required to be paiMorningstar. These conditions have been gadisf

In September 2005, Mr. Rich and his companies fil&kcond Further Amended Statement of Claim, diolasimg the claims. Morningstar
filed a Defence to that pleading and an Amended§€@taim against Mr. Rich, both his companies, ankiita tAustralian company controlls
by Mr. Rich.

In December 2006, Morningstar applied to the céarrfurther security for its potential additionalats in the litigation. The court has not yet
held a hearing for this application.

In February 2007, Mr. Rich and his companies rediflorningstar that they would be seeking the lez\tae court to amend the Second
Further Amended Statement of Claim to include arclelating to Morningstas acquisition of Aspect Huntley Pty Ltd. (Aspect)2006. The
amended claim alleges various breaches of obligatioved by Morningstar to Morningstar Australia aeeks various forms of relief,
including an equity interest in Aspect and comptrgadamages. The court has not yet granted leaa#dw the amendment to proceed.

The parties have discussed settling the claim&&ue been unable to reach an agreement. In thiafquarter of 2003, Morningstar offerec
settle all claims for Australian $1,250,000, whiben approximated U.S. $942,000, and, in accordestbeSFAS No. 5Accounting for
Contingencies Morningstar recorded a reserve in this amounDdnember 2005, Morningstar increased its offesetitie all claims to
approximately Australian $2,500,000, which at DebenB1, 2006 approximated U.S. $2,000,000, andc@ordance with SFAS No. 5,
Morningstar has a reserve recorded in this amaihtle Morningstar is vigorously contesting the oiaiagainst it, we cannot predict the
outcome of the proceeding.

Morningstar Associates, LLC Subpoenas from Seesrand Exchange Commission, New York Attorney @¥s Office, and Department of
Labor

Securities and Exchange Commission

In February 2005, Morningstar Associates, LLC, alyhowned subsidiary of Morningstar, Inc., recaherequest from the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) for the voluntary proidmodf documents relating to the investment comsglservices the company offers to
retirement plan providers, including fund lineupammendations for retirement plan sponsors. In 2085, the SEC issued a subpoena to
Morningstar Associates that was virtually identitalts February 2005 request.

Subsequently, the SEC focused on disclosure rglétimn optional service offered to retirement @ponsors (employers) that select 401 (k)
plan services from ING, one of Morningstar Assaesatlients. In response to the SEC investigatidiG and Morningstar Associates revised
certain documents for plan sponsors to furtheifgléne roles of ING and Morningstar Associatepmviding that service. The revisions also
help reinforce that Morningstar Associates makeséiections only from funds available within INGarious retirement products.
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On January 24, 2007, the SEC notified Morningstssdgiates that it ended its investigation, withenforcement action, fines, or penalties.
New York Attorney Gener's Office

In December 2004, Morningstar Associates receiveabpoena from the New York Attorney General’sadfseeking information and
documents related to an investigation the New YAdtkrney General’s office is conducting. The redussimilar in scope to the SEC
subpoena described above. Morningstar Associatepriozided the requested information and docunmemdscontinues to cooperate fully
with the New York Attorney General's office.

In January 2007, Morningstar Associates receividtice of Proposed Litigation from the New York étbhey General's office. The Notice
centers on the same issues that became the fotius SEC investigation described above. The Na#e Morningstar Associates the
opportunity to explain why the New York Attorney &al’s office should not institute proceedings.rMngstar Associates promptly
submitted its explanation. To date, the New YortoAtey General's office has not taken any furtretioa.

We cannot predict the scope, timing, or outcomehisf matter, which may include the institution dhainistrative, civil, injunctive, or

criminal proceedings, the imposition of fines amthalties, and other remedies and sanctions, ampich could lead to an adverse impact on
our stock price, the inability to attract or retéizy employees, and the loss of customers. Wecalsoot predict what impact, if any, this
matter may have on our business, operating resulfgyancial condition.

United States Department of Labor

In May 2005, Morningstar Associates received a sebp from the United States Department of Labakisg information and documents
related to an investigation the Department of Laba@onducting. The Department of Labor subpoemalistantially similar in scope to the
SEC and New York Attorney General subpoenas.

In January 2007, the Department of Labor issueshaest for additional documents pursuant to the R85 subpoena, including documents
and information regarding Morningstar Associatesirement advice products for plan participantsriitgstar Associates continues to
cooperate fully with the Department of Labor.

We cannot predict the scope, timing, or outcomehisf matter, which may include the institution dhainistrative, civil, injunctive, or

criminal proceedings, the imposition of fines arthalties, and other remedies and sanctions, ampich could lead to an adverse impact on
our stock price, the inability to attract or retiizgy employees, and the loss of customers. Wecalsoot predict what impact, if any, these
matters may have on our business, operating resulfmancial condition.

In addition to these proceedings, we are involvelggal proceedings and litigation that have arisgthe normal course of our business.
Although the outcome of a particular proceeding mawer be predicted, we do not believe that theltre$ any of these matters will have a
material adverse effect on our business, operagisgits, or financial condition.

17. Subsequent Event

In February 2007, we entered into a definitive agrent to acquire Standard & Poor’s mutual fund Bataness for $55 million in cash,
subject to post-closing adjustments. Standard &'Ba®a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies. Btard & Poor’s fund data business
consists of data and products covering more th&0D8 managed investment vehicles, including mutuads, exchange-traded funds
(ETFs), hedge funds, and offshore funds. Underderhthe agreement, Standard & Poor’s will licehs® data from Morningstar after the
acquisition is completed. We completed the tramsaain March 16, 2007.

18. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Stassl&oard (FASB) issued SFAS No. 15ajr Value Measurementsvhich defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring faiue, and expands disclosures about fair value unesents. The standard applies
whenever other standards require (or permit) assdisbilities to be measured at fair value. Ttendard does not expand the use of fair v
in any new circumstances. SFAS No. 157 is effedtivdiscal years beginning after November 15, 286d for interim periods within those
years; therefore, we will adopt SFAS No. 157 infile& quarter of 2008. We are in the process ¢éarining the effect the adoption of SF,
No. 157 will have on our Consolidated Financialtt&tzents

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange @ssion (SEC) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (SA®). 108,Considering the Effects

of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstzents in Current Year Financial Statemg®aB 108). SAB 108 addresses

guantifying the financial statement effects of nassments, specifically, how the effects of prieayuncorrected errors must be considered in
guantifying misstatements in the current year faianstatements. SAB 108 is effective for fiscahggeending after November 15, 2006;
therefore, we adopted SAB 108 in the fourth quart&@006. The adoption of SAB 108 did not haverapact on our
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Consolidated Financial Statements.

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation Ng.A&ounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, anfiptetation of FASB Statement No.
109(FIN 48), which prescribes the minimum recognitibreshold a tax position is required to meet bebmiag recognized in the financial
statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on dgretion, measurement, classification, interest padalties, accounting in interim periods,
and disclosure for uncertain tax positions. FINgi8ffective for fiscal years beginning after Det@m15, 2006; therefore, we will adopt FIN
48 in the first quarter of 2007. We do not antitgpnat the adoption of FIN 48 will have a matemapact on our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

In June 2006, the EITF ratified Issue No. 0&2¢ounting for Sabbatical Leave and Other Similan&fits Pursuant to FASB Statement No.
43, “Accounting for Compensated Absenc@SITF No. 06-2), which requires that a liabilityrfemployees’ sabbatical benefits be accrued
over the period required for employees to earritiig to sabbatical leave. EITF No. 06-2 is effeetfor fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006; therefore, we will adopt EITE B®-2 in the first quarter of 2007. In the firstagter of 2007, we will record a
cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tbapproximately $3.4 million to record the portiof employee sabbatical leave that has
been earned. Other than recording this cumulaffeeteof accounting change, we do not anticipasg the adoption of EITF No. 06-2 will
have a material impact on our Consolidated FindiSt@ements.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Account&on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedwas

Disclosure controls and procedures are designezhionably assure that information required toibelased in the reports filed or submitted
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, suized, and reported within the time periods spediin the SEC’s rules and forms.
Disclosure controls and procedures include, withiotitation, controls and procedures designed &somably assure that information requ
to be disclosed in the reports filed under the Exgje Act is accumulated and communicated to managemcluding the chief executive
officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate allow timely decisions regarding required thsare.

We carried out an evaluation, under the superviaimhwith the participation of our management,udaig our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer, of the effectiveness o&ttesign and operation of our disclosure contnatspocedures as of December 31, 2006.
Based on that evaluation, our chief executive effand chief financial officer concluded that oigctbsure controls and procedures are
effective to provide reasonable assurance thatrimdtion required to be disclosed in the reportdil®eor submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized, and reportecdastaam required.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Fnancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting. Our internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed to preva&hsonable assurance regarding the reliabilifynafcial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in aaoce with U.S. generally accepted accounting jpies.

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervisimhwith the participation of our management,udaig our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer, of the effectiveness ofranternal control over financial reporting basedtbe framework set forth in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpiing Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Based on that evaluation, our management concltrd@dour internal control over financial reportiwgs effective as of December 31, 2006.
Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered pubticounting firm, has issued an attestation regmrturring with management'’s
assessment of our internal control over finan@abrting, which is included in Part I, Item 8 bfd Form 10-K.

(c) Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Rporting

There were no changes in our internal controls éimancial reporting during our fiscal quarter edd@ecember 31, 2006 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallfeef, our internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B. Other Information

There is no information that was required to beldised in a report on Form 8-K during the fourttader of the year covered by this Annual
Report on Form 10-K that was not reported.

Part 111
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corportge Governance

The information contained under the headings Prlpbs- Election of Directors, Board of Directorsl@@orporate Governance — Independent
Directors, Board of Directors and Corporate Goveoea—Board Committees and Charters, and Section 16(agfRéal Ownership Reportin
Compliance in the definitive proxy statement for 8007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the Proxate3hent) and the information
contained under the heading Executive Officersart Pof this report is incorporated herein by refece.

We have adopted a code of ethics, which is postéide Investor Relations section on our Web sitgtat//corporate.morningstar.comiWe
intend to include on our Web site any amendmentsrtwaivers from, a provision of the code of ethicat applies to our principal executive
officer, principal financial officer, principal aoanting officer, or controller that relates to algment of the code of ethics definition
contained in Item 406(b) of SEC Regulation S-K.r8halders may request a free copy of these docunigndéending an e-mail to
investors@morningstar.com.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information contained under the headings Bo&irectors and Corporate Governance — Direct@@npensation, Compensation
Discussion and Analysis, Compensation CommitteeoRe@ompensation Committee Interlocks and InsRisticipation, Executive
Compensation, and Certain Relationships and ReRéaey Transactions — Deferred Compensation Agreemigh Don Phillips in the Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

The information contained under the headings SgcOnvnership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Maragnt and Equity Compensation
Plan Information in the Proxy Statement is incogted herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns, and Director Independence

The information contained under the headings QeRalationships and Related Party TransactionBayadd of Directors and Corporate
Governance — Independent Directors in the Proxie8tant is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information contained under the headings AGditnmittee Report and Principal Accounting Firm Feethe Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

Part IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(@)
1. Consolidated Financial Statements
The following documents are filed as part of thisnial Report on Form 10-K:

Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registdpeittlic Accounting Firn
Report of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Regjistl Public Accounting Firt

Financial Statement
Consolidated Statements of Inco
Consolidated Balance She:
Consolidated Statements of Sharehol Equity and Comprehensive Incor
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flt
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REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRMS

The report of Ernst & Young LLP dated March 9, 2@@ncerning the Financial Statement Schedule lluateon and Qualifying Accounts, is
included at the beginning of Part Il, Item 8 ofstinnual Report on Form 10-K for the year endeddbdwer 31, 2006.

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Magstar, Inc.
Chicago, lllinois

We have audited the consolidated balance sheebafikbstar, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Decembg3Q5, and the related consolidated
statements of income, shareholders’ equity and cengmsive income, and cash flows for the yearseeBadeember 31, 2005 and 2004, and
have issued our report thereon dated March 3, 280éh report is included elsewhere in this Annugbétt on Form 10-K. Our audits also
included the consolidated financial statement saleedf the Company listed in Item 15. This finahsi@tement schedule is the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Our responsibilitp isxpress an opinion based on our audits. In pimi@n, such consolidated financial
statement schedule, when considered in relatidihetdasic consolidated financial statements takem@hole, presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLF
Deloitte & Touche LLF
Chicago, Illinois

March 3, 200¢

2. Financial Statement Schedules
The following financial statement schedule is filgipart of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
All other schedules have been omitted as they atreequired, not applicable, or the required infation is otherwise included.

Schedule Il Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries Valation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance al Charged Deductions
Beginning (Credited) to Including Balance al
of Costs & Currency End of
($000) Year Expense: Translation Year
Allowance for doubtful account
Year Ended December 3
2006 $ 418 $ 159 $ (352) $ 225
2005 256 223 (61) 418
2004 654 (55) (343) 256
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3. Exhibits

Exhibit  Description

2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement dated December 9, 206&dymong Morningstar, Inc., Roger G. IbbotsonyJodsindelar, The
Timothy Ibbotson-Sindelar Spray Trust, and The Tibbotson-Sindelar Spray Trust is incorporateddfgrence to Exhibit 2.1 to
our Current Report on Forn-K that we filed with the SEC on December 14, 2(

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation afrMingstar are incorporated by reference to Exl3ilitto our Registration
Statement on Form-1, as amended, Registration No. -115209 (the Registration Stateme

3.2 By-laws of Morningstar, as in effect on July 28p80are incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.@upCurrent Report on Form
8-K that we filed with the SEC on July 31, 20!

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate is incorporatedeference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration &tagnt.

10.1* Form of Indemnification Agreement is incorporatgdreference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrationt&taent.

10.2* Morningstar Incentive Plan is incorporated by refere to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registration Statenr

10.3* Morningstar 1999 Incentive Stock Option Plan isoiporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Regfion Statemen

10.4* Morningstar 2004 Stock Incentive Plan is incorpedaby reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registraitatement

10.5* Form of Morningstar 2004 Stock Incentive Plan St@gkion Agreement is incorporated by referencexbilsit 10.5 to our
Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2C

10.6* Form of Morningstar 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Retgd Stock Unit Award Agreement is incorporatedréference to Exhibit
10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 (the Ma@d621L(-Q).

10.7* Form of Morningstar 2004 Stock Incentive Plan DioedRestricted Stock Unit Award Agreement is inamgied by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the March 2006 -Q.

10.8* Form of Morningstar 2004 Stock Incentive Plan DefkeElection Form is incorporated by reference xhigit 10.3 to the March
2006 1(-Q.

10.9* Form of Morningstar 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Dioe®eferral Election Form is incorporated by refece to Exhibit 10.4 to the
March 2006 1-Q.

10.10*  Deferred Compensation Agreement dated February39 between Morningstar and Don Phillips is incogped by reference to
Exhibit 10.6 to the Registration Stateme

10.11*  Purchase Agreement dated April 30, 2003 betweemMgstar and Patrick Reinkemeyer is incorporatedefigrence to
Exhibit 10.8 to the Registration Stateme

10.12*  First Amendment to Purchase Agreement dated ashoiuary 1, 2006 between Morningstar and Patrickilieneyer is
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to ourr€at Report on Form 8-K that we filed with the SE&€February 3, 2006 (the
February 2006 -K).

10.13*  Purchase Agreement dated April 30, 2003 betweemMgstar and David Williams is incorporated by refece to Exhibit 10.9 to
the Registration Stateme

10.14*  First Amendment to Purchase Agreement dated ashoiuary 1, 2006 between Morningstar and David ¥fill is incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the February 20-K.

21.1t Subsidiaries of Morningsta

23.1% Consent of Ernst & Young LLF

23.2t Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLI

31.1¢t Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13-14(a)/15¢-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 18

31.2¢t Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuantRule 13-14(a)/15+-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1€

32.1% Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant8 U.S.C. 135(

32.2%1 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant18 U.S.C. 135(

*  Management contract with a director or exauofficer or a compensatory plan or arrangeniemthich directors or executive officers
are eligible to participate.

t  Filed

herewith.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized on March 16, 2007.

MORNINGSTAR, INC.
By: /s/ Joe Mansuet

Name: Joe Mansue
Title: Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on thesdaticated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Joe Mansuet Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive March 16, 2007
Joe Mansuet Officer (principal executive officer)
/s/ Martha Dustin Boudc Chief Financial Officer (principal March 16, 2007
Martha Dustin Boudo accounting and financial officer)
/s/ Donald J. Phillips | Director March 16, 2007
Donald J. Phillips |
/sl Cheryl Franci Director March 16, 2007
Cheryl Franci
/sl Steven Kapla Director March 16, 2007
Steven Kaplai
/sl Jack Noona Director March 16, 2007
Jack Noonal
/sl Frank Ptal Director March 16, 2007
Frank Ptak
/s/ Paul Sturn Director March 16, 2007
Paul Sturrr
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Exhibit 21.1

The information below is presented as of MarchQD72 Except as specifically indicated below, Mogstar, Inc. holds, directly or indirectly,
a 100% interest in each entity listed below. Sonaetive subsidiaries have been omitted.

Subsidiaries of Morningstar, Inc.

Subsidiary

Morningstar Associates, LL
Morningstar Associates Europe Limited
Morningstar Investment Services, I
Morningstar Research Pty Limited (Morningstar Aak#)
Morningstar Group Australi
Morningstar Direct Investments (
Aspect Huntley Pty Limited (Z

Aspect Financial Pty Limited (
Huntley¢ Investment Information Pty Limited (:
Aspect Huntley Thailand Limited (*
Investorinfo Limited (4

Morningstar Canada Group, Ir
Morningstar Research, Inc. (
Morningstar Asia, Ltd

Morningstar Research (Shenzhen) Ltd.
Morningstar Danmark A/S (¢

SAS Morningstar France (!

Morningstar Deutschland GmbH (1
Morningstar Italy, S.R.L. (9
Morningstar Japan, K.K. (1:

Fund Information Research, G.
Morningstar Korea, Ltd. (12
Morningstar Research Limited (Morningstar New Zad)a(13)
Morningstar Norge AS (€

Morningstar Europe, N.V. (1¢
Morningstar Holland, B.V. (9
Morningstar Portugal Unipessoal LDA (
Morningstar Network, S.L.U. (1(
Morningstar Europe, A.B. (¢
Morningstar Sweden (Fondstar) AB |
Morningstar Europe, Ltd. (¢
Morningstar U.K., Ltd. (9

Ibbotson Associates, In

Ibbotson Associates Advisors, LLC (1
Ibbotson Associates Japan, K.K. (.

(1) Morningstar Associates, LLC owns 100

(2) Morningstar Group Australia owns 100

(3) Morningstar Direct Investments owns 10(

(4) Aspect Huntley Pty Limited owns 100'

(5) Aspect Huntley Pty Limited owns approximateB24.
(6) Morningstar Canada Group, Inc. owns 10

(7) Morningstar Asia, Ltd. owns 100¢

(8) Morningstar Europe, N.V. owns approximately 2!
(9) Morningstar Europe, N.V. owns 100

(10) Morningstar Holland, B.V. owns 100¢

(11) Morningstar, Inc. owns approximately 3t

(12) Morningstar, Inc. owns 409

(13) Morningstar Research Pty Limited owns 10i
(14) Morningstar, Inc. owns approximately 9€

(15) Ibbotson Associates, Inc. owns 10(

(16) Ibbotson Associates, Inc. owns approximat&y6t

Jurisdiction of Formation
Delaware
United Kingdom
Delaware
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Canade

Canade

China

China

Denmark
France
Germany

Italy

Japar

Japar

Korea

New Zealanc
Norway

The Netherland
The Netherland
Portugal

Spain

Sweder
Sweder

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Illinois
Delaware

Japar




Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1247&B8{gning to the 1999 Incentive Stock
Option Plan and 2004 Stock Incentive Plan of Magstar, Inc. of our reports dated March 9, 2007hwéispect to the consolidated financial
statements and schedule of Morningstar, Inc., Magstar, Inc. managemestissessment of the effectiveness of internal aloower financia

reporting, and the effectiveness of internal cdrax@r financial reporting of Morningstar, Inc. asdbsidiaries, included in this Annual Rej
(Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2006.

/s| Ernst & Young LLF
Ernst & Young LLP
Chicago, Illinois
March 15, 200°




Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniReggion Statement No. 333-124783 on Form S-&uofreports dated March 3, 2006,
relating to the consolidated financial statements financial statement schedule of Morningstar, &m subsidiaries, appearing in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K of Morningstar, Inc. aubsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2006.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLF

Chicago, Illinois
March 12, 200°




EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Joe Mansueto, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-Kofningstar, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgttéde a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsodimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented
in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and1Bd)) and internal control over financial repogtias defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrand have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedurtes designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material infornmatielating to the registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entitiestigularly during the period in which this rep@tbeing prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial répgr or caused such internal control over finahag@orting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeradsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sloésire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the regi$®anternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hatenelly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial repog; and

5. The registrans other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxon our most recent evaluation of internal @bmver financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitatcmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the
equivalent functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknessehe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrthgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaard report financial
information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a significéamin the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 16, 2007 /s/ Joe Mansuet
Joe Mansuet
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offi




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Martha Dustin Boudos, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-Kofningstar, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgttéde a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsodimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented
in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and1Bd)) and internal control over financial repogtias defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrand have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedurtes designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material infornmatielating to the registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entitiestigularly during the period in which this rep@tbeing prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial répgr or caused such internal control over finahag@orting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeradsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sloésire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the regi$®anternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hatenelly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial repog; and

5. The registrans other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxon our most recent evaluation of internal @bmver financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitatcmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the
equivalent functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssehe design or operation of internal contradofinancial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrtbgistrant’s ability to record, process, summasad report financial
information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a significéain the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 16, 2007 /s/ Martha Dustin Boudc
Martha Dustin Boudo
Chief Financial Officel




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTON 906 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Joe Mansueto, as Chairman of the Board and Chie€iive Officer of Morningstar, Inc. (the Companggtifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@ftedbarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for tharyended December 31, 2006 as filed with the Séesiand Exchange

Commission on the date hereof (the Report) fulljnpbies with the requirements of Section 13(a) ef 8ecurities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operatic
of the Company.

/sl Joe Mansuet
Joe Mansuet
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offi

March 16, 2007




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTON 906 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Martha Dustin Boudos, as Chief Financial OfficeMirningstar, Inc. (the Company), certifies, pursia 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adop
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002, that:

1. the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for tharyended December 31, 2006 as filed with the Séesiand Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the Report) fulljnpbies with the requirements of Section 13(a) ef 8ecurities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

2.

the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operatic
of the Company.

/s/ Martha Dustin Boudc
Martha Dustin Boudo
Chief Financial Officel

March 16, 200°




